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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 
 
Before Commissioners:  Richard Glick, Chairman; 
                                        James P. Danly, Allison Clements, 
                                        and Mark C. Christie. 
 
GreenHat Energy, LLC, John Bartholomew,  
Kevin Ziegenhorn, and Luan Troxel, in her  
capacity as Executor of the Estate of Andrew Kittell 

Docket No. IN18-9-000 

 
ORDER ASSESSING CIVIL PENALTIES 

 
(Issued November 5, 2021) 

 
 In this order, we find that GreenHat Energy, LLC (GreenHat), John Bartholomew, 

Kevin Ziegenhorn, and Andrew Kittell, represented in this proceeding by Luan Troxel as 
the Executor for Andrew Kittell’s Estate (Kittell Estate or Estate) (collectively, 
Respondents) violated section 222 of the Federal Power Act (FPA)1  and section 1c.2 of 
the Commission’s regulations,2 which prohibit energy market manipulation, by engaging 
in a manipulative scheme in the Financial Transmission Rights (FTR) market operated by 
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. (PJM).  Through this manipulative scheme, Respondents 
garnered more than $13 million in unjust profits and imposed approximately $179 million 
in losses on PJM members.  We also find that GreenHat violated Attachment Q,  
section Ia.B of the PJM Open Access Transmission Tariff (Tariff)3 and section 15.1.3 of 
PJM’s Amended and Restated Operating Agreement (Operating Agreement).4  In light of 
the seriousness of these violations, we find that it is appropriate to assess civil penalties 
pursuant to section 316A of the FPA5 in the following amounts:  $179,600,573 against 
GreenHat, $25 million against Bartholomew, and $25 million against Ziegenhorn.  The 
Commission further directs GreenHat, Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and the Kittell Estate 

 
1 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a). 

2 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2 (2020) (Anti-Manipulation Rule). 

3 PJM, Intra-PJM Tariffs, OATT attach. Q (Credit Risk Management Policy), 
§ Ia.B (Risk Management and Verification) (26.0.0). 

4 PJM Operating Agreement, § 15.1.3 (Payment of Bills). 

5 16 U.S.C. § 825o-1. 
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to disgorge unjust profits, plus applicable interest, pursuant to section 309 of the FPA,6 in 
the following amount:  $13,072,428.  Each of the Respondents shall be jointly and 
severally liable for payment of that disgorgement amount.    

I. Background 

A. Relevant Entities  

 GreenHat was founded in July 2014 by Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell for 
the stated purpose of engaging in the lawful purchase and sale of FTRs and related 
products in the PJM Market.7  Each GreenHat member had prior experience in energy 
markets and they knew one another from their previous jobs at JP Morgan in Houston.8  
GreenHat became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Off Fannin Holdings, LLC (Off Fannin) 
in March 2015, when Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell formed Off Fannin.9  
GreenHat’s founders assumed a variety of roles in starting and running the company.10  
Kittell provided the initial capital of $3 million to start GreenHat11 and led most dealings 

 
6 Id. § 825h. 

7 KZ 000633 (Company Agreement, GreenHat Energy, LLC) (July 17, 2014).  
GreenHat joined PJM in September 2014.  See GH_0027152, GH_0027153, GH-
_0027154, GH_0027155 (GreenHat’s signed Membership Agreement and associated 
documents).   

8 See OE Staff Report Supporting Materials, “Andrew Kittell LinkedIn.pdf,” 
https://www.linkedin.com/in/andrew-kittell-98333868/ (last accessed Mar. 17, 2021); 
“John Bartholomew LinkedIn.pdf,” https://www.linkedin.com/in/john-bartholomew-
07739b150/ (last accessed Mar. 17, 2021); “Kevin Ziegenhorn LinkedIn.pdf,” 
https://www.linkedin.com/in/kevin-z-5a6b112/ (last accessed Mar. 17, 2021). 

9 GH_0000329 (Off Fannin Holdings, LLC, Limited Liability Company Operating 
Agreement) (Mar. 13, 2015); GH_0000326 (Second Amended and Restated Company 
Agreement of GreenHat Energy, LLC) (Mar. 12, 2015); GH_0000041 (Email from A. 
Kittell to A. Lee) (June 14, 2016) (describing GreenHat as subsidiary of Off Fannin).  
Fannin is the name of a major street in downtown Houston. 

10 See GH_0034042 (General Ledger showing movement of funds in and out of 
GreenHat accounts); GH_0010574 (Cash Waterfall showing funds transferred from 
GreenHat to Off Fannin and then to Kittell, Bartholomew, and Ziegenhorn). 

11 See, e.g., GH_0000326; GH_0010581 (Promissory Note) (Apr. 3, 2015) (Off 
Fannin promise to repay Kittell loan of $3,5000,000, superseding previous $3,000,000 
promissory note). 
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with third parties.  Bartholomew managed GreenHat’s trading.  He registered GreenHat 
with PJM, was identified to PJM as GreenHat’s trader and Customer Account Manager, 
and created the spreadsheets that GreenHat used to identify FTRs that it might 
purchase.12  As the risk executive, Ziegenhorn was responsible for “manag[ing] the 
valuat[ion] and risk function” at GreenHat.13  In that role, Ziegenhorn led many of the 
efforts to secure buyers for GreenHat’s FTR portfolio.  Ziegenhorn also authorized wire 
transfers in and out of GreenHat’s accounts.14  In January 2018, Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn sold their interests in GreenHat to Kittell, with the proviso that all three 
would share in future profits.15  Kittell continued to run GreenHat thereafter.   

B. PJM FTR Market  

 PJM is a Commission-regulated Regional Transmission Organization (RTO), 
operating a wholesale electricity market and balancing the minute-by-minute supply and 

 
12 See, e.g., PZ_000008 (Memorandum from P. Zane to J. Bartholomew, A. 

Kittell, and K. Ziegenhorn, “PJM Minimum Participation Criteria Officer Certification 
Form”) (Feb. 22, 2016) (“John is the trader for the firm.”); PJM_052970 (Application for 
Membership Between PJM Interconnection, LLC and GreenHat Energy, LLC) (signed by 
Bartholomew on Aug. 15, 2014 and by PJM on Sept. 16, 2014) (membership agreement, 
which binds GreenHat to “pay all costs and expenses” it incurs under the Operating 
Agreement and PJM Tariff and in which GreenHat “agrees to accept the concepts and 
obligations set forth in . . . the Operating Agreement,” is signed by Bartholomew as 
“Manager”); PJM_037744 (Email from W. Jew to K. Bazar) (Mar. 22, 2017) 
(Bartholomew was CAM Administrator); GH_0010153 (spreadsheet created by 
Bartholomew to determine which FTR paths meet lowest credit requirement). 

13 See PZ_000008 (Memorandum from P. Zane to J. Bartholomew, A. Kittell,  
and K. Ziegenhorn, “PJM Minimum Participation Criteria Officer Certification Form”) 
(Feb. 22, 2016) (“I understand that Kevin manages the valuation and risk function . . . .”); 
see also KZ 000633 (Company Agreement, GreenHat Energy, LLC) (July 17, 2014) 
(Ziegenhorn shown as “Risk Executive” in Exhibit C); id. at 2 (“Risk Executive” defined 
as Manager who “is independent of persons within the Company trading FTRs and 
responsible for meeting the requirements specified in PJM Tariff Attachment Q 
Appendix 1 representation 3b”). 

14 See, e.g., GH_0026245 (GreenHat Energy, LLC Wire Request) (Apr. 6, 2015). 

15 GH_0011457 (Membership Interest Purchase Agreement) (Jan. 22, 2018).   
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demand requirements for electric power in a 13-state region extending from Illinois to 
New Jersey to North Carolina.16 

 Among the products that market participants can acquire in PJM are FTRs,17 
financial instruments that reflect the cost of congestion between two points during some 
predetermined period in the future.18  Utilities can use FTRs to hedge against future 
congestion.19  In addition, PJM permits financial firms such as GreenHat to trade FTRs 
for speculative purposes.  FTRs are purely financial instruments:  “[t]hey do not represent 
a right for physical delivery of power” and the “holder of the FTR is not required to 
deliver energy in order to receive a congestion credit.”20  To participate in an FTR 
auction, a market participant must be a member of PJM and meet the credit requirements 
for the FTR.21   

 An FTR has a positive or negative value for a given hour based on the difference 
(or “spread”) between the congestion prices at two nodes specific to the FTR - the node 
where energy enters the system (the “source”) and the node where the energy leaves the 
system (the “sink”) during that hour.22  The FTR has positive value when the congestion 
price at the sink is higher than at the source and has negative value when the reverse is 
true.  During the time of the conduct at issue, FTRs were sold for periods that lasted a 

 
16 PJM’s footprint includes all or parts of Delaware, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, 

Maryland, Michigan, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, 
Virginia, West Virginia, and the District of Columbia.  

17 PJM, Intra-PJM Tariffs, OATT attach. K-app. § 7 (0.0.0) (authorizing PJM to 
conduct FTR auctions) (hereinafter, the appendix to OATT Attachment K will be cited as 
Attachment K-Appendix); see also PJM Tariff, Schedule 9-2 (Financial Transmission 
Rights Administration Service). 

18 See PJM Manual 6 Financial Transmission Rights, § 1.1 (Rev. 17, June 1, 2016) 
(PJM Manual 6). 

19 See id. §§ 1.1, 6.1. 

20 Id. § 1.1.  

21 Id. §§ 1.3, 6.6, 6.7; see also PJM Tariff, Attachment K-Appendix § 7.3.5.    

22 PJM Manual 6, § 1.2.1 (“The hourly economic value of an FTR Obligation is 
based on the FTR MW reservation and the difference between Day-ahead Congestion 
Prices at the sink point (point of delivery) and the source point (point of receipt) 
designated in the FTR.”).   
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month, a quarter, a year, and three years.23  Each type of FTR can be bought for peak 
hours only, off-peak hours only, or all hours.24  During the relevant time period, annual 
FTRs covered 12-month periods from June 1 through May 31, which period is referred to 
as the “planning period.”  FTRs with a duration of one year and longer can be traded in 
PJM’s long-term FTR auctions.   

 An entity can purchase or sell an FTR at auction by submitting a bid or offer into 
one of the PJM auctions, and PJM calculates a clearing price for each FTR.25  Successful 
bidders do not need to pay the purchase price of their FTRs right away – they pay at 
settlement date in the future – but if the addition of that FTR changes their collateral 
obligation (as determined by the PJM Credit Calculator), they must adjust the amount of 
money on deposit in their PJM collateral account. 

 Whether an FTR is profitable or unprofitable for its holder depends on whether the 
economic value of the FTR (determined by the difference in congestion price between 
sink and source) minus the purchase price for the specified hours is positive or negative.26  
PJM settles with the FTR holder on a weekly basis. 

 
23 With the Commission’s approval, PJM eliminated Three-Year FTRs in August 

2018.  See PJM Interconnection, LLC, 164 FERC ¶ 61,159 (2018).     

24 PJM Manual 6, § 6.1.  On-peak is a period of time when consumers typically 
use more electricity -- normally on weekdays, when many businesses are operating.  PJM 
typically considers weekdays from 7 a.m. to 11 p.m. on-peak, except for the following 
holidays:  New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving 
Day and Christmas Day.  PJM Glossary, https://www.pjm.com/Glossary.aspx (last visited 
Sept. 28, 2021).  

25 PJM Manual 6, § 6.2. 

26 Id. § 1.1 (“A Financial Transmission Right (FTR) is a financial instrument that 
entitles the holder to receive compensation for Transmission Congestion Charges that 
arise when the transmission grid is congested in the Day-ahead Market and differences in 
Day-ahead Congestion Prices result from the dispatch of generators out of merit order to 
relieve the congestion.  Each FTR is defined from a point of receipt (where the power is 
injected onto the PJM grid) to a point of delivery (where the power is withdrawn from the 
PJM grid).  For each hour in which congestion exists on the Transmission System 
between the receipt and delivery points specified in the FTR, the holder of the FTR is 
awarded a share of the Transmission Congestion Charges collected from the Market 
Participants.”). 
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 In addition to being able to buy and sell FTRs in PJM auctions, market 

participants can also trade FTRs with each other directly or “bilaterally.”27  Payments in a 
bilateral sale occur separate from PJM settlement of that FTR, and a party selling an FTR 
in such a sale may receive cash payment for that FTR years before it settles.  PJM 
provides a portal on its FTR Center through which market participants are required by the 
Tariff to record the transfer of ownership of an FTR from one party to another.28  PJM 
provides this portal so it can ensure that the buyers are creditworthy and can credit or 
charge the appropriate participant at settlement.29 

C. PJM’s Credit Requirements for FTR Trading 

 During the period relevant to GreenHat’s participation in PJM’s FTR market—
September 2014 through June 2018—PJM calculated FTR credit requirements “based on 
FTR cost less a discounted historical value.”30  The historical value of an FTR was 
calculated using “the weighted monthly average historical value over three years for the 
path using the following weightings:  50% most recent year, 30% prior year; 20% second 
prior year.”31    

 
27 PJM Tariff, Attachment K-Appendix § 5.2.2(d); PJM Manual 6 § 7.1. 

28 See PJM Tariff, Attachment K-Appendix § 5.2.2(d)(i) (“Such bilateral 
transactions shall be reported to the Office of the Interconnection in accordance with this 
Schedule and pursuant to the LLC's rules related to its FTR reporting tools”).   

29 See id. § 5.2.2(d)(iii) (“Consent of the Office of the Interconnection shall be 
required for a seller to transfer to a buyer any Financial Transmission Right 
Obligation.  Such consent shall be based upon the Office of the 
Interconnection's assessment of the buyer's ability to perform the obligations, including 
meeting applicable creditworthiness requirements, transferred in the bilateral contract.”); 
Shell Energy N. Am. (US), L.P., 173 FERC ¶ 61,153, at P 4 (2020) reh’g denied, 175 
FERC ¶ 61,025 (2021) (Shell Energy) (“FTR transfers must ‘be reported’ to PJM in the 
FTR Center as the posting enables PJM to credit or invoice the correct party at settlement 
and to verify the buyer’s credit.”) (citation omitted). 

30 PJM Tariff Attachment Q, § V.B.   

31 PJM Manual 6, § 6.7.  This order discusses the credit requirements in effect 
through June 2018.  Subsequently, PJM proposed, and the Commission approved, 
changes to such requirements.  See PJM Interconnection, LLC, 171 FERC ¶ 61,173, at P 
35 (2020) (accepting PJM Tariff changes to “enhance its rules for evaluating and 
managing credit risk posed by entities seeking to participate or participating in the PJM-
administered markets”); PJM Interconnection, LLC, 167 FERC ¶ 61,002 (2019) 
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 During the relevant time period, PJM provided a Credit Requirements Calculator 

(PJM Credit Calculator) on its website so that market participants could evaluate the 
credit requirements for their FTR bids before an upcoming auction.32  The PJM Credit 
Calculator was an Excel spreadsheet that calculated the user’s credit requirements after 
the user input information about its proposed purchases, such as the sink and source 
points for the FTRs, the bid quantity, and the bid price.  The PJM Credit Calculator then 
used those inputs to calculate, on a monthly basis, the difference between the historical 
value and the user’s bid price.33   

 If the calculated historical value of a particular FTR was higher than the user’s bid 
price, the user did not need to post collateral to hold the FTR, beyond the minimum 
amount required to participate in the FTR market (discussed below).34  For instance, if a 
buyer bid $1 for an FTR at a given path, and the historical value of that FTR was $1.50, 
PJM did not require the bidder to post additional collateral.  In some cases, a market 
participant could buy additional FTRs while reducing its overall credit requirement; PJM 
then returned the “excess” collateral to the market participant.35 

 
(expanding authority to make collateral calls based on mark-to-auction valuations); PJM 
Interconnection, LLC, 164 FERC ¶ 61,215 (2018) (imposing minimum credit 
requirement for FTRs of $0.10/MWh).  See also PJM Credit Overview and Supplement 
to the PJM Credit Risk Management Policy at 29-30 (Apr. 2021), 
https://pjm.com/~/media/documents/agreements/pjm-credit-overview.ashx (PJM now has 
a 12-step process for calculating FTR credit requirements).      

32 PJM, Financial Transmission Rights, Credit Requirements Calculators, at 
https://www.pjm.com/markets-and-operations/ftr.aspx (last visited Sept. 28, 2021).  PJM 
stopped offering the PJM Credit Calculator in March 2020.  PJM Credit Overview and 
Supplement to the PJM Credit Risk Management Policy at 29-30 (Apr. 2021), 
https://pjm.com/~/media/documents/agreements/pjm-credit-overview.ashx (“Credit 
calculators will no longer be posted on FTR website. . . . Participants can submit bids to a 
Credit Study Market in FTR Center to calculate total credit requirement.”).  Past versions 
of the Calculator are still available on PJM’s website at the first web address above.   

33 See GH_0003668 (“FTR Credit Calculator 2016-2017 (Dec 2015 Valuation)”) 
(last modified on Apr. 12, 2016). 

34 PJM Manual 6, § 6.7 (“[T]he FTR Credit Requirement shall be the sum of the 
individual positive monthly subtotals, representing months in which net payments to PJM 
are expected.”).   

35 See id. (“Upon request, PJM will return to the participant any collateral that is 
no longer required for the FTR auctions; however, PJM reserves the right to establish a 
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II. Procedural History 

 On June 25, 2018, staff in the Commission’s Office of Enforcement (OE Staff) 
received a tip through the Enforcement Hotline from Kevin Kelley, CEO of an FTR 
trading firm called Roscommon Analytics, explaining that he had met with Kittell in the 
fall of 2016 to discuss GreenHat’s business and possible transactions with Roscommon.36  
Kelley summarized his conversation and concerns, describing what he believed to be “a 
classic case of market manipulation, taking advantage of market rules to defraud other 
participants.”37   

 OE Staff immediately opened an investigation and issued data requests to PJM, 
GreenHat, Shell Energy North America (US), LP (Shell), Boston Energy Trading and 
Marketing LLC (BETM), Moss Adams LLP (GreenHat’s auditors), Philip Zane 
(GreenHat’s compliance officer), Christopher O’Donnell (GreenHat’s valuation officer), 
Kevin McGowan (a friend of Respondents, who solicited potential business partners), 
and several firms and individuals that GreenHat or McGowan contacted about possible 
transactions.38  In response to data requests, GreenHat produced a substantial volume of 
emails, spreadsheets, and other materials in the summer and fall of 2018.  In late 2018, 
however, GreenHat failed to make Kittell available for testimony.  On December 3, 2018, 
the Commission ordered a non-public, formal investigation of Respondents’ conduct, 
enabling OE staff to issue subpoenas for documents and testimony.39  Thereafter, 
GreenHat refused to provide substantive responses to data requests seeking narrative 
responses.40   

 
maximum frequency of returns, which maximum shall not be less frequent than once per 
calendar quarter.”). 

36 GreenHat Energy, LLC, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138, at app. A, 5 (2021) (Order to 
Show Cause) (hereinafter, Appendix A to the Order to Show Cause will be cited directly 
as the OE Staff Report). 

37 OE Staff Report at 5-6. 

38 Id. at 6. 

39 Id. at 6-7. 

40 Id. at 7. 
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 In late 2018 and early 2019, OE Staff took testimony from Bartholomew, 

Ziegenhorn, and Kittell.41  Citing their Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination, 
each of them declined to give substantive testimony.   

 On July 21, 2020, OE Staff issued a Preliminary Findings Letter to GreenHat, 
Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell.42  On August 21, 2020, GreenHat and Kittell 
entered into a tolling agreement with OE Staff that extended the running of the statute of 
limitations for 30 days beyond the otherwise applicable limitations period.  Bartholomew 
and Ziegenhorn did the same on August 24, 2020.  On September 21, 2020, GreenHat, 
Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell submitted a joint response to the Preliminary 
Findings Letter.   

 On December 22, 2020, OE Staff made a settlement offer to GreenHat, 
Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell, to which they did not respond.  On December 30, 
2020, OE Staff provided notice to them, pursuant to section 1b.19 of the Commission’s 
regulations,43 of its intent to recommend the initiation of a public proceeding against 
them.  On January 25, 2021, Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn entered into tolling 
agreements that extended the running of the statute of limitations for an additional 60 
days beyond the otherwise applicable limitations period.   

 Mr. Kittell died on January 6, 2021.44  On February 10, 2021, counsel for Luan 
Troxel sent OE Staff a letter stating that Ms. Troxel had not yet been appointed as 
executor of Mr. Kittell’s estate and that to the attorney’s knowledge, no one was then 
authorized to act for GreenHat.  Neither GreenHat nor the Kittell Estate submitted a 
response to the section 1b.19 notice letter.  On March 29, 2021, counsel for Bartholomew 
and Ziegenhorn told OE Staff that they would not be providing any additional response 
but would instead continue to rely on their September 21, 2020 response to the 
Preliminary Findings Letter.45  On May 4, 2021, the San Diego Probate Court named 
Luan Troxel as executor of Mr. Kittell’s estate.   

 On May 20, 2021, the Commission initiated the instant proceeding by issuing an 
order directing Respondents to show cause why they should not be found to have violated 
section 222 of the FPA and section 1c.2 of the Commission’s regulations by engaging in 

 
41 Id.  

42 Id.  

43 18 C.F.R. § 1b.19. 

44 See Kittell Estate Answer at 10. 

45 OE Staff Report at 7-8. 
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a manipulative scheme in the PJM FTR market.46  That scheme generated more than $13 
million in unjust profits for Respondents and imposed approximately $179 million in 
losses on PJM members.  The Commission also directed GreenHat to show cause why it 
should not be found to have violated PJM Tariff Attachment Q, section Ia.B and PJM’s 
Operating Agreement, section 15.1.3.  Additionally, the Commission directed 
Respondents to show cause why they should not be required, jointly and severally, to 
disgorge unjust profits of $13,072,428, plus interest, and GreenHat, Bartholomew, and 
Ziegenhorn to show cause why they should not be assessed civil penalties of 
$179,000,000, $25,000,000, and $25,000,000, respectively.   

 On May 25, 2021, the Commission issued a notice designating, with certain 
limited exceptions, the Office of Enforcement as non-decisional in deliberations by the 
Commission in this docket.47 

 On May 27, 2021, as amended on May 28, 2021, Respondents filed a joint motion 
for extension of time until July 19, 2021 to respond to the Order to Show Cause (Motion 
for Extension of Time).  On May 28, 2021, OE Staff filed a reply to the Motion for 
Extension of Time, deferring to the Commission about whether to grant the request in 
whole or in part.  Upon consideration of the motion, the Commission gave notice on June 
16, 2021 that Respondents’ due date for filing a response to the Order to Show Cause 
would be extended to and including July 6, 2021. 

 On June 1, 2021, OE Staff filed non-public investigative materials, including the 
investigative documents relied on in the Staff Report. 

 On June 11, 2021, Respondents filed a joint notice of their election under section 
31(d)(3) of the FPA48 and the Order to Show Cause,49 thereby electing a penalty 
assessment if the Commission finds a violation. 

 On July 6, 2021, Respondents filed a joint answer to the Order to Show Cause 
(Respondents’ Answer).  Respondents’ Answer includes a request that the Commission 
release the unredacted version of Respondents’ pleadings in this proceeding.50  Also, on 

 
46 Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 at P 1. 

47 18 C.F.R §§ 385.2201-385.2202. 

48 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(3). 

49 Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 at ordering para. (E). 

50 Respondents’ Answer at 1, 70.  OE Staff does not oppose this request.  OE Staff 
Reply at 2.  We deny this request.  Although OE Staff does not oppose the request, OE 
Staff has no particular interest in whether the materials are published in unredacted form 
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July 6, 2021, the Kittell Estate filed a separate answer (Kittell Estate Answer), largely 
reiterating points made in the Respondents’ Answer.   

 On July 27, 2021, OE Staff filed its reply to Respondents’ Answer and Kittell 
Estate Answer (OE Staff Reply).  Thereafter, on August 23, 2021, the Kittell Estate filed 
a Sur-Reply to the OE Staff Reply (Kittell Estate Sur-Reply), along with a motion 
seeking leave to file the Sur-Reply.  The Commission hereby denies the Kittell Estate 
motion and declines to consider the pleading.  The Order to Show Cause provided 
procedural steps with specific filings to be made by Respondents and OE staff.  A Sur-
Reply was not one of those filings.  In addition, Rule 213(a)(2) of the Commission's 
Rules of Practice and Procedure,51 prohibits an answer to an answer unless otherwise 
ordered by the decisional authority.  We are not persuaded to accept the Kittell Estate 
Sur-Reply and we, therefore, reject it. 

III. Kittell Estate Motion to End Enforcement Action 

 On October 1, 2021, OE Staff issued a notice disclosing that an OE litigation 
attorney, Thomas Olson, and a member of the Commission’s Decisional Staff, Steven 
Tabackman, had exchanged emails regarding a matter related to this 
proceeding.52  Copies of the email exchange were attached to the notice.53   

 
or not.  The parties that do have an interest are not part of this proceeding, and therefore, 
they have not had the opportunity to present positions on whether publication in 
unredacted form would be harmful to them in some way.  This, combined with 
Respondent’s failure to provide anything more than a cursory request, and their failure to 
identify any discernible harm if the request is denied, leads us to conclude that the 
unredacted materials should not be published at this time.  Should Respondents pay the 
disgorgement and penalties identified herein, the request will be moot.  If Respondents do 
not pay and the Commission seeks to enforce this order in court, Respondents will have 
an opportunity to revisit this issue at that time. 

51 18 C.F.R. § 385.213(a)(2). 

52 October 1, 2021 Notice Re Communication with Decisional Staff (October 2021 
Notice).  That same day, the Commission filed an additional notice removing Mr. 
Tabackman from the Decisional Staff team on this matter.  October 1, 2021 Notice of 
Designation of Commission Staff as Non-Decisional.   

53 There were minor redactions in the email chain, included for the sole purpose of 
preventing publication of the individuals’ personal email addresses.  October 2021 Notice 
at Ex. 1. 
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 On October 5, 2021, the Kittell Estate filed a motion citing that notice and 

requesting that the Commission “drop all enforcement action against the estate of 
Andrew Kittell, ban Messrs. Tabackman and Olson from any future involvement, and 
order other offices within the Commission to investigate what happened.”54  On October 
6, 2021, OE Staff filed a response opposing the motion.  OE Staff states that OE followed 
proper procedure by disclosing the emails to the Designated Agency Ethics Official and 
ensuring that the emails were made public and included in the record of this proceeding.55 

 The email exchange disclosed in the October 2021 Notice addressed procedural 
matters that might arise under California probate law in the state probate proceeding 
addressing the Kittell Estate, which is not an issue currently before the Commission in 
this proceeding.  Nevertheless, given the circumstances, the Commission referred the 
matter to the Commission’s designated agent in the Department of Energy’s Office of the 
Inspector General (OIG).  As that referral remains outstanding, and in order to fully 
respect any subsequent findings by the OIG, we will not rule on the Kittell Estate motion 
at this time.  Rather, we will address the merits of the motion in a Commission order after 
the OIG concludes its consideration of this matter. 

IV. Discussion 

A. Applicable Legal Standard 

 Section 222 of the FPA makes it unlawful for any entity to use a deceptive or 
manipulative device in connection with the purchase or sale of electric energy or the 
transmission of electric energy subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.56  The 
Commission implemented this prohibition through Order No. 670, which adopted the 
Anti-Manipulation Rule.57  That rule prohibits any entity from:  (1) using a fraudulent 
device, scheme, or artifice, or making a material misrepresentation or a material omission 
as to which there is a duty to speak under a Commission-filed tariff, Commission order, 
rule, or regulation, or engaging in any act, practice, or course of business that operates or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any entity; (2) with the requisite scienter; (3) in 
connection with the purchase, sale or transmission of electric energy subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Commission.58  Under the Anti-Manipulation Rule, fraud includes, but 

 
54 Kittel Estate October 5, 2021 Expedited Motion at 1. 

55 OE Staff October 6, 2021 Opposition at P 1. 

56 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a). 

57 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2; Prohibition of Energy Market Manipulation, Order No. 670, 
114 FERC ¶ 61,047, at P 38, reh’g denied, 114 FERC ¶ 61,300 (2006). 

58 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2; Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 49; see also City 
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is not limited to, “any action, transaction, or conspiracy for the purpose of impairing, 
obstructing, or defeating a well-functioning market.”59 

 Pursuant to FPA section 316A(b), with adjustments mandated by the Federal Civil 
Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act Improvements Act of 2015,60 the Commission may 
assess a civil penalty in excess of $1 million61 per day, per violation against any person 
who violates Part II of the FPA (including FPA section 222) or any rule or order 
thereunder.62  The Commission has the authority under FPA section 316A(b) to impose 
sanctions for violations of Commission-approved tariffs.63  In determining the amount of 
a proposed penalty, section 316A(b) requires the Commission to consider “the 
seriousness of the violation and the efforts of such person to remedy the violation in a 
timely manner.”64  

 
Power Marketing, LLC, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012, at P 39 (2015) (City Power); Houlian Chen, 
151 FERC ¶ 61,179, at P 35 (2015) (Chen). 

59 Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 50. 

60 Public Law 101-410, 104 Stat. 890 (codified as amended at 28 U.S.C. § 2461).  

61 This amount is now annually adjusted for inflation, and currently $1,307,164 per 
violation, per day.  See Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustments, Order No. 875, 174 
FERC ¶ 61,015, at P 8 (2021) (Order No. 875). 

62 16 U.S.C. § 825o-1(b).  Under section 3 of the FPA, “‘person’ means an 
individual or a corporation.”  Id. § 796(4). 

63 See Enf't of Statutes, Ords., Rules, & Reguls., 132 FERC ¶ 61,216, at P 175 
(2010) (Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelines) (“[T]he Commission has the 
authority to enforce Commission-approved tariff provisions.”); Cal. ex rel. Lockyer v. 
Dynergy, Inc., 375 F.3d 831, 839 (9th Cir. 2004) (“Once filed with a federal agency, such 
tariffs are the ‘equivalent of federal regulation.’” (quoting Cahnmann v. Sprint Corp., 133 
F.3d 484, 488 (7th Cir. 1998))) (Cal. ex rel. Lockyer); id. at 853 (“Under the filed rate 
doctrine, the terms of the filed tariff are considered to be the law and to therefore 
conclusively and exclusively enumerate the rights and liabilities of the contracting 
parties.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted)); see also Wheelabrator Claremont 
Co., L.P., 164 FERC ¶ 61,237, at PP 1, 8 (2018) (Wheelabrator); PSEG Energy Res. & 
Trade, LLC, 163 FERC ¶ 61,056, at PP 1, 8 (2018) (PSEG Energy).   

64 16 U.S.C.  § 825o-1(b); see FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1C2.5; see generally 
Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelines, 132 FERC ¶ 61,216; Enf't of Statutes, 
Ords., Rules, & Reguls., 130 FERC ¶ 61,220 (2010) (Policy Statement on Penalty 
Guidelines).  The FERC Penalty Guidelines are appended to the Revised Policy 
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 As discussed below, we find that Respondents violated section 222(a) of the FPA 

and the Anti-Manipulation Rule in four related but distinct ways, by:  (1) engaging in a 
manipulative scheme in PJM’s FTR market consisting of acquiring an FTR portfolio 
made up of primarily long-term FTRs with virtually no supporting, upfront capital, 
planning not to pay for losses at settlement, and obtaining cash for the individual 
Respondents by selling profitable FTRs to third parties at a discount; (2) purchasing 
FTRs based not on market considerations but to amass as many FTRs as possible with 
minimal collateral, thereby engaging in a course of conduct for the purpose of impairing, 
obstructing, or defeating a well-functioning market; (3) making false statements to PJM 
regarding money purportedly owed by Shell with the intent to convince PJM not to 
proceed with a planned margin call; and (4) submitting inflated bids into the PJM long-
term FTR auction with the intent to artificially raise the clearing price of FTRs that Shell 
had purchased from GreenHat and offered for sale in the auction.  We also find that 
GreenHat violated PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, section Ia.B65 and PJM’s Operating 
Agreement, section 15.1.3.66  We therefore assess civil penalties and require 
disgorgement pursuant to FPA sections 31(d)(3)(a) and 309, as discussed below in 
Section III.H. 

B. Findings of Fact 

1. Building GreenHat’s FTR Portfolio 

 Before joining PJM, GreenHat developed a formula for selecting FTRs, called 
“Head Start,” the inputs to which did not include the results of a power flow analysis or 
anything else relating to predicted future congestion.67  Rather, the only inputs were data 
from PJM’s Credit Calculator about past FTR trades, historical congestion prices, and 
expected collateral.  The GreenHat presentation that described “Head Start,” also 
provided that the GreenHat bid generator methodology would “[m]inimize credit 

 
Statement on Penalty Guidelines. 

65 PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, § Ia.B. 

66 PJM Operating Agreement, § 15.1.3 (Payment of Bills). 

67 GH_0042037 (GreenHat Energy Update) (Aug. 1, 2014) (“What is ‘head start’ 
(Historic Congestion – MCP (or bid) ) * MW cleared – Cost to Bid – Cost to Carry – 
Revenue Adequacy Haircut”).  Although OE Staff served data requests seeking all 
documents relating to GreenHat’s FTR trading, GreenHat did not produce the spreadsheet 
or other tools that it used to select the FTRs it purchased in December 2014, nor has it 
explained the absence of these documents in its production.   
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requirements.”68  The presentation did not mention using the PJM Credit Calculator to 
maximize the profitability of GreenHat’s FTR portfolio.     

 To be able to purchase and trade FTRs in PJM, GreenHat needed to become a 
member of PJM and satisfy certain collateral requirements.69  In September 2014, 
GreenHat became a member of PJM and posted $500,000 in collateral with PJM.70  
Under PJM’s Tariff, however, in addition to this minimum amount of collateral, 
GreenHat was required to post collateral for actual FTR trades.71  As a result, GreenHat 
added approximately $10,000 in collateral on October 7, 2014 to support its FTR trading 
in the October 17, 2014 auction.72   

 In October 2014, GreenHat made its first FTR purchases:  four monthly FTRs 
settling the next month, with a total volume of 121.6 MWh.73  Two months later, in 
December 2014, GreenHat made its first large FTR purchases:  a total of 18.62 million 
MWh of annual FTRs, divided among approximately 7.29 million MWh of 15/16 

 
68 Id. at 2; see also Respondents’ Answer, Attachment 1, at 10 (“GreenHat 

purchased FTRs at auction beginning in 2014 . . . based on criteria that it developed to 
determine on which FTRs to bid.”). 

69 See PJM Tariff, Attachment Q (19.0.0), § Ia.C.  To become a member of PJM, 
GreenHat was also required to make a commitment to pay all costs and expenses 
associated with its FTRs.  See PJM_052970, Application for Membership Between PJM 
Interconnection, LLC and GreenHat Energy, LLC (stating that GreenHat “agrees to pay 
all costs and expenses in accordance with the Operating Agreement and all other 
applicable costs under the [PJM Tariff]”).  As a PJM Member, GreenHat was required to 
and did provide PJM with an annual Officer Certification Form.  See PJM Tariff, 
Attachment Q, § Ia.B; see, e.g. PJM001412-15 (GreenHat’s 2014 Officer Certification 
Form, dated August 24, 2014); GH_0000849-50 (Notice that GreenHat completed the 
2015 Officer Certification Form, dated March 24, 2015); GH_0000931-35 (GreenHat’s 
2016 Officer Certification Form, dated April 22, 2016); GH_0006103-107 (GreenHat’s 
2017 Officer Certification Form, dated April 14, 2017); GH_0010213-217 (GreenHat’s 
2018 Officer Certification Form, dated April 25, 2018).    

70 GH_0000564 (Email from J. Niemeyer to J. Bartholomew) (Sept. 16, 2014). 

71 See PJM Tariff Attachment Q, § V.B. 

72 GreenHat Energy Collateral History.xlsx; PJM_076714_GreenHat Collateral 
Data-FERC.xlsx. 

73 See PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions (containing 
information about all of GreenHat’s FTR trades from 2014 to 2018).   
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planning year FTRs, 5.99 million MWh of 16/17 planning year FTRs, and 5.35 million 
MWh of 17/18 planning year FTRs.  The FTRs in the first batch, from the 15/16 planning 
year, were scheduled to settle only six months from the date of purchase, on June 1, 
2015.74  

 In January 2015, Kittell began contacting a variety of trading firms about possible 
interest in buying GreenHat’s entire FTR portfolio, acquired only one month before.  The 
experienced FTR traders contacted were not interested in purchasing GreenHat’s FTR 
portfolio.75  For instance, after Ziegenhorn offered to sell Vitol Inc. (Vitol) its entire FTR 
portfolio, Vitol trader Dylan Seff responded on January 22, 2015 that “Vitol would be 
willing to take the current GreenHat portfolio if GreenHat is willing to pay Vitol 1.1MM 
USD.”76  A few days later, a Merrill Lynch trader responded to the same offer from 
Ziegenhorn as follows:  “Unfortunately, we cannot get into a position where Merrill 
Lynch Commodities would pay you for your portfolio.”77   

 When GreenHat’s FTRs began to settle on June 1, 2015, they had accrued a 
substantial negative value.78  Between June 2015 and May 2018, GreenHat paid money to 
PJM continuously for losses on the FTRs that it had purchased in 2014.  Over the period 
from June 2015 to May 2018, PJM charged GreenHat more than $2 million to cover 
those losses, averaging a $14,343 loss each week.   

 Beginning in June 2015, GreenHat changed its trading strategy by focusing on 
acquiring FTRs that would settle three or four years into the future.79  Consistent with the 

 
74 Id.   

75 See GH_0000710 (Email from D. Seff to GreenHat (Jan. 22, 2015)); 
GH_0000689 (Email from D. Ellithorpe to GreenHat (Jan. 28, 2015)); GH_0000729 
(Email from M. Maley to Contact@greenhatenergy.com (Jan. 22, 2015)) (telling 
Ziegenhorn that his FTR team had “[taken] a look at your portfolio” and was “not 
interested in making a bid at this time”). 

76 GH_0000710 (Email from D. Seff to GreenHat (Jan. 22, 2015)). 

77 GH_0000689 (Email from D. Ellithorpe to GreenHat (Jan. 28, 2015)). 

78 Greenhat_Fifth Data Request_05142020-Billing Statements.xlsm; 
GH_0034024, GH PJM Settlements Account Tab. 

79 See Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement Hotline (June 
25, 2018)) (Hotline Email) (stating that GreenHat “focus[ed] on the long term FTR 
markets, at that point only the furthest year out) (emphasis added); 
PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions.  GreenHat varied from 
this strategy only in the final months before default, when it engaged in a massive 
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“Head Start” methodology, GreenHat extracted data about collateral requirements from 
PJM’s Credit Calculator and analyzed it using tools in a spreadsheet to find the set of 
FTRs that would result in the lowest possible collateral requirement.80  The spreadsheets 
that GreenHat used to decide what FTRs to bid on and purchase did not consider any data 
about traditional fundamentals such as expected future changes in generation, 
transmission, or load, or their impact on congestion prices.81  In fact, in presentations to 
potential investors, GreenHat described research about such fundamentals as inside 
information of low value that GreenHat did not need when implementing its investing 
strategy.82 

 GreenHat openly shared its bidding strategy with third parties.  For example, on or 
about November 5, 2016, Kittell met in Houston with Kevin Kelley, the Chief Executive 
Officer of an FTR trading firm called Roscommon Analytics, to discuss a potential 
business relationship.  Kelley later described the conversation in a June 2018 email to 
FERC Enforcement’s Hotline.  In the email, Kelley described their conversation:     

My radar went off when I asked who was doing their power 
flow analysis, an absolute requirement to have any success in 
FTR investing—and he said he had no one doing it, they 

 
purchase of Annual FTRs to reduce its collateral obligations and avoid being declared in 
default (discussed in detail below).  See Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to 
Enforcement Hotline (June 25, 2018)).   

80 See Respondents’ PF Response, Attachment 1, at 9-10, GH_0020256, 
GH_002026.  See also OE Staff Report at 24, 81-82 (describing how the spreadsheet 
image presented on Slide 10 of Attachment 1 of Respondents’ PF Response (which is 
identical to Attachment 1 of Respondents’ Answer) is set to minimize the amount of 
collateral GreenHat would be required to post if it purchased the FTRs under 
consideration); Attachment C (describing GreenHat’s tools for selecting what FTRs to 
bid on and what bid prices to submit); OE Staff Reply at 44-46 (explaining how 
GH_0020256 (spreadsheet) is set up to select FTRs that minimize GreenHat’s collateral 
obligations). 

81 See GH_0020307.  Rather, because GreenHat’s spreadsheets were based on the 
PJM Credit Calculator, they looked at historical PJM data.  See supra note 80. 

82 GH_0004094, Passive Investing PJM FTR Market (Powerpoint presentation 
directed at potential investors) (Oct. 21, 2016).  GreenHat’s Powerpoint stated that 
“disruptive events” can arise from “changes in weather, fuel prices, transmission 
resource[s] and generation resources.”  Id.   
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weren’t looking at fundamentals, just strictly buying based 
upon credit requirements.83   

 Similarly, in 2017, a potential business partner, Matt Arnold, had an in-person 
meeting with Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn to discuss the possible acquisition of 
GreenHat.  That same day, Arnold wrote an email to a colleague seeking advice and 
describing what he learned about GreenHat.  Arnold explained that GreenHat was “three 
guys who put the portfolio together” to “exploit an arb in the way PJM calculates credit 
reserve requirements,” and that “[i]f [GreenHat’s] portfolio ever goes [out of the money] 
to an extent that exceeds the credit reserve, they just shut down the LLC and walk 
away.”84 

 GreenHat not only used the PJM Credit Calculator to minimize GreenHat’s 
portfolio collateral obligations, but GreenHat offered to do so for traders at other firms as 
well.  For example, on August 29, 2017, Kittell emailed Andrew Lee, a trader at 
Roscommon, to say that he had reviewed that trader’s recent FTR auction results and had 
“an idea” for him.85  Kittell explained that it appeared “your current position requires 
approximately $10 million in margin to be posted to PJM” and offered to “put together a 
modest ‘flow’ portfolio that will allow you to release most of the required margin and 
free up that capital for the next auction.”86  He said that, if the other trader was interested, 
“we would need to execute the eFTR trades before the auction bidding window closes.”87  
Kittell made a similar offer when he proposed the bilateral sale to BETM (discussed 
below), claiming that if BETM purchased a particular set of FTRs from GreenHat, it 
could reduce a $10 million collateral obligation to $3.82 million.88 

 GreenHat’s portfolio grew from 12.5 million MWh in June 2015 to 889 million 
MWh in May 2018.89  GreenHat’s cash deposits also shrank from $5 million to $559,447 

 
83 Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement Hotline (June 25, 

2018)). 

84 MA-0000000062 (Email from M. Arnold to P. Dadone (Sept. 5, 2017)). 

85 See GH_0010771 (Email from A. Kittell to A. Lee (Aug. 29, 2017)). 

86 Id. 

87 Id. 

88 See BETM_00000495 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Leckey (Jan. 24, 2018)). 

89 OE Staff Report at 24-25.  The 889 million MWh figure deducts GreenHat’s 
sales of FTRs in PJM auctions or bilaterally.   
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during that period.90  As a result, during this time, GreenHat went from posting 40 cents 
of collateral per MWh in June 2015 to posting less than a penny of collateral per MWh in 
June 2018.91  By contrast, in June 2018, the top 10 FTR holders in PJM other than 
GreenHat posted an average of 23 cents per MWh in collateral.92   

 In September 2017, both Bartholomew and Kittell created spreadsheets calculating 
the mark-to-auction value of GreenHat’s FTR portfolio at that time, both of which 
showed it had a market value of approximately negative $36 million.93  Despite this 
knowledge, GreenHat continued to use the PJM Credit Calculator methodology to 
purchase FTRs requiring little to no upfront capital.94  In December 2017, for example, 
GreenHat bought more than 148 million MWh of Annual FTRs for the planning periods 
2018/2019, 2019/2020, and 2020/2021 using the same PJM Credit Calculator 
methodology.95  

 
90 GreenHat Energy LLC Collateral History.xlsx.  FTR market participants are 

required to post not only “hold collateral” (for FTRs that the firm owns) but also “bid 
collateral” (to cover all of the bids the firm submits to an auction, on the assumption that 
all the bids will clear).   

91 See id. 

92 PJM_088452 (Excel spreadsheet showing FTR holdings and collateral of largest 
15 portfolios in PJM over time). 

93 GH_0020751 (Kittell spreadsheet); GH_0020740.xlsx (Bartholomew 
spreadsheet).   

94 In addition, Kittell directed GreenHat’s auditors to rely on the PJM Credit 
Calculator to value GreenHat’s FTR portfolio for its end-of-year financial statements. 
See, e.g. GH_0003692 (Email from A. Kittell to K. Wilks) (April 15, 2016) (Discussing 
FTR valuations for GreenHat’s 2015 end-of-year financial statements, Kittell writes, “All 
of those FTRs are valued using the new CC [Credit Calculator] historical data just like 
we talked about.”).  GreenHat’s auditor likewise used the Credit Calculator to value 
GreenHat’s FTR portfolio in the company’s end-of-year 2016 and mid-year 2017 
financial statements.  See GH_0008761-770, at GH_0008769 (notes on financial 
statements for year ending 2016 and 2015) and GH_0006161-170, at GH_0006169 (notes 
on financial statements for six-month-period ending June 2017). 

95 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions; GH_0020267. 
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2. GreenHat’s Third-Party Sales of FTRs 

 While GreenHat used the PJM Credit Calculator to purchase FTRs that would 
minimize its collateral obligations, GreenHat sought to sell FTRs to third parties based on 
their profitability, determined using the most recent prices set in PJM auctions (mark-to 
auction valuation).96  Although GreenHat’s portfolio was never profitable overall, it did 
hold individual FTRs that had a positive value.  Between September 2016 and April 
2018, Respondents collected $13,072,428 by selling those FTRs on a bilateral basis to 
other market participants.97   

 On August 19, 2016, GreenHat negotiated and implemented a bilateral sale of 
certain of its FTRs to Shell.98  The terms of the agreement were that, five days prior to the 
next PJM long-term FTR auction (the September 2016 auction), GreenHat would transfer 

 
96 See, e.g., GH_0014369 (Email from A. Kittell to D. Seff (Feb. 12, 2018)) 

(“GreenHat is looking to sell an ‘in-the-money’ portfolio of PJM FTRs for the purposes 
of raising working capital”); GH_0012895 (Email from A. Kittell to A. D’Agostino (Feb. 
1, 2018)) (“I have attached an updated letter agreement and attachment.  Also for your 
convenience, I attached a version of the attachment with the Purchase Price calculated 
using the last auction prices.”); GH_0004620 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Curry (Jan. 30, 
2017)) (“I have attached a[n] FTR portfolio for your review.  The portfolio consists of 
approximately 4,500 MWs of PY 18/19 and 3,400 MWs of PY 19/20 FTRs with a 
combined forward value of $48.3 million using the most recent auction prices.”); 
GH_0004125 (Email from A. Kittell to A. D’Agostino (Nov. 7, 2016)) (“This sheet 
provides a direct link between the last auction prices and the portfolio I sent you 
earlier.”); GH_0004020 (Email from A. Kittell to A. D’Agostino (Oct. 7, 2016)) (“The 
attached spread sheet now includes a summary of the portfolio including the resulting 
matched book assuming the portfolio is sold at the last auction clearing prices.”); 
GH_0003939 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Egan (Sept. 23, 2016)) (“This is an actual 
portfolio that Green Hat could transfer prior to the next long-term auction if the parties 
come to an agreement.  We selected it because it has an approximate future value vs the 
latest auction results of approximately $25 million.”); GH_0005114 (Email from A. 
Kittell to A. Lee (June 14, 2016)) (“the most recent MCPs” [market clearing prices] for 
the FTRs in the attached list “are more than $1,000 greater than the original auction 
prices”). 

97 See GH_0034042, PJM Settlements Account Tab, Column R (“Shell/BETM 
Revenue”). 

98 See GH_0004546 (Financial Transmission Rights Purchase & Sale Agreement) 
(Aug. 19, 2016) (First Shell Agreement). 
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a set of identified FTRs to Shell “by way of the FTR Portal.”99  After PJM ran that 
auction and posted the auction results, the parties calculated an Initial Purchase Price for 
each of the transferred FTRs by multiplying the MWs for that FTR by the greater of a 
$1,000 floor or a discount factor multiplied by the difference between the price at which 
that FTR cleared in the auction minus a cost factor set out in the agreement.100  The 
parties set the discount factor for that first agreement at 0.73, meaning that, setting aside 
the $1,000 floor, for every dollar increase in the clearing price of an FTR above the cost 
factor that Shell purchased from GreenHat and then offered into the auction, the Initial 
Purchase Price would increase by 73 cents/MW (which GreenHat received) and Shell 
kept the remaining additional 27 cents/MW.101  Under the agreement, Shell would pay the 
Initial Purchase Price for the FTRs that it sold in the auction or decided to keep in its 
portfolio and had the option of returning the rest to GreenHat in exchange for a 
$1,000/MW credit.102  The parties then calculated the Final Purchase Price by summing 
the various charges and credits, and Shell paid that Final Purchase Price in a single lump 
sum.103   

 Shell paid GreenHat the Final Purchase Price of $1,490,981 for this first bilateral 
sale on October 18, 2016.104  GreenHat transferred nearly all of Shell’s payment, 
$1,490,000, to Kittell the day after it was received.105  In describing the deal to an 
individual at a different firm, Kittell wrote:  “So, we did sell a[n] FTR book to Shell last 
month, but at a discount rate we would hope to improve on with our next sale.”106  

 
99 Id. 

100 Id. (“The Initial Purchase Price will be calculated as . . . FTR Price = 
(Discounted Value) times FTR MW Where:  Discounted Value means the greater of (i) 
([Market Clearing Price] minus Cost Basis) times 0.73 or (ii) $1,000/MW.”). 

101 See GH_0004546. 

102 Id. 

103 See id. 

104 See GH_0034042, PJM Settlements Account tab (showing deposit of payments 
from Shell on Oct. 18, 2016).   

105 See OE Staff Reply at 56 (citing staff analysis provided in Microsoft Excel file 
entitled “Individual Disgorgement Calculations.xlsx” in the “Cash Flow to Owners” tab). 

 
106 GH_0021313 (Email from A. Kittell to B. Anast (Sept. 1, 2016)).  The 0.73 

discount factor that GreenHat provided to Shell for the first bilateral sale decreased to 
0.71 in the second, and 0.67 or 0.77 (depending on the planning year for the FTRs) in the 
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 On November 13, 2016, GreenHat negotiated a second bilateral sale to Shell, 

which the parties implemented in connection with the December 2016 long-term auction 
(17/20 Long-Term Auction).107  The terms of that agreement were similar to the terms of 
the first bilateral sale, except that the parties eliminated the $1,000 floor and calculated 
the Initial Purchase Price for each MW by multiplying the MWs for that FTR by the 
greater of the price at which that FTR cleared in the auction or a “Threshold” cost set out 
in the agreement multiplied by a revised discount factor (0.71 for the second bilateral 
sale).108  They calculated the credits for FTRs that Shell returned to GreenHat by 
multiplying the MWs for each returned FTR by the revised discount factor (0.71) and the 
“Threshold” cost.109  As with the previous agreement, the parties summed the various 
charges and credits to arrive at a Final Purchase Price,110 and Shell paid GreenHat a Final 
Purchase Price of $5,213,276 on that deal in February 2017.111   

 On February 27, 2017, Shell signed an agreement for a third bilateral sale with 
similar terms as the second sale, but with modest adjustments to Shell’s discount.112  As 
discussed further below, in March 2017, before this deal could be implemented, PJM 
contacted GreenHat and stated that PJM was considering making a margin call on 
GreenHat because GreenHat’s expected losses far exceeded its minimal collateral 
deposit.113  On June 16, 2017, Shell paid GreenHat the Final Purchase Price of 

 
third, so GreenHat was not able to “improve on” the discount in future sales, at least not 
to any consistent degree. 

 
107 GH_0000049 (Financial Transmission Rights Purchase & Sale Agreement 

(Nov. 13, 2016)) (Second Shell Agreement).   

108 Id. (“The Initial Purchase Price will be calculated as . . . FTR Value = FTR 
MW x Value x Discount Factor Where: . . . Value means the greater of (i) [Auction 
Clearing Price] or (ii) Threshold; and Discount Factor means 0.71.”). 

109 Id. 

110 See GH_000049. 

111 See GH_0034042, PJM Settlements Account Tab (showing deposit of 
payments from Shell on February 10, 2017).   

112 GH_0002536 (Financial Transmission Rights Purchase & Sale Agreement 
(Feb. 27, 2017)) (Third Shell Agreement).  The discount factor was 0.77 for 18/19 
planning year FTRs and 0.65 for 19/20 planning year FTRs. 

113 GH_0006545 (Email from J. Bartholomew to H. Loomis (Mar. 17, 2017)) 
(confirming call).   
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$4,368,171 on that deal.114  That same day, GreenHat moved virtually all of that money 
to Off Fannin, its parent company.115  Between July 10 and July 17, 2017, Off Fannin 
transferred approximately $4.9 million to Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell.116   

 Because the Final Purchase Price in each of these transactions depended, in part, 
on the auction clearing price that Shell received for the FTRs when they were sold in the 
market, GreenHat would receive a larger payment under the agreements if the auction 
clearing prices for those FTRs were higher.  In conjunction with all three transactions 
with Shell, GreenHat bid into the corresponding PJM long-term FTR auctions to 
purchase the same FTRs that it had just sold to Shell.117  Its bids were for either exactly 
the same volume or exactly twice the volume of Shell’s offers to sell the FTRs.118  In the 
auction related to the first deal, GreenHat bid on 7% of the FTR paths that it had just sold 
to Shell; in the auction related to the second deal, it bid on 31%; and in the auction 
related to the third deal, it bid on 89%.119  All told, in the June 2017 auction, GreenHat 
was able to buy FTRs on 1,201 paths that Shell offered into the auction, for a total 
volume of 5,825 MW (approximately 25.6 million MWhs), with bid prices 22.22% 
higher than Shell’s offer prices.120  Collectively, over the course of the three transactions, 

 
114 GH_0034042, PJM Settlement Accounts Tab.   

115 Id., Off Fannin Operations Account Tab.  

116 Id. 

117 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00003_Shell Activity in PJM Auctions During Relevant Period.    

118 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00003_Shell Activity in PJM Auctions During Relevant Period.    

119 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00003_Shell Activity in PJM Auctions During Relevant Period.    

120 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00003_Shell Activity in PJM Auctions During Relevant Period.  
Because GreenHat sometimes bid at twice the quantity of Shell’s offers, it purchased a 
larger volume of FTRs on Shell paths than Shell sold on those paths.   
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GreenHat’s subsequent bidding behavior increased their cost basis, therefore driving up 
the size of its ultimate default by nearly $4 million.121   

 Both before and after PJM’s threatened margin call, GreenHat tried to negotiate 
additional bilateral sales with Shell and other firms,122  but was unsuccessful, until March 
23, 2018, when GreenHat negotiated a sale of profitable FTRs from its portfolio to 
BETM.123  BETM paid a single lump sum of $2 million for the package on April 4, 
2018.124  Kittell noted that GreenHat was offering these FTRs at a discount, which the 
counterparty calculated to be 20%.125 

3. Given Negative Value of Portfolio, PJM Contacts GreenHat 
About Possible Margin Call  

 On March 17, 2017 (when the third Shell bilateral deal was pending), PJM 
informed GreenHat that its FTR portfolio was valued at negative $35 million, which 
exceeded its collateral with PJM by such a wide margin that PJM was considering 
initiating a margin call.126  The next day (a Saturday), the three owners met to sign a 

 
121 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions; 

PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions; 
PJM_Data_Extract_00003_Shell Activity in PJM Auctions During Relevant Period.   

122 E.g., SHELLGHTX_00000261 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Kota & R. 
Kolkmann (Oct. 26, 2017)); SHELLGHTX_00000936 (Email from A. Kittell to R. 
Kolkman (July 20, 2017)); GH_0010915 (Email from A. Kittell to D. Seff (Feb. 12, 
2018)) (“GreenHat is looking to sell an ‘in-the-money’ portfolio of PJM FTRs for the 
purposes of raising working capital”); RBCCM000001 (internal Royal Bank of Canada 
memo about potential FTR deal with GreenHat).  In at least one instance, GreenHat 
offered to purchase unprofitable FTRs from another firm’s portfolio.  In February 2018, 
Kittell offered to take 23.4 MWs of 18/19 planning year FTRs from Koch Energy 
Services in exchange for Koch paying GreenHat $90,000.  KES000128 (Email from A. 
Kittell to M. Berend (Feb. 28, 2018)).  That transaction was never closed, however, and 
Koch transferred the FTRs to another company for $75,000. 

123 GH_0009961 (Sale of PJM Financial Transmission Rights Transactions  
(Mar. 23, 2018)). 

124 GH_0034042, GH PJM Settlements Account Tab.   

125 See BETM_00000228, at 2. 
 
126 See GH_0006545 (Email from J. Bartholomew to H. Loomis (Mar. 17, 2017)) 

(confirming call); GH_0005471 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Daugherty (Mar. 20, 2017))  
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document authorizing the transfer of all of the money in GreenHat’s bank account ($5.8 
million) to the account of GreenHat’s holding company, Off Fannin.127  Soon thereafter, 
Kittell, Bartholomew, and Ziegenhorn transferred almost all of those funds from Off 
Fannin to their own personal accounts.128  

 On March 20, 2017, Kittell assured PJM that “GreenHat is confident that the [third 
bilateral] sale of the portfolio . . . fully addresses PJM’s credit concerns.”129  After 
conducting its own analysis, PJM disagreed; it responded that the income from that 
planned sale would be insufficient.130  Over the next two weeks, GreenHat tried to 
resolve PJM’s credit concerns, but it could not demonstrate to PJM’s satisfaction that it 
had the assets necessary to cover its FTR positions.131 

 On April 13, 2017, more than three weeks after PJM first raised the potential 
margin call, GreenHat mentioned to PJM for the first time that it expected more than $62 
million from Shell related to the first two bilateral sales.  Specifically, in response to 
PJM’s continued demands for additional information showing that GreenHat’s collateral 
could sufficiently cover its FTR positions, Kittell represented to PJM that Shell owed 
GreenHat $62,188,729.02 “relating to the two sets of bi-lateral ftr trades already 
completed” and “associated with a large number of planning year 2018/2019 ftrs that 
include both buys and sells between Greenhat and Shell.”132   

 
(referring to “the Friday call between GreenHat and PJM”); GH_0005592 (Email        
from S. Daugherty to A. Kittell (Mar. 21, 2017)) (attaching email explaining basis for 
$35-36 million estimate). 

127 GH_0016019 (“Off Fannin Holdings, LLC (‘Off Fannin’) hereby authorizes its 
subsidiary GreenHat Energy LLC (‘GreenHat’) to make a distribution of $5,820,357.48 
to Off Fannin. . . . Ownership of the funds shall transfer immediately.”) (Mar. 18, 2017). 

128 See GH_0034042, GH PJM Settlement Account Tab. 
129 GH_0005472 (Letter from Kittell to S. Daugherty (Mar. 20, 2017)). 

130 See GH_0005592 (Email from S. Daugherty to Kittell (Mar. 21, 2017)). 

131 See, e.g., GH_0005539 (Email from Kittell to S. Daugherty and S. Bresler 
(Mar. 22, 2017)); GH_0005540 (Email from Kittell to S. Daugherty (Mar. 31, 2017)) 
(attaching unredacted version of Third Shell Agreement for first time). 

132 See, e.g., GH_0006632 (Email from Kittell to M. Harhai (Apr. 13, 2017)). 
Although Kittell made these representations to PJM, neither GreenHat’s auditors’ notes 
of conversations with Kittell regarding these same bilateral sales nor the narrative 
description of these bilateral sales in GreenHat’s 2016 financial statements make any 
reference to expected future payments.  See MA – 00000527.xls; GH_0008769 (Greenhat 
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 In an effort to obtain more information about Kittell’s claim, on April 14, 2017, 

PJM requested additional information regarding the “date(s) Shell is obligated to pay 
GreenHat the $62,188,729.02” and “any communication you have from Shell in which 
they confirm the cashflow amount(s) and timing.”133  GreenHat responded on April 17, 
but did not identify any such communication.134  PJM’s Chief Financial Officer, Suzanne 
Daugherty, wrote GreenHat on April 19, 2017, stating that GreenHat had not answered 
the questions that PJM raised in an April 13 phone call, or the questions posed in a 
follow-up email request sent on April 14, 2017.135  Daugherty repeated those questions, 
asking GreenHat to provide the dates and amounts of all earlier payments from Shell to 
GreenHat under the first two Shell deals, as well as “correspondence [or] documentation 
from Shell Energy to validate [or] verify the applicable amount(s) and date(s).”136 

 Kittell did not send the requested communications.  Instead, he sent copies of the 
bilateral agreements, and spreadsheets containing data that he claimed came from the 
FTR Center.137  Kittell encouraged PJM to use those materials to calculate for itself how 
much Shell owed based on the price and volume from the FTR Center (implicitly 
representing that such a calculation would provide a figure that Shell owed).138   

 The data Kittell provided substantially inflated the revenues GreenHat would be 
receiving from Shell.  This is because the prices used in the spreadsheet did not match the 
price that Shell had paid under the bilateral agreements, or even the price that GreenHat 
had paid when it acquired the FTR, but rather it was the volume in MW multiplied by the 
per-MW price that GreenHat had paid to acquire the FTR.139  Accordingly, when 
GreenHat multiplied the “price” field by the “volume” field, and encouraged PJM to do 
the same, it actually was multiplying volume twice.  By multiplying price by volume 

 
Energy, LLC - Financial Statements and Independent Auditor's Report – December 31, 
2016, and 2015). 

133 GH_0005600 (Email from M. Harhai to GreenHat (Kittell) (Apr. 14, 2017)). 

134 GH_0005368 (Email from Kittell to M. Harhai (Apr. 17, 2017)). 

135 GH_0005597 (Email from S. Daugherty to Kittell (Apr. 19, 2017)).   

136 Id. 

137 GH_0005475 (Email from Kittell to S. Daugherty (Apr. 20, 2017)).   

138 See GH_0005368; GH0005475. 

139 See OE Staff Report at 49-50.  
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twice, GreenHat made it appear that Shell owed more than $62 million, rather than 
approximately $7 million based on the FTR Center data.140  

 At various times, PJM discussed GreenHat matters with Shell,141 but PJM claims 
that it was “not able to independently confirm the value of the bilateral trades” because, 
when it asked “Kittell for permission to contact the counterparty to the bilateral trades 
regarding the contractual arrangement with GreenHat[,] Mr. Kittell denied PJM’s request 
and specifically asked PJM not to contact the counterparty.”142  PJM states that, to avoid 
a claim of interference with GreenHat’s contractual counterparty and to allow GreenHat 
the ability to sell down its portfolio, PJM had no choice but to comply with this 
request.143 

 GreenHat never provided the information regarding Shell’s past payments to PJM.  
Nor did GreenHat note that the payments that it had received from Shell had already been 
moved out of the company to the individual Respondents’ personal accounts.   

 Nevertheless, PJM agreed for the time being not to proceed with the margin call if 
GreenHat pledged to give PJM the money that Shell supposedly owed in connection with 
the first two bilateral agreements.144  PJM and GreenHat spent the next two months 
negotiating that pledge agreement.  The final pledge agreement, signed on June 23, 2017, 
enabled PJM to use the pledged funds to offset future losses in GreenHat’s FTR portfolio 
and authorized GreenHat to continue trading FTRs.  At GreenHat’s insistence, it also 
included the following clause: 

WHEREAS, GreenHat disclaims any warranty about its 
positions and the bilateral FTR contracts with Shell, including 
the value of its positions and FTRs, other than set out in this 

 
140 Id. 

141 See, e.g., SENA_GREENHAT18_009688 (Email from M. Picardi to R. Reilley 
(May 1, 2017)); OE Staff Report at n.124 (describing phone call between PJM and Shell 
employee). 

142 PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Motion for Leave to Answer and Answer of PJM 
Interconnection, L.L.C., Docket No. ER18-1972-000, at 4 (filed Aug. 8, 2018). 

143 Id. 

144 See GH_0005368 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Harhai (Apr. 17, 2017)) (“As I 
understand the concept of the document you are drafting, GreenHat will assign to PJM its 
rights under these bilateral transactions and any moneys that Shell pays to GreenHat net 
of what GreenHat pays to Shell starting in June 2018.”). 
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Agreement, and PJM disclaims any reliance on GreenHat for 
the same.145 

4. GreenHat Default 

 On January 22, 2018, Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell entered into a 
breakup agreement in which Kittell became the sole owner of GreenHat.  Under the terms 
of the agreement, Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn would still be entitled to share in the 
proceeds of future sales, including sales of FTRs to third parties.146   

 On May 30, 2018, Kittell wrote to PJM to “bring [it] up to speed on the latest 
communications between GreenHat and Shell” regarding the additional payments that 
GreenHat claimed Shell owed in connection with the first two bilateral agreements (i.e., 
the basis for the pledge agreement).147  He reported that Shell “essentially claim[ed] that 
they don’t see any FTR transactions in their systems and they don’t see any further 
obligations between the companies.”148  He claimed that GreenHat would continue to 
invoice Shell but, recognizing that PJM was the primary beneficiary of the pledge 
agreement, GreenHat wanted to coordinate with PJM.149  

 In response, PJM expressed its “concern[] regarding the representations you and 
your company have made regarding the value and remaining cash due to GreenHat from 
the bilateral contract(s) between your company and Shell” and asked for all 
correspondence (past and future) between GreenHat and Shell regarding the matter.150  
GreenHat then forwarded the invoices that it had sent to Shell and the responses from 
Shell stating that it did not owe GreenHat any money.151 

 
145 GH_0012235 (Partial Assignment and Pledge Agreement (June 23, 2017)). 

146 GH_0011457 (Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (Jan. 22, 2018)).   

147 PJM_000478 (Email from A. Kittell to H. Loomis (May 30, 2018)). 

148 Id. 

149 Id. 

150 See GH_0008602 (email from S. Daugherty to A. Kittell (May 30, 2018)). 

151 See SENA_GREENHAT18_000539 (Letter attached to email from S. Tinney 
to A. Kittell (May 25, 2018)); see also SENA_GREENHAT18_000541 (Email from        
J. Davies to S. Tinney (June 7, 2018)) (responding internally at Shell to “please ignore 
[invoices sent by Kittell] – we don’t have any outstanding transactions with this 
company.”); SENA_GREENHAT18_000530 (Email from O. Nilova to S. Kennedy  
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 On May 30, 2018, PJM emailed GreenHat to say that GreenHat’s 2018/2019 

planning year FTR positions would begin to settle in June, and PJM would send weekly 
invoices for the money that GreenHat owed pursuant to those settlements.152  To the 
degree that there were insufficient funds in the bank account that GreenHat set up to 
satisfy the pledge agreement, PJM expected GreenHat to send additional funds to pay the 
invoices, and PJM stated that it would place GreenHat in default if it failed to do so.153 

 On June 1, 2018, PJM’s 2018/2019 FTRs began to settle and GreenHat failed to 
pay an invoice for its first week of settlements totaling $1,193,965.  Subsequent invoices 
issued to GreenHat that month also went unpaid, as well as those that PJM sent in the 
following weeks.154  Accordingly, PJM declared GreenHat to be in default on June 21, 
2018, and it terminated GreenHat’s rights to participate as a member of PJM and to 
transact in the PJM markets.155 

 By the time PJM drew upon the collateral to cover GreenHat’s first losses, 
GreenHat had only $559,447 on deposit with PJM, little more than the minimum 
$500,000 that every PJM member was required to maintain.156  By this time, GreenHat 
had already moved a significant portion of its assets into the account of GreenHat’s 
parent company, Off Fannin,157 and then into the personal accounts of the individual 
Respondents.  On March 18, 2017, the day after PJM contacted GreenHat about the 

 
(May 22, 2018)) (“Andrew with Greenhat called Cindy about 10 times today regarding 
‘the outstanding transactions.’”).  

152 See PJM_001301 (Email from S. Daugherty to A. Kittell (May 30, 2018)). 

153 Id. 

154 See, e.g., PJM_000246 (Email from J. Niemeyer to A. Kittell, & J. 
Bartholomew (June 12, 2018)); PJM_000079 (Email from G. Roschel to A. Kittell (June 
21, 2018)). 

155 See PJM_000079 (Email from G. Roschel to GreenHat and A. Kittell (June 21, 
2018)) (“PJM declares GreenHat Energy, LLC in default of its payment obligations under 
the PJM Operating Agreement for non-payment of the June 1 to June 6, 2018 MTD 
invoice.”). 

156 GreenHat Energy LLC Collateral History.xlsx; PJM_076714.  See also OE 
Staff Report at 35. 

157 GH_0016019 (“Off Fannin Holdings, LLC (‘Off Fannin’) hereby authorizes its 
subsidiary GreenHat Energy LLC (‘GreenHat’) to make a distribution of $5,820,357.48 
to Off Fannin. . . . Ownership of the funds shall transfer immediately.”). 



Docket No. IN18-9-000  - 30 - 

 
potential margin call, the individual Respondents met to authorize the movement of all 
the funds in GreenHat’s account to Off Fannin.  By April 4, 2017, Bartholomew, 
Ziegenhorn, and Kittell had moved almost all of the funds from Off Fannin into their 
personal accounts.158  Similarly, on June 16, 2017, Shell paid GreenHat $4,368,171 
pursuant to the terms of their bilateral contract.159  The same day, GreenHat moved 
almost all of that money to Off Fannin.160  Between July 10, 2017 and July 17, 2017, Off 
Fannin transferred approximately $4.9 million to Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and 
Kittell.161  The same pattern occurred after GreenHat received payment of $2 million 
from BETM on April 23, 2018.162  Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell did not return 
the millions of dollars that they received from Off Fannin from 2017-2018 to cover any 
of GreenHat’s default.  By June 2017, Off Fannin only had $3,768 in its account.163   

 When the FTRs in GreenHat’s portfolio finished settling in May 2021, the total 
amount of GreenHat’s default became known – GreenHat’s scheme had resulted in other 
PJM members paying a total of $179,600,573.164  

 
158 See GH_0034042, Off Fannin account Tab. 

159 Id., PJM Settlement Accounts Tab.   

160 Id., Off Fannin Operations Account Tab.   

161 Id. 

162 On April 11, 2018, GreenHat transferred $1.85 million to Off Fannin.  
GH_0034042, Off Fannin Operations Account Tab.  On April 23, 2018, Off Fannin 
transferred $499,500 apiece to Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn and $851,000 to Kittell.  
See id.   

163 See id. (showing $3,768.13 on deposit on June 13, 2017).  The balance rose to 
$4,369,768 in June after Respondents transferred the payment for the third Shell deal 
from GreenHat to Off Fannin.  See id. 

164 See PJM_088827 (default allocation spreadsheet). 
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C. Determination of Violations  

1. Violations of FPA Section 222(a) and the Commission’s Anti-
Manipulation Rule 

a. Fraudulent Device, Scheme, or Artifice 

 Fraud is the first element necessary to establish a violation of section 222(a) of the 
FPA and the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule.165  Section 222(a) of the FPA 
broadly makes its unlawful for any entity: 

[D]irectly or indirectly, to use or employ, in connection with 
the purchase or sale of electric energy or the purchase or sale 
of transmission services subject to the jurisdiction of the 
Commission, any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance . . . in contravention of such rules and regulations 
as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate 
in the public interest or for the protection of electric 
ratepayers.166 

 Promulgated pursuant to Congress’s statutory mandate in FPA section 222(a), the 
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule makes it unlawful for any entity: 

[D]irectly or indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of 
electric energy or the purchase or sale of transmission services 
subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission,  

(1) To use or employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 

(2) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to 
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, 
in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading, or 

(3) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business that operates 
or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any entity.167 

 
165 Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 49. 

166 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a). 

167 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2. 
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 Fraud is a question of fact that must be determined by all the circumstances of a 

case.168  The Commission has explained that, under the Anti-Manipulation Rule, fraud 
includes, but is not limited to, “any action, transaction, or conspiracy for the purpose of 
impairing, obstructing, or defeating a well-functioning market.”169  In light of the broad 
language of section 222 of the FPA and the Anti-Manipulation Rule, our use of the term 
“well-functioning market” is not limited just to consideration of price or economically 
efficient outcomes in a market.170  Instead, we view the term to also broadly include 
consideration of “such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as 
necessary or appropriate,”171 which necessarily includes the rates, terms, and conditions 
of service in a Commission-jurisdictional market, such as the PJM FTR market at issue 
here.   

 An entity “need not violate a tariff, rule or regulation to commit fraud.”172  The 
Commission has held that fraud under the Anti-Manipulation Rule can include open-
market transactions, i.e., transactions occurring on public trading platforms or exchanges, 
executed with manipulative intent.173  The Commission has explained that such 
transactions can be deceptive and fraudulent when they create the illusion of a legitimate 
transaction, while concealing their true manipulative purpose.174  As the Commission has 

 
168 Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 50. 

169 Id. 

170 See Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179 at P 49. 

171 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a). 

172 Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179 at P 5 (quoting Competitive Energy Services, LLC, 
144 FERC ¶ 61,163, at P 50 (2013) (citations omitted); Richard Silkman, 144 FERC          
¶ 61,164, at P 50 (2013); Lincoln Paper and Tissue, LLC, 144 FERC ¶ 61,162, at P 36 
(2013)); see also In re Make-Whole Payments and Related Bidding Strategies, 144 FERC 
¶ 61,068, at P 83 (2013) (fraud is determined by all the circumstances of a case, “not by a 
mechanical rule limiting manipulation to tariff violations”). 

173 See, e.g., Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179 at P 136 (rejecting argument that 
transactions cannot be fraudulent if executed in “an open, transparent manner”). 

174 See, e.g., Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070, at P 95 (2019) (“[T]he Commission 
finds that Respondents acted with fraudulent intent by engaging in physical transactions 
to prevent losses on their CRR position, not to profit based on supply and demand 
fundamentals, and that, by trading for this purpose, Respondents injected false and 
deceptive information into the marketplace.”); ETRACOM LLC, 155 FERC ¶ 61,284, at P 
174 (2016) (“By creating import congestion and driving down the day-ahead LMP at 
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stated, “[t]he difference between legitimate open-market transactions and illegal open-
market transactions may be nothing more than a trader’s manipulative purpose for 
executing such transactions.”175  

 As discussed below, we find that Respondents violated section 222(a) of the FPA 
and section 1c.2 of the Commission’s regulations in four related but distinct ways, by:  
(1) engaging in a manipulative scheme in PJM’s FTR market consisting of acquiring an 
FTR portfolio made up of primarily long-term FTRs with virtually no supporting, upfront 
capital, planning not to pay for losses at settlement, and obtaining cash for the individual 
Respondents by selling profitable FTRs to third parties at a discount; (2) purchasing 
FTRs based not on market considerations but to amass as many FTRs as possible with 
minimal collateral, thereby engaging in a course of conduct for the purpose of impairing, 
obstructing, or defeating a well-functioning market; (3) making false statements to PJM 
regarding money purportedly owed by Shell with the intent to convince PJM not to 
proceed with a planned margin call; and (4) submitting inflated bids into the PJM long-
term FTR auction with the intent to artificially raise the clearing price of FTRs that Shell 
had purchased from GreenHat and offered for sale in the auction.  Among the evidence 
we have considered in reaching this conclusion, as will be set forth in greater detail 
below, is:  (1) contemporaneous documents showing GreenHat’s continued reliance on 
the PJM Credit Calculator, as opposed to traditional market fundamentals, to purchase 
FTRs  despite multiple indications that such strategy was resulting in an increasingly 
negative portfolio for the firm, including a potential margin call by PJM, and 
Respondents’ failure to provide any reasonable economic rationale for such behavior;176 
(2) emails demonstrating that GreenHat sought to sell its profitable FTRs to third parties 
using other valuation methodologies (i.e., not the PJM Credit Calculator), while 
continuing to grow its negative portfolio using the PJM Credit Calculator;177 (3) 
documents showing Respondents’ systematic withdrawal of nearly all the funds resulting 
from GreenHat’s bilateral sales of its in-the-money FTRs from GreenHat’s bank account 
for distribution to their personal bank accounts;178 (4) the absence of the production of 
any contemporaneous documents or emails corroborating GreenHat's assertion that Shell 

 
New Melones, ETRACOM injected false information into the marketplace that is critical 
to rational economic decision-making.”). 

175 Barclays Bank PLC, 144 FERC ¶ 61,041, at P 52 (2013) (Barclays) (citations 
omitted).    

176 See infra Sections IV.C.1.a.i-ii. 

177 See infra Section IV.C.1.a.i.   

178 See infra Section IV.C.1.a.i. 
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owed it an additional $62 million and contemporaneous emails showing that GreenHat 
did not believe Shell owed it an additional $62 million;179 (5) trade data demonstrating 
that GreenHat submitted inflated bids into several of PJM’s long-term FTR auctions with 
the intention to increase the clearing price of the FTRs that Shell purchased from 
GreenHat and offered into PJM’s long-term auctions and Respondents’ failure to provide 
any reasonable economic rationale for that behavior;180 and (6) contemporaneous 
documents, emails, and trade data that demonstrate Respondents’ strategy of minimizing 
collateral requirements for GreenHat’s portfolio while also withdrawing nearly all of the 
funds from GreenHat’s bank account thereby ensuring that GreenHat would not be able 
to pay PJM for its inevitable and mounting losses at settlement.181  While our conclusion 
that Respondents’ behavior was fraudulent and manipulative is informed by the totality of 
the evidence and arguments presented in the record, we respond below to certain of the 
defenses raised by the Respondents in order to highlight particular facts which inform our 
determination here. 

i. First Violation of FPA Section 222(a) and the Anti-
Manipulation Rule:  GreenHat’s Fraudulent Four-
Stage Scheme  

(a) OE Staff Report 

 OE Staff alleges that Respondents intentionally and deliberately engaged in a 
manipulative scheme in PJM’s FTR market and that Respondents’ actions constituted a 
course of business that operated as a fraud, or a fraudulent device, scheme, or artifice, 
thereby violating FPA section 222 and the Anti-Manipulation Rule.182  Specifically, OE 
Staff alleges that GreenHat’s conduct in PJM’s FTR market is a textbook example of a 
type of fraud in which perpetrators acquire assets with no intent to pay for them, and then 
use the assets to generate cash (or other benefits) for themselves.183  As discussed, in 

 
179 See infra Section IV.C.1.a.iii; n. 463.   

180 See infra Sections IV.C.1.a.i, iv. 

181 See infra Sections IV.C.1.a.i., iv. 

182 OE Staff Report at 71-72, 76. 

183 Id. at 72-74 (citing, e.g., United States v. Crockett, 534 F.2d 589, 592 (5th Cir. 
1976) (“As the business becomes more established, its promoters order considerable 
amounts of additional merchandise although they have no intention of paying for these 
goods.  A huge inventory, most of it not paid for, is built up.  The principals then busy 
themselves disposing of their purchases at substantial discounts or secreting the unsold 
portion for later below-cost covert sales.  In other words, they ‘bust out’ the business.”) 
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more detail below, OE Staff alleges that the key stages of GreenHat’s overall scheme 
were as follows:  (1) amass a huge FTR portfolio based not on market fundamentals but 
on acquiring FTRs with virtually no upfront cash; (2) buy primarily long-term FTRs, 
which gave GreenHat ample time to try to sell the FTRs to third parties; (3) plan (as the 
totality of the evidence shows) not to pay for losses at settlement; and (4) obtain cash for 
the individual Respondents by selling profitable FTRs to third parties at a discount.184  
OE Staff asserts that, when considering those elements of GreenHat’s scheme together, it 
is clear that GreenHat is liable for executing a fraudulent scheme. 

 OE Staff alleges that the first stage of GreenHat’s scheme involved its purchasing 
of FTRs based, not on market fundamentals but amassing as many FTRs as possible with 
minimal collateral.185  OE Staff alleges that the Respondents built a huge FTR portfolio 
without conducting any market analysis or otherwise evaluating the FTRs’ attractiveness 
as investments.  OE Staff asserts that, instead, GreenHat simply bought FTRs that it 
could acquire with zero (or minimal) upfront cash.   

 In support of its allegation, OE Staff points to several pieces of evidence.  First, 
OE Staff points to a June 2018 email to FERC Enforcement’s Hotline from Kevin Kelley, 
the Chief Executive Officer of an FTR trading firm called Roscommon Analytics.186  OE 
Staff alleges that, in that email, Kevin Kelley described a meeting that he had with Kittell 
on or about November 5, 2016 in Houston to discuss a potential business relationship.  
OE Staff states that the email shows that in 2016, Kittell told Kevin Kelley that GreenHat 

 
(emphasis added)); United States v. Germosen, 139 F.3d 120, 123 (2d Cir. 1998) (“A 
‘bust-out’ is a fraudulent scheme in which a travel agency sells airline tickets to 
customers but then fails to remit the proceeds to [the issuing firm]. . . . To reap 
substantial profits, the ‘busting-out’ agency must order a large quantity of ticket stock 
and sell as many tickets as possible—usually at a cut-rate price—in a very short period of 
time.”); In re Hashemi, 104 F.3d 1122, 1126 (9th Cir. 1996), as amended (Jan. 24, 1997) 
(“Each time a ‘card holder uses his credit card, he makes a representation that he intends 
to repay the debt. . . . When the card holder uses the card without an intent to repay, he 
has made a fraudulent representation to the card issuer.’” [citation omitted] . . . Because 
the bankruptcy court found that appellant had no intention of repaying his debt, each time 
he used his cards he made a fraudulent representation to American Express.”)). 

184 Id. at 74. 

185 Id. at 75. 

186 Id. at 19, 39 (citing Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement 
Hotline (June 25, 2018))). 
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was buying FTRs “based upon hold collateral requirements only.”187  OE Staff states that, 
when pressed by Kelley, Kittell confirmed that GreenHat “[wasn’t] looking at 
fundamentals,” but was instead “strictly buying based upon credit requirements.”188   

 Second, OE Staff also points to an email written by Matt Arnold, a potential 
business partner, on September 5, 2017 describing what he had learned about GreenHat 
from an in-person meeting with Ziegenhorn and Bartholomew that same day.189  OE Staff 
states that, in September 2017, Ziegenhorn, through a former JP Morgan colleague, 
approached Arnold about a possible acquisition of GreenHat.  OE Staff states that, 
because Arnold was not an expert on FTRs, he sought advice from an energy trader 
friend named Paolo Dadone, sending him emails describing what he had learned from 
GreenHat.  OE Staff explains that Arnold’s email describes GreenHat’s FTR strategy as 
“exploit[ing] an arb in the way PJM calculates credit reserve requirements” to amass “a 
giant leveraged long position.”190  OE Staff also states that the email discusses acquisition 
of FTRs based on credit requirements and says nothing about evaluating FTRs based on 
expected profitability.  OE Staff argues that the fact that two different third parties, after 
meeting with Respondents, reported the same understanding—that GreenHat chose FTRs 
based on minimizing collateral—makes it reasonable to infer that the third parties were 
describing what GreenHat told them.191 

 
187 Id. at 19 (citing Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement 

Hotline (June 25, 2018))).  

188 Id.  

189 Id. at 19-20 (citing MA-0000000062 (Email from M. Arnold to P. Dadone 
(Sept. 5, 2017))) (“Met with the guys selling the portfolio today.  Should have access to 
the full data set soon but it's pretty big, I think around 40k positions and maybe 8k paths 
over three years.”); id. at 20 n.54. 

190 Id.  OE Staff notes that the term “arb” here is short for arbitrage.  OE Staff 
states that, while arbitrage is strictly defined as the purchase and sale of an asset at 
beneficial prices across different markets, it is often colloquially used by traders to refer 
to a market scenario susceptible to profitable exploitation.  Id. at 20 n.53. 

191 Id. at 21 (citing United States v. Tager, 788 F.2d 349, 353 (6th Cir. 1986) (“[A] 
defendant’s intent to defraud can be inferred from the totality of the circumstances and 
the actions of the parties.”); Willis v. Big Lots, Inc., 2016 WL 8199124, at **30-31 (S.D. 
Ohio Jan. 21, 2016) (applying “totality of the circumstances” test to determine whether 
plaintiffs “adequately alleged scienter” in securities fraud suit)). 
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 Third, OE Staff asserts that, in its response to OE Staff’s Preliminary Findings 

Letter, GreenHat concedes that it chose what FTRs to purchase by extracting data from 
the PJM Credit Calculator about collateral requirements and then using a Microsoft Excel 
tool, called Solver, to analyze those data to find the set of FTRs that would result in the 
lowest possible collateral requirement.192  OE Staff argues that, while Respondents now 
claim that they viewed minimizing collateral as a method of finding profitable FTRs, 
there is no contemporaneous evidence that this is true.       

 Fourth, OE Staff argues that GreenHat’s conduct shows that, while it used the 
PJM Credit Calculator to select FTRs that would minimize its collateral obligations, it did 
not use the PJM Credit Calculator to value FTRs.193  OE Staff states that, when it tried to 
sell FTRs to third parties, for example, GreenHat never portrayed them as attractive 
based on the PJM Credit Calculator values, which were based on out-of-date congestion 
prices across the previous three years.  Rather, OE Staff states, GreenHat sought to sell 
FTRs to third parties based on their profitability as shown by the most recent prices set in 
PJM auctions.194  

 
192 Id. (citing, e.g., GreenHat Response, Attachment 1, at 10). 

193 Id. 

194 Id. at 21-22 (citing, e.g., GH_0014369 (Email from A. Kittell to D. Seff      
(Feb. 12, 2018)) (“GreenHat is looking to sell an ‘in-the-money’ portfolio of PJM FTRs 
for the purposes of raising working capital”); GH_0012895 (Email from A. Kittell to A. 
D’Agostino (Feb. 1, 2018)) (“I have attached an updated letter agreement and attachment.  
Also for your convenience, I attached a version of the attachment with the Purchase Price 
calculated using the last auction prices.”); GH_0004620 (Email from A. Kittell to M. 
Curry (Jan. 30, 2017)) (“I have attached a FTR portfolio for your review.  The portfolio 
consists of approximately 4,500 MWs of PY 18/19 and 3,400 MWs of PY 19/20 FTRs 
with a combined forward value of $48.3 million using the most recent auction prices.”); 
GH_0004125 (Email from A. Kittell to A. D’Agostino (Nov. 7, 2016)) (“This sheet 
provides a direct link between the last auction prices and the portfolio I sent you 
earlier.”); GH_0004020 (Email from A. Kittell to A. D’Agostino (Oct. 7, 2016)) (“The 
attached spread sheet now includes a summary of the portfolio including the resulting 
matched book assuming the portfolio is sold at the last auction clearing prices.”); 
GH_0003939 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Egan (Sept. 23, 2016)) (“This is an actual 
portfolio that Green Hat could transfer prior to the next long-term auction if the parties 
come to an agreement.  We selected it because it has an approximate future value vs the 
latest auction results of approximately $25 million.”); GH_0005114 (Email from A. 
Kittell to A. Lee (June 14, 2016)) (“the most recent MCPs” [market clearing prices] for  
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 OE Staff alleges that, similarly, GreenHat’s consummated deals (with Shell and 

BETM) did not use the PJM Credit Calculator values for any purpose; instead, OE Staff 
argues, the key component for determining the Initial and Final Purchase Price in the 
Shell deals was the price at which the FTRs cleared in the PJM auction.195  OE Staff 
states that GreenHat’s attempted 2018 deal with Koch makes the point even more clearly:  
as GreenHat admits, when it offered to accept a package of FTRs from Koch, its offer (to 
be paid $90,000) was premised on valuing the FTRs at negative $90,000; the PJM Credit 
Calculator value for those same FTRs, by GreenHat’s own admission, was radically 
different:  positive $594.196  

 OE Staff contends that other elements of GreenHat’s conduct also showed that 
GreenHat did not consider the PJM Credit Calculator to be a tool for selecting profitable 
FTRs.  OE Staff argues that GreenHat’s own documents show that in September 2017, 
both Kittell and Bartholomew calculated the then-current mark-to-auction value of 
GreenHat’s FTR portfolio—which it had built by using the PJM Credit Calculator to 
minimize its collateral requirements.197  OE Staff alleges that Kittell’s September 2017 
mark-to-auction calculations show a loss of nearly $27 million on its 18/19 FTRs and of 
more than $9 million on its 19/20 FTRs.  OE Staff states that Kittell and Bartholomew 
each separately calculated that GreenHat’s FTR portfolio then had a market value of 
approximately negative $36 million.  OE Staff argues that Respondents thus knew that 
purchasing FTRs by minimizing collateral was resulting in tens of millions of dollars in 
losses.  OE Staff contends that, despite that first-hand knowledge, GreenHat continued to 
use the collateral-minimizing PJM Credit Calculator method in choosing what FTRs to 
purchase.  For example, in December 2017, GreenHat bought more than 148 million 
MWh of 18/19, 19/20, and 20/21 FTRs.198   

 
the FTRs in the attached list “are more than $1,000 greater than the original auction 
prices”)). 

195 Id. at 23 (citing, e.g., First Shell Agreement, ¶¶ 2(b), 2(d) (setting Initial and 
Final Purchase Price based on market clearing prices)). 

196 Id. (citing GreenHat Response at 11). 

197 Id. at 23-24 (citing GH_0020751 (Kittell spreadsheet); Kittell Testimony Vl. II, 
Exhibit 372 (summary of Kittell spreadsheet) (Kittell Test. Vl. II); GH_0020740.xlsx 
(Bartholomew spreadsheet); Bartholomew Testimony, Exhibit 377 (summary of 
Bartholomew spreadsheet) (Bartholomew Test.)).   

198 Id. at 24 (citing PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM 
Auctions). 
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 Fifth, OE Staff contends that GreenHat’s goal of minimizing its collateral is 

confirmed by comparing the size of its portfolio to the amount of collateral that it had on 
deposit with PJM.199  OE Staff states that, as its portfolio grew by a factor of 71 from 
June 2015 to May 2018, from 12.5 million MWh to 889 million MWh, GreenHat’s cash 
deposits shrank by a factor of nine, from $5 million to $559,447.200  That is, OE Staff 
explains, by buying FTRs based on minimizing collateral, GreenHat went from posting 
40 cents of collateral per MWh in June 2015 to posting less than 1/16th of a penny of 
collateral per MWh in June 2018.201  OE Staff states that, in June 2018, the top 10 FTR 
holders (other than GreenHat) had posted an average of 23 cents/MWh in collateral, or 
approximately 368 times the amount per MWh posted by GreenHat.202 

 Sixth, OE Staff alleges that, in deciding what FTRs to bid on, and what price to 
bid, GreenHat did not use any information relevant to assessing future congestion 
changes.203  OE Staff states that the spreadsheets that GreenHat used in deciding what 
FTRs to bid on did not consider any data about market fundamentals, such as expected 
future changes in generation, transmission, or load, or their impact on congestion 
prices.204  Instead, GreenHat looked only at past PJM data.205  OE Staff argues that 
GreenHat’s strategy for deciding how to price its bids was similarly untethered to the 
expected value of particular FTRs as investments:  it simply applied mechanical formulas 
(such as “bid 10% above the most recent auction clearing price”) across the board. 

 Lastly, OE Staff contends that, in presentations to potential investors, GreenHat 
disparaged research about market fundamentals (“knowing about future disruptive events 

 
199 Id. 

200 Id. at 24-25. 

201 Id. at 27. 

202 Id. (citing PJM_088452 (Excel spreadsheet showing FTR holdings and 
collateral of largest 15 portfolios in PJM over time); GreenHat Energy LLC Collateral 
History.xlsx.)). 

203 Id. at 27. 

204 Id. (citing, e.g., GH_0020307). 

205  According to OE Staff, to select which FTRs to bid on and at which prices, 
GreenHat pulled and utilized historical data from PJM, including which FTR paths any 
market participant had a cleared transaction on in the most recent three long-term 
auctions and the paths’ previous clearing prices.  See id. Attachment C. 
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ahead of the market”) as inside information” of “low value” that GreenHat did not use or 
need in its investing strategy.206 

 OE Staff alleges that the second stage of GreenHat’s scheme involved buying 
primarily long-term FTRs, which gave GreenHat ample time to try to sell the FTRs to 
third parties.207  OE Staff states that, in its purchases in late 2014, GreenHat bought FTRs 
that would begin to settle as little as six months later.208  OE Staff states that GreenHat 
lost money on these FTRs when they settled starting in June 2015, and over time had to 
pay more than $2 million into PJM to cover the losses.  OE Staff alleges that, starting in 
June 2015, therefore, GreenHat took a different approach:  buying only FTRs that would 
settle far in the future.209   

 OE Staff contends that Kittell explained this to Kevin Kelley, CEO of Roscommon 
Analytics, in their November 2016 meeting:  GreenHat “focus[ed] on the long term FTR 
markets, at that point only the furthest year out.”210  OE Staff also contends that PJM’s 
records of GreenHat’s FTR purchases confirm that this was GreenHat’s consistent practice 
starting in June 2015.211 

 OE Staff argues that buying only long-term FTRs had two advantages for 
GreenHat’s scheme.212  First, OE Staff argues that it ensured that GreenHat could avoid 

 
206 Id. at 27-28 (citing GH_0004094 (Passive Investing PJM FTR Market 

(Powerpoint presentation directed at potential investors) (Oct. 21, 2016)) (stating that 
“disruptive events” can arise from “changes in weather, fuel prices, transmission 
resource[s] and generation resources.”)).  OE Staff also asserts that the finder of fact may 
draw adverse inferences from Kittell’s refusal to answer questions about whether 
GreenHat’s strategy was to buy FTRs that it could effectively acquire for free.  OE Staff 
Report at 28 n.70 (citing Kittell Test. Tr. at 407).   

207 Id. at 28-30. 

208 Id. at 28. 

209 OE Staff notes that GreenHat varied from this strategy only in the final months 
before default, when it engaged in a massive purchase of Annual FTRs to reduce its 
collateral obligations and avoid being declared in default.  Id. at 28 n.71.   

210 Id. at 28 (citing Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement 
Hotline (June 25, 2018)) (emphasis in original)).   

211 Id. (citing PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions). 

212 Id. at 28. 
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the costly obligation to pay for losing FTRs that were settling quickly—a lesson it 
learned from its initial FTR purchases.  Second, OE Staff argues that it gave GreenHat 
ample time to sell in-the-money FTRs to third parties for cash before settlement.213 

 Regarding the third stage of GreenHat’s scheme, OE Staff argues that the record 
as a whole shows that GreenHat did not intend to pay what it owed—or, for that matter, 
pay any material amount—if its portfolio of long-term FTRs settled at a loss starting in 
June 2018.214  OE Staff contends that, from the start of the scheme in June 2015, 
GreenHat ensured that it had minimal funds on deposit with PJM.215  As discussed above, 
OE Staff alleges that GreenHat’s sole criterion for purchasing FTRs was minimizing its 
collateral, which, by the time of its default, GreenHat had only $59,447 on deposit with 
PJM beyond the minimum $500,000 required to be a PJM member. 

 OE Staff also alleges that Respondents made sure that the company would have no 
other funds available with which to satisfy even a portion of its eventual default.216  OE 
Staff states that, most notably, when PJM contacted GreenHat on March 17, 2017 about a 
potential collateral call—which would likely lead to default—the very next day 
Respondents met on a Saturday to authorize movement of all of the funds in GreenHat’s 
account ($5.8 million) into the account of its parent company, Off Fannin.217  According 
to OE Staff, by April 4, 2017, the individual Respondents had moved almost all of those 
funds from Off Fannin into their personal accounts.218   

 
213 Id. at 28-29. 

214 Id. at 31. 

215 OE Staff notes that it does not allege that GreenHat posted less collateral than  
was required by the PJM Tariff and that the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule is not 
limited to tariff violations.  Id. at 31 n.74 (citing e.g., Richard Silkman, 144 FERC ¶ 61,164 
at P 50 n.120 (“[A]s Order No. 670 emphasizes, fraud is a question of fact to be determined 
by all the circumstances of a case, not by a mechanical rule limiting manipulation to tariff 
violations”) (citation omitted)). 

216 Id. at 31. 

217 Id. (citing GH_0016019 (“Off Fannin Holdings, LLC (‘Off Fannin’) hereby 
authorizes its subsidiary GreenHat Energy LLC (‘GreenHat’) to make a distribution of 
$5,820,357.48 to Off Fannin. . . . Ownership of the funds shall transfer immediately.”)).  

218 Id. (citing GH_0034042, Off Fannin account Tab). 
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 OE Staff alleges that GreenHat likewise acted quickly to transfer the proceeds of 

the third Shell deal into its owners’ accounts.219  OE Staff states that, on June 16, 2017, 
Shell paid GreenHat the Final Purchase Price of $4,368,171 on that deal.220  OE Staff 
states that on that same day, GreenHat moved virtually all of that money to Off Fannin.221  
OE Staff states that, between July 10 and July 17, 2017, Off Fannin transferred 
approximately $4.9 million to the individual Respondents.222 

 OE Staff alleges that when money came into GreenHat for its next (and final) 
bilateral deal—$2 million from BETM on March 23, 2018—GreenHat did the same 
thing.223  OE Staff states that Kittell transferred the $2 million proceeds from BETM out 
of GreenHat’s bank account only six days after the money came in.  Less than two weeks 
later, and only six weeks before GreenHat’s imminent (and expected) default,224 
GreenHat distributed nearly all of the BETM proceeds to the individual Respondents on 
April 23, 2018.225   

 OE Staff argues that, while falsely assuring third parties that its goal in selling 
FTRs in bilateral trades was to give GreenHat “proceeds to support our business 
today,”226 and falsely telling BETM that its business purpose was “to raise cash for the 
upcoming Annual auction in April,”227 the individual Respondents in fact emptied 

 
219 Id. 

220 Id. (citing GH_0034042, PJM Settlement Accounts tab).   

221 Id. at 31-32 (citing GH_0034042, Off Fannin Operations Account Tab). 

222 Id. at 32 (citing GH_0034042, Off Fannin Operations Account Tab). 

223 Id. at 32. 

224 OE Staff notes that Kittell had personally calculated in September 2017 that 
GreenHat’s portfolio was more than $36 million underwater.  Id. at 32 n.81.     

225 OE Staff notes that, on April 11, 2018, GreenHat transferred $1.85 million to 
Off Fannin and on April 23, 2018, Off Fannin transferred $499,500 apiece to 
Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn and $851,000 to Kittell.  Id. at 32 n.82 (citing 
GH_0034042, Off Fannin Operations Account Tab).   

226 Id. at 32 (citing GH_0002632 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Egan (Sept. 14, 
2016))).   

227 Id. (citing BETM_00000228.0001 (internal BETM Powerpoint describing what 
GreenHat claimed were its “deal motivations”)).   
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GreenHat’s accounts and “put the cash into their own pockets.”228  By doing so, OE Staff 
argues, they left the firm unable to cover any of its historic default beyond the $559,447 
left in its PJM account in June 2018.       

 OE Staff argues that Respondents’ intent is confirmed by what a potential 
investor, Matt Arnold, reported about his September 2017 meeting with Ziegenhorn and 
Bartholomew.229  OE Staff asserts that in his email describing what he learned at the 
meeting, Arnold wrote in relevant part:  “So basically it is a giant leveraged long 
position.  . . . There are no option positions per se, only an asymmetric payout profile.  If 
the portfolio ever goes OTM to an extent that exceeds the credit reserve, they just shut 
down the LLC and walk away.”230  OE Staff asserts that here Arnold is explaining his 
understanding that if GreenHat’s portfolio was “out of the money” (OTM) in an amount 
greater than GreenHat’s collateral deposit (“credit reserve”), GreenHat’s owners would 
“just shut down the LLC and walk away.”  In other words, OE Staff asserts, Arnold 
understood from his conversation with Ziegenhorn and Bartholomew that if GreenHat 
owed money in an amount greater than its collateral, its owners planned to have it 
default.   

 OE Staff alleges that, consistent with Arnold’s understanding, that is exactly what 
GreenHat did.231  OE Staff asserts that, when GreenHat’s 18/19 FTRs began settling in 
June 2018, and as PJM began sending GreenHat weekly bills for the losses on its 
portfolio, neither Kittell, Bartholomew, nor Ziegenhorn returned to GreenHat any of the 
millions of dollars they had taken out of it.  Rather, OE Staff alleges, having moved the 
$13.1 million in proceeds from GreenHat’s bilateral deals into their own accounts, all 
three “walked away” from GreenHat as planned and left it to default—leaving its massive 
losses to be covered by all other PJM members.  

 OE Staff also asserts that Respondents’ conduct bears no relationship to the 
conduct that OE Staff determined to be non-manipulative in the Power Edge default.232  
Rather, OE Staff states that, in contrast to GreenHat, Power Edge made an FTR 

 
228 Id. 

229 Id. 

230 Id. at 32-33 (citing MA-0000000062 (Email from M. Arnold to P. Dadone 
(Sept. 5, 2017)) (emphasis in original)).      

231 Id. at 33. 

232 Id. at 89. 
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investment based on market fundamentals that unexpectedly went south, and then made 
many good faith efforts to try to avoid default and reduce the size of any default.233  

 OE Staff alleges that the fourth stage of the scheme was to generate immediate 
cash by selling in-the-money FTRs to third parties at a discount.234  OE Staff states that, 
even if a firm’s FTR portfolio has an overall positive valuation, FTRs do not generate any 
cash flows until settlement and waiting for settlement of an underwater portfolio offered 
its owners little to no prospect of making money.  OE Staff alleges, however, that Kittell, 
Bartholomew, and Ziegenhorn realized that there was a way to obtain cash for themselves 
from GreenHat’s portfolio.235  OE Staff asserts that, although the portfolio at all times 
had a net-negative valuation as a whole, some individual FTRs within it had positive 
value—“an inevitable consequence (and the desired result) of purchasing such a vast 
number of FTRs.”236  OE Staff argues that this fact enabled GreenHat to implement the 
money-making phase of its scheme:  selling in-the-money FTRs to third parties for 
cash.237  OE Staff asserts that the scheme worked as intended; between September 2016 
and April 2018, GreenHat collected $13,072,428 through third-party sales to Shell and 
BETM.238  The details of those deals are set forth below.239  

 
233 Id. at 90. 

234 Id. at 33. 

235 OE Staff notes that one of the firms that GreenHat contacted about potentially 
buying FTRs from GreenHat explained this point in an internal memo.  Id. at 33 n.86 
(citing RBCCM000001 (internal Royal Bank of Canada memo about potential FTR deal 
with GreenHat) (“GreenHat is looking to transfer their portfolio to a party that would sell 
them in the PJM FTR auction and then pay them an upfront, discounted cash payment.  
This party will receive the future, weekly cash flows from PJM.  This is the only way that 
GreenHat can monetize their position.”)).  

236 Id. at 33-34. 

237 Id. at 34 (citing, e.g., GH_0010915 (Email from A. Kittell to D. Seff (Feb. 12, 
2018)) (“GreenHat is looking to sell an ‘in-the-money’ portfolio of PJM FTRs for the 
purposes of raising working capital”)).  OE Staff alleges that Kittell’s statement that 
GreenHat sought to obtain “working capital” was false; the purpose of the proposed sale 
was to get cash for Kittell, Bartholomew, and Ziegenhorn.  Id.   

238 Id. (citing GH_0034042, PJM Settlements Account tab, Column R 
(Shell/BETM Revenue)). 

239 See infra PP 144-145. 
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(b) Respondents’ Answer  

 Respondents allege that GreenHat purchased and traded FTRs lawfully and with 
the reasonable, good-faith belief—based on PJM’s own forecasts—that its portfolio 
would be profitable.240  Respondents contend that support for OE Staff’s allegations is 
“scant and unavailing” and GreenHat’s acquisition and trading of FTRs did not violate 
the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule. 

 Respondents assert that, at all times, GreenHat used PJM’s valuation 
methodologies, which were primarily based on weighted average historical values, to 
value its existing portfolio and to evaluate the acquisition of new FTRs at auction.241  
Respondents assert that, prior to 2018, PJM used this methodology to set collateral 
requirements, precisely because it was a sound estimate of future congestion and, 
consequently, the future value of the FTRs.242  Respondents state that, in 2007, PJM told 
the Commission that this weighted average historical methodology received “unanimous 
stakeholder support” from PJM’s members and was developed after “significant [FTR] 
defaults.”243  Respondents claim that PJM itself characterized this methodology as “the 
best readily available projection of future value” of FTRs.244  Respondents state that 
PJM—with the blessing of its own auditors—still used this methodology to value FTRs 
in its own financial statements up through its 2020 Annual Financial Report, which PJM 
publicly posted on March 19, 2021.245   

 Respondents assert that GreenHat continued to rely on PJM’s valuation 
methodologies when PJM updated its credit requirements in early 2018 to reflect the 

 
240 Respondents’ Answer at 11.  

241 Id. 

242 Id. at 11-12. 

243 Id. at 12 (citing PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., PJM Letter, Docket No. ER08-
376-000, at 1 (filed Dec. 26, 2007)). 

244 Id. (citing PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Informational Filing, Docket No. 
ER08-1016-001, at 2 (Oct. 23, 2008) (PJM 2008 Filing)). 

245 Id. (citing PJM, Financial Reporting, https://www.pjm.com/committees-and-
groups/committees/fc/financial-reporting (PJM 2020 Annual Financial Report); 
Presentation at 40, 44).  Respondents assert that, because PJM did not frequently publish 
its credit calculators, GreenHat created its own “draft” credit calculator using PJM’s 
methodology, but updating it with more recent historical values.  Id. 
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adoption of PROMOD-adjusted forecasts.246  Respondents state, according to PJM, its 
PROMOD-adjusted forecasts “reflect the projected congestion changes from future 
transmission upgrades” and were “designed to introduce greater accuracy in the 
projection of congestion levels and, in turn, anticipated future FTR losses/profits.”247  
Respondents argue that OE Staff ignores this fact and falsely insinuates that PJM's 
forecasts were always and only based on historical values.  Respondents contend that 
GreenHat took comfort in PJM’s statements regarding the PROMOD-adjusted forecasts 
of future congestion, particularly in light of the fact that PJM uses PROMOD projections 
to evaluate the economic value of many tens of billions of dollars’ worth of transmission 
projects through its regional transmission expansion plan.248  As PJM explained in 2018, 
Respondents state that “a cleared, below-FTR Historical Value bid was reasonably 
expected to be profitable, thereby obviating the need for any collateral to cover the 
position.”249 

 Respondents contend that, because GreenHat used PJM’s valuations, GreenHat’s 
model showed expected monthly profits as negative numbers, just as PJM did.250  
Respondents assert that GreenHat’s model would cycle through thousands of scenarios 
trying to make these monthly numbers as negative as possible—because, again, GreenHat 
showed expected monthly profits as negative numbers.  Respondents argue that the 
model was not optimizing to reduce collateral requirements as falsely explained by OE 
Staff but to create a bid set that maximized stable value. 

 Respondents also argue that OE Staff falsely claims “that GreenHat’s goal was 
simply to minimize its collateral” and that this “is confirmed by comparing the size of its 
portfolio to the amount of collateral it had on deposit at PJM.”251  Respondents assert that 
the portfolio GreenHat acquired in the December 2014 Long-Term Auction covered the 
June 2015 to May 2018 time period and came with a $5.4 million credit adder, which 

 
246 Id. 

247 Id. at 12-13 (citing PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Proposed Modifications to 
FTR Credit Requirements, Docket No. ER18-425-000, at 4 (filed Dec. 11, 2017) 
(PROMOD Reform Filing); DC Energy, LLC v. PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Answer of 
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Docket No. EL18-170-000, at 4 n.6 (filed June 25, 2018)). 

248 Id. at 13 (citing PROMOD Reform Filing). 

249 Id. (citing DC Energy, LLC v. PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Answer of PJM 
Interconnection, L.L.C., Docket No. EL18-170-000, at 8 (filed June 25, 2018)). 

250 Id. at 15. 

251 Id. (citing OE Staff Report at 24). 
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GreenHat posted to PJM.  Respondents state that the collateral requirements related to 
this portfolio rolled off on a monthly basis between June 2015 and May 2018 and that 
was the driver for the decrease in GreenHat’s collateral requirements over that time 
period—not GreenHat’s subsequent auction purchases.  Respondents also assert that, 
under PJM’s rules, purchases of FTRs that would settle in the June 2018 to May 2021 
time period (no matter how profitable PJM forecast them to be) simply did not and could 
not reduce credit requirements from FTRs that settled between June 2015 and May 2018. 

 Respondents contend that GreenHat’s bid generation tool that OE Staff cites 
undercuts OE Staff’s allegations in several other respects.252  Respondents contend, for 
example, that the model constrains bid volumes per FTR to the lower of 10 MW or the 
previous auction clearing results.  According to Respondents, these volume constraints 
reflect GreenHat’s efforts to build a diverse and stable portfolio and contradict OE Staff’s 
allegation that GreenHat was trying to build the largest portfolio possible. 

 Respondents also argue that OE Staff incorrectly relies on mark-to-auction 
calculations to argue that GreenHat knew or should have known that its portfolio was 
underwater.253  Contrary to OE Staff’s allegations, Respondents allege that GreenHat did 
not value its portfolio using a mark-to-auction methodology.  Respondents claim that, 
while recent auction prices are an objective way to describe FTRs in discussions with 
potential counterparties, they were not considered to be accurate predictors of future 
value and, consequently, GreenHat did not use them that way.  Respondents argue that 
this was consistent with PJM’s own approach – that is, PJM repeatedly questioned the 
utility of mark-to-auction methodologies for FTRs.254  Respondents claim that the market 
monitor for PJM has made similar critiques.255  Additionally, Respondents allege that 
GreenHat's risk management policy, which PJM received, explained that GreenHat did 
not use a liquidity-dependent mark-to-auction methodology for risk management 
purposes.256 

 
252 Id. at 16. 

253 Id. 

254 Id. at 16-17 (citing Respondents’ Answer, Exhibit 1 at 46-47). 

255 Id. at 17 (citing, e.g., PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Comments of the 
Independent Market Monitor for PJM, Docket Nos. EL19-58-002 & ER19-1486-000, at 
10-11 (filed Sept. 2, 2020)). 

256 Id. (excerpting PJM_055591). 
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 Respondents argue that OE staff is seeking to push the bounds of market 

manipulation far beyond any common understanding of fraud and deceit.257  Respondents 
claim that, unless the acquisition of each FTR (or any other product) is based on an 
independent assessment of that FTR’s profitability (using an undisclosed but retroactively 
required valuation methodology), OE Staff would label it manipulation, which is 
inconsistent with the law.   

 Respondents also challenge OE Staff’s reliance on Matt Arnold’s email to Paolo 
Dadone as evidence of the manipulative scheme.258  They argue that the email does not 
purport to provide a direct quotation—or even a paraphrase—of what Ziegenhorn told 
Arnold; there is no indication that the relevant language reflects what Ziegenhorn said in 
his conversation with Arnold as opposed to Arnold’s own suppositions about GreenHat’s 
future prospects.  Respondents claim that, even assuming arguendo that the email 
reflected Ziegenhorn’s statements to Arnold, the email does not show that GreenHat 
expected or knew that its portfolio would be unprofitable—instead, they argue, the 
relevant line of the email discusses what would happen “[i]f the portfolio ever goes [out 
of the money] to an extent that exceeds the credit reserve. . . .”259 

 Respondents claim that, as OE Staff recognized in the context of the Power Edge 
default, the fact that a company trading FTRs in PJM is “cognizant of the possibility that 
[its] investment strategy . . . could fail” and took steps “to limit its exposure to any such 
failure” (such as establishing a limited liability company) does not mean that the 
company “intended for [such a failure to occur] or that it contrived to cause” such a 
failure.260  They argue that such circumstances also do not establish that the company has 
committed market manipulation, even if its investment strategy ultimately leads to a 
socialized default.  Moreover, Respondents argue, Mr. Arnold’s email occurred after 
PJM’s threatened illegal collateral call in which PJM threatened to seize and liquidate 
GreenHat’s profitable portfolio and awareness of what could happen in such a situation is 
especially unsurprising.   

 Respondents claim that it is undisputed that GreenHat used the same methodology 
to purchase FTRs both before and after June 2015.261  So, Respondents argue, if 

 
257 Id. at 17-18. 

258 Id. at 19. 

259 Id. (citing MA-000000062 (emphasis added)). 

260 Id. at 19-20 (citing PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. v. Accord Energy, LLC, 127 
FERC ¶ 61,007, Enforcement Staff Report at 43 (2009) (Power Edge OE Staff Report)).  

261 Id. at 20. 
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GreenHat was—by OE Staff’s own admission—not engaged in the manipulative scheme 
before June 2015, then what possible reason would GreenHat have for using PJM’s 
forecasts back then?  Respondents claim that the answer is that GreenHat was using 
PJM’s forecasts to identify profitable FTRs. 

 Respondents allege that, ultimately, GreenHat was unsuccessful in its early efforts 
to sell FTRs bilaterally.262  Respondents point out, however, that the market for FTRs is 
illiquid, and the bilateral market for FTRs is especially illiquid.  Respondents argue that 
OE Staff’s theory that, after GreenHat failed to sell any FTRs in early 2015, it 
accumulated a large portfolio of FTRs using the same methodology with the sole purpose 
of selling those FTRs bilaterally to make money would be irrational based on GreenHat’s 
initial lack of success in bilaterally selling FTRs.  Respondents allege that GreenHat’s 
trading activity is entirely consistent with acquiring a portfolio of FTRs that it expected to 
be profitable and, when opportunity arose, selling some FTRs before settlement to lock in 
profits. 

 Respondents also challenge OE Staff’s characterization of GreenHat’s motives for 
buying long-term FTRs.263  Respondents claim that GreenHat understood that its 
competitors likely had better near-term information concerning, for example, outages and 
weather, which would put GreenHat at a competitive disadvantage with respect to near-
term FTRs.264  Trading long-term FTRs, they allege, was a way to better level the playing 
field.  Respondents also allege that having experienced the large and unexpected drop in 
natural gas prices in late 2014 and uncertain whether low gas prices would persist, 
GreenHat focused on buying long-term FTRs so that a diverse portfolio could be built 
over time and which would be profitable in a wide-range of scenarios, including low-
price and high-price natural gas market outcomes. 

 Respondents argue that OE Staff’s unsupported allegation that GreenHat sold the 
“winners” and held on to the “losers” is objectively wrong.265  Respondents allege that 
GreenHat—and PJM members—are better off because GreenHat sold those FTRs 
bilaterally, as those sales reduced the size of the default.  Respondents also argue that OE 
Staff has obscured this issue by aggregating the economic impact of GreenHat’s bilateral 
sales with GreenHat’s subsequent auction purchases.  And even if OE Staff’s analysis 
were right, which Respondents argue it is not, they argue all that would show is that 
GreenHat’s subsequent purchases turned out to be unfavorable, which in hindsight is not 

 
262 Id. at 21. 

263 Id. 

264 Id. (citing GH_0004094). 

265 Id. at 22. 
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surprising because GreenHat was relying on PJM’s forecasts and PJM’s forecasts turned 
out to be terribly wrong.266   

 Respondents also argue that OE Staff falsely asserts that GreenHat 
uneconomically sold FTRs bilaterally at a discount to auction clearing prices.267  
Respondents assert that GreenHat received a total of approximately $13 million ($11 
million in option fees from Shell and $2 million from BETM) and marking the FTRs 
GreenHat bilaterally sold to contemporaneous auction clearing prices yields a value in the 
aggregate of about $8.5 million.  Respondents argue that $13 million is not a discount to 
$8.5 million. 

 Respondents argue that OE Staff is also mistaken in claiming that GreenHat 
“sought to be paid to accept loser [or “underwater”] FTRs” from Koch Energy 
Services.268  Respondents allege that, when asked to bid on the small portfolio of FTRs, 
GreenHat valued the portfolio at $594 using the projection methodology in PJM’s credit 
calculator at the time and bid to be paid $90,000 to accept the portfolio, meaning that 
GreenHat stood to make $90,594 if the deal was consummated.  They assert that the deal 
was not consummated because another market participant outbid GreenHat, offering to be 
paid only $75,000 to take on the Koch portfolio.  Respondents argue that a competitor 
outbid GreenHat is strong evidence that GreenHat’s bid was economic and legitimate.  
Respondents also contend there is nothing untoward about wanting to generate cash flow 
when the vast bulk of GreenHat’s FTRs would not settle for years. 

 Respondents also contend that there is nothing unsurprising or wrong about 
GreenHat distributing revenue to its parent company, and ultimately its owners.269  
Respondents assert that, in light of PJM’s March 2017 claim that it had the unilateral 
right to deviate from its Commission-approved credit requirements and its accompanying 
illegal suspension of GreenHat’s trading privileges and threats to illegally seize and 
liquidate GreenHat’s FTR portfolio, any reasonable person would take reasonable 
precautions going forward.  They allege that, if what OE Staff alleged were true and 
GreenHat planned to go into default and knew that the jig could be up at any time, it 
would not have waited until immediately after the threatened illegal collateral call to 
make disbursements. 

 
266 Id.  Respondents also note that OE Staff’s analysis does not take into account 

Shell’s guarantee obligations.  Id. n.17. 

267 Id. at 23. 

268 Id. (citing OE Staff Report at 63). 
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 Respondents also contend that OE Staff’s claim that GreenHat planned to avoid 

paying losses on what it knew was an unprofitable FTR portfolio is also belied by their 
actions.270  Respondents assert that, first, GreenHat sold what OE Staff would call 
“winners” in long-term FTR auctions in late 2017, locking in millions in positive margin 
to be collected by GreenHat from PJM as the FTRs settled in the future.  Respondents 
argue that this would make no sense if GreenHat’s purpose was to sell off its profitable 
FTRs bilaterally and walk away when the FTRs began to settle.  Next, they argue that, if 
GreenHat had acquired its FTRs in bad faith with the intent to walk away from its 
allegedly inevitable losses, you would expect GreenHat to have closed up shop in March 
2017 when PJM demanded millions in additional collateral, which it did not.  Similarly, 
they argue, OE Staff’s contention that GreenHat “never intended to pay for losses on its 
portfolio,” is belied by the fact that GreenHat paid PJM over $2 million in losses on its 
portfolio.  Respondents assert that GreenHat could have simply “walked away” in 
January 2015 after failing to make any bilateral sales and prior to posting millions of 
dollars of additional collateral in April 2015. 

 Respondents contend that OE Staff’s alleged manipulative scheme is irrational.271  
They argue that “[n]o one could plan to default on ‘the largest FTR portfolio in PJM,” 
without knowing that there would be an investigation.272  And they argue that “[n]o one 
would intentionally subject themselves to an enforcement proceeding.”273  Respondents 
allege that because there was no way for respondents to have profited from the alleged 
scheme, that non-existent scheme makes no sense.  

 The Kittell Estate replied separately and argued that it cannot be fraud to buy and 
sell FTRs following PJM’s own forecasts of which FTRs would be profitable in the 
future.274  The Kittell Estate further asserts that GreenHat used back-testing—checking 
PJM’s past forecasts of congestion outcomes over many years against the congestion 
outcomes that actually occurred—to confirm that GreenHat’s strategy would have been 
profitable historically.  The Kittell Estate contends that the fact that GreenHat’s strategy 
was mistaken does not make it fraudulent.  The Kittell Estate also argues that OE Staff’s 
position—that no rational trader would buy and sell FTRs based on PJM’s projections 
because they did not incorporate any computer modelling at any point leading up to 
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272 Id. (citing OE Staff Report at 75). 
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default—is unsupported.  GreenHat states that PJM also uses PROMOD to make multi-
billion-dollar decisions about transmission upgrades, which is “above and beyond” using 
it as part of its forecasts of future FTR values.275 

 The Kittell Estate also contends that GreenHat’s bilateral transactions actually 
reduced the size of GreenHat’s eventual default.276  According to the Kittell Estate, 
GreenHat’s bilateral transactions did not sell off the profitable FTRs and leave the 
unprofitable ones for default.  Rather, according to the Kittell Estate, these deals sold 
more unprofitable FTRs than it sold profitable FTRs.  The Kittell Estate further denies 
that GreenHat sold FTRs in its bilateral deals at a discount.277   

(c) OE Staff Reply  

 OE Staff states that nothing in the Respondents’ Answers casts any doubt on the 
OE Staff Report’s findings that GreenHat and the individual Respondents violated the 
FPA and the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule.278  OE Staff rebuts the contention 
that Respondents chose FTRs based on PJM “forecasts” of future profitability, and re-
states that the communications with Arnold prove that GreenHat chose FTRs based on 
collateral minimization, not because its owners believed they were sound investments on 
the merits.279     

 First, OE Staff disputes GreenHat’s contention that, because PJM states in its 2020 
Annual Financial Report that it continues to value FTRs based on historic prices, 
GreenHat’s use of the Credit Calculator (based on historic FTR prices) to select FTRs 
was reasonable.280  OE Staff states that the 2020 Annual Financial Report makes clear 
that, when valuation of FTRs has real-world consequences, PJM does not now rely on 
historic values.281  OE Staff states that PJM “implemented significant FTR credit policy 
enhancements during 2018 and 2019, including FERC-approved adoption of mark-to-
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auction provisions in April 2019.”282  OE Staff states that the credit policy enhancements 
adopted by PJM in 2018, with the Commission’s approval, also include a requirement 
that FTR holders deposit at least $0.10/MWh in collateral, whatever the historic values of 
their FTRs may be.283  OE Staff explains that PJM uses historic values in connection with 
FTRs only when the values pose no credit risk or exposure to PJM.284 

 Next, OE Staff contends that GreenHat’s comments related to mark-to-auction and 
PROMOD are irrelevant.  OE Staff argues that GreenHat was using the PJM Credit 
Calculator to minimize its collateral obligations, not because it was relying on PJM to 
provide it with a sound investment tool.285  OE Staff states that Respondents knew that 
mark-to-auction valuation was the relevant metric, not PJM Credit Calculator values, as 
reflected in 100% of GreenHat’s efforts to sell the winners in the portfolio.   

 OE Staff contends that GreenHat’s own spreadsheet refutes Respondents’ post hoc 
story that they were maximizing expected profitability.286  OE Staff asserts that 
GreenHat’s FTR-selection spreadsheet says nothing about profitability.287  Rather, OE 
Staff argues, consistent with what the individual Respondents told third parties, the 
spreadsheet shows that what Respondents cared about was the “CREDIT ESTIMATE”—
that is, the effects that FTR purchases would have on GreenHat’s collateral 
requirements.288    

 OE Staff also argues that Respondents’ reliance on the 2007 and 2008 PJM filings 
is without merit.289  OE Staff states that there is no evidence in the record that Kittell, 
Bartholomew, or Ziegenhorn ever saw either document.  OE Staff also asserts that neither 

 
282 Id. (citing PJM 2020 Annual Financial Report).  

283 Id. at 36-37 (citing PJM Interconnection, LLC, 164 FERC ¶ 61,215).   
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286 Id. at 44-46 (citing GH_0020256) (spreadsheet). 
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L.L.C., PJM Letter, Docket No. ER08-376-000, at 1 (filed Dec. 26, 2007); PJM 2008 Filing  
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document suggested that relying solely on PJM’s Credit Calculator was a sound FTR 
investment strategy and, as documented, Respondents knew that it was not. 

 OE Staff argues that as GreenHat’s portfolio grew, the amount of collateral that it 
had on deposit shrank.290  OE Staff argues that, while Respondents say that GreenHat’s 
2014 FTR purchases were the “driver” for its reduction in collateral, it does not deny that 
it made at least some FTR purchases between June 2015 and May 2018 that reduced its 
collateral obligation while increasing its portfolio size.291  OE Staff alleges that GreenHat 
knew exactly how to reduce collateral obligations while increasing portfolio size, because 
it repeatedly offered to help third parties do it.  OE Staff states that, in August 2017, for 
example, Kittell wrote to Andrew Lee (then with Roscommon) to urge him to buy from 
GreenHat “a modest ‘flow’ portfolio that will allow you to release most of the required 
margin [i.e., collateral] and free up that capital for the next auction.”292  Similarly, OE 
Staff alleges that, in 2018, Kittell told BETM that, if it bought a particular set of FTRs 
from GreenHat, the purchase could potentially reduce BETM’s existing collateral 
requirements: “If you had a book that required say $10 million of collateral and you 
added this book to it, then the new collateral requirements for the combined book could 
go down to as low as $3.82 million.”293  OE Staff states that it is hard to believe that 
GreenHat offered to provide this collateral-lowering expertise to third parties while not 
applying it to its own FTR purchases, particularly given what the contemporaneous 
evidence shows about its purchases. 

 OE Staff also argues that, even if what GreenHat now says were true, it would not 
matter.294  OE Staff contends that GreenHat does not dispute that it expanded its FTR 
portfolio by a factor of 71 between June 2015 and May 2018 and even if GreenHat’s 
collateral had stayed flat, rather than dwindled, over that period, only a determined effort 
to minimize collateral would make that possible while expanding one’s portfolio by a 
factor of 71.  OE Staff contends that, if GreenHat had deposited the same amount of 
collateral per MWh in May 2018 as the other top 10 FTR holders, it would then have 
deposited more than $200 million with PJM as of May 2018 (889 million MWh times 

 
290 OE Staff Reply at 46-47. 

291 Id. at 47. 

292 Id. at 47-48 (citing GH_0010771 (Email from A. Kittell to A. Lee (Aug. 29, 
2017)) (Appendix 3 to OE Staff Reply)).   

293 Id. at 48 (citing BETM_00000495 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Leckey (Jan. 24, 
2018)) (Appendix 4 to OE Staff Reply)).   

294 Id. at 48. 
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$.23/MWh), rather than the $559,447 that it actually had on deposit.  OE Staff argues that 
it is impossible that GreenHat could have achieved this astounding result if collateral 
minimization were not its objective.295 

 OE Staff also contends that Respondents’ claim that GreenHat was not seeking to 
maximize the size of its portfolio by pointing to the fact that one of its “models” capped 
bid volumes at 10 MW is misleading and unpersuasive.296  First, OE Staff asserts that 
whatever the volumes of individual paths, GreenHat had far and away the largest FTR 
portfolio in PJM, dwarfing the volumes of numerous experienced FTR trading firms.  
Second, OE Staff argues that, while a bid volume of 10 MW on a particular path may 
sound modest, it is not because GreenHat was placing bids in long-term auctions, which 
settle over a three-year period.297  Third, OE Staff asserts that the average size of FTR 
bids across all market participants in the 16/19, 17/20, and 18/21 long-term auctions was 
3.7 MW, illustrating that a 10 MW bid was far from modest.298  Fourth, OE Staff asserts 
that Respondents claim appears to rely on a single spreadsheet from October 2017.299  OE 
Staff claims that GreenHat has not produced all of the spreadsheets it used to choose 
FTRs, so there is no way to know what limits (if any) GreenHat used in other 
spreadsheets.  Fifth, OE Staff contends that GreenHat’s own data show that it did make 
bids in volumes greater than 10 MW: a total of 12,017 such bids.300  Finally, OE Staff 
notes that in other cases, traders have thought that limiting the size of individual trades 
would help them minimize scrutiny, even when their firm’s overall volumes were 
enormous.301  

 
295 Id. at 48-49 (citing OE Staff Report at 27). 

296 Id. at 49. 

297 OE Staff states that a “10 MW” bid in a long-term auction amounts to placing a 
bet of (10 MW * 3 years * 365 days/year * 24 hours/day =) 262,800 MWh and an 
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301 Id. (citing FERC v. City Power Mktg., LLC, 199 F. Supp. 3d 218, 227 (D.D.C. 
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[Trader # 2:] ‘yes.’ [Trader # 1:] ‘this is the stay below the radar plan.’”)). 
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 OE Staff also contends that there is no evidence to support Respondents’ claim 

that they were making decisions based on natural gas prices, as Respondents do not cite a 
single contemporaneous document, a single statement in testimony, or a single line of a 
declaration in support of those claims.302   

 OE Staff also argues that, contrary to Respondents’ claim, PJM is not “better off” 
because Greenhat sold FTRs bilaterally.303  OE Staff asserts that GreenHat’s third-party 
sales removed FTRs from GreenHat’s portfolio that had increased in value since 
GreenHat bought them.  OE Staff asserts that removing in-the-money assets from an 
overall negatively-valued portfolio necessarily pushes the portfolio further below water 
and increases the losses that other PJM members will be forced to cover.  OE Staff also 
contends that the evidence cited by Respondents is unavailing.304    

 OE Staff disagrees with Respondents’ claim that they did not engage in a bust-out 
scheme because GreenHat sold FTRs to third parties at a premium.305  OE Staff explains 
that, while selling at a discount is not an essential element of a bust-out scheme, it is 
exactly what GreenHat planned to do.  In support, OE Staff maintains that the first Shell 
deal had a classic “discount” structure306 and GreenHat communicated as much to third 
parties.307  OE Staff asserts that all three of the Shell deals included a “Discount Factor” 
in the formula for calculating the purchase price308 and GreenHat also proposed a 
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305 Id. at 52-53. 

306 OE Staff states that “for FTRs that sold in the auction, GreenHat would keep 
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307 For example, OE Staff states that Kittell sent an email to Brian Anast of  
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308 Id. at 54 (citing GH_0004546 (First Shell Agreement), ¶ 2(b) (“Discounted 
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GH_0000049, ¶ 2(d) (Second Shell Agreement) (“Discount Factor means 0.71”); 
GH_0002536, ¶ 2(d) (Third Shell Agreement) (“Planning Year Discount Factor means 
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discount structure in its sales pitches to third parties.309  OE Staff alleges that GreenHat’s 
final third-party sale, to BETM, was unquestionably at a discount, as both GreenHat and 
BETM understood.310 

 OE Staff claims that Respondents’ contention that GreenHat’s sales to Shell were 
not at a discount is based on the fact that in the Second and Third Agreements, Shell 
appears to have drafted the Initial Purchase Price and Final Purchase Price clauses in 
ways that were disadvantageous to it.311  OE Staff argue, however, that whether Shell 
paid more than it “should” have because of the specific language of the Second and Third 
Agreement does not alter the fact that GreenHat engaged in a bust-out scheme.  OE Staff 
states that, in the second and third Shell deals, Kittell, Bartholomew, and Ziegenhorn 
appear to have been the rare bust-out perpetrators who enjoyed an unexpected bonus 
because of poor decisions by a buyer.312  Nevertheless, OE Staff argues, selling assets 
that one does not intend to pay for—the essence of a bust-out scheme—is a form of fraud 
and that is exactly what GreenHat did in all four of its bilateral deals. 

 OE Staff argues that Respondents’ claim about the timing of GreenHat’s 
disbursement to its owners is wrong.313  Contrary to Respondents’ claim that it only made 
disbursements after PJM’s threatened collateral call, OE Staff states that months before 
PJM’s threatened collateral call in March of 2017, when GreenHat received the final 
purchase price from the first Shell deal on October 18, 2016, GreenHat transferred 
virtually all of the money to Kittell the next day.  

 
0.77 for Planning year 18/19 and 0.67 for Planning Year 19/20”)). 

309 Id. (citing GH_0021313 (Email from A. Kittell to B. Anast) (Sept. 1, 2016)).  

310  OE Staff states that Kittell described the sale of FTRs to BETM as sales in 
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seems high, I am going to prefer to keep the book size smaller and if the discount is more 
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(citing BETM_00000495 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Leckey (Jan. 24, 2018)) (emphasis 
added)).  OE Staff also states that BETM itself believed it was buying FTRs from 
GreenHat at a 20% discount to their then-current market value.  Id. (citing 
BETM_00000228.0001 (internal BETM Powerpoint) (“20% discount MTM”) (mark to 
market)). 

311 Id. at 55. 

312 Id. 

313 Id. at 56. 



Docket No. IN18-9-000  - 58 - 

 
 Contrary to Respondents’ claims, OE Staff alleges that GreenHat did not walk 

away in March 2017 because it wanted to continue its bust-out scheme.314  OE Staff 
alleges that, when PJM called GreenHat in March 2017 about a potential collateral call, 
GreenHat had already signed the third deal with Shell, from which it hoped to make 
millions of dollars when the deal was implemented in the June 2017 long-term auction.  
OE Staff contends that, if GreenHat had simply “closed up shop,” it would have given up 
the chance to make millions of additional dollars through future deals.   

 OE Staff also argues that, contrary to Respondents’ claim, GreenHat paid for the 
losses on its 2014 FTR purchases because it hoped to (and did) make much larger profits 
from its bust-out scheme.315  OE Staff contend that GreenHat knew that, if it defaulted on 
PJM’s charges for the FTRs it bought in 2014, its membership in PJM would be 
suspended and as a result, GreenHat’s opportunity to make much larger amounts from its 
bust-out scheme would be lost.  OE Staff maintains that there is nothing unusual about 
this, as in bust-out schemes, perpetrators commonly pay their bills for a period of time to 
lure creditors into allowing them to buy still larger volumes of goods on credit in the 
future.316 

 OE Staff also contends that Respondents’ theory that traders would never engage 
in conduct that could trigger an enforcement proceeding is contradicted by history, 
including their own.317  OE Staff argues that there are many cases in which the 
Commission has determined, after a litigated proceeding, that market participants did 
exactly what Respondents say no one would ever do, namely engaging in fraudulent 
conduct in a wholesale energy market.318  OE Staff asserts that it is particularly 

 
314 Id. at 57-58. 

315 Id. at 58. 

316 Id. (citing, e.g., ePlus Tech., Inc. v. Aboud, 313 F.3d 166, 170–71 (4th Cir. 
2002) (“At the outset of the scheme, the corporation’s bills are paid, and its creditors are 
lured into extending larger and larger lines of credit.”); CreditCards.com, Bust-Out 
Fraud, https://www.creditcards.com/credit-card-news/glossary/term-bust-out-fraud/ (last 
visited July 12, 2021) (“The scheme begins when a person establishes good credit . . . 
The fraudster then behaves well for a period of time, making on-time payments, building 
credit, and applying for more cards and higher credit limits.  After credit is built, the 
“bust-out” takes place. The fraudster maxes out all the credit accounts and ceases making 
payments.”)). 

317 Id. at 59. 

318 Id.  
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unsurprising that Kittell and Bartholomew would do what they did here, since when  
they worked at JP Morgan between 2010 and 2012, they conceived and implemented  
12 different schemes that OE Staff determined to be manipulative, including four new 
schemes after JP Morgan was already under investigation.319 

 Lastly, OE Staff argues that, as stated in the OE Staff Report, the Power Edge 
default bears no relationship to GreenHat’s conduct.320   

(d) Commission Determination 

 After considering the totality of the evidence and the arguments offered by 
Respondents and OE Staff, we find that Respondents engaged in a fraudulent device, 
scheme, or artifice to defraud the PJM market and market participants.  As discussed in 
greater detail below, we find that there is sufficient evidence that Respondents engaged in 
the four-stage scheme outlined in the OE Staff Report: (1) amass a huge FTR portfolio 
based not on building a profitable portfolio but on acquiring FTRs with virtually no 
upfront cash; (2) buy primarily long-term FTRs; (3) plan not to pay for losses at 
settlement; and (4) obtain cash for the individual Respondents by selling profitable FTRs 
to third parties at a discount.  We are not persuaded by Respondents’ arguments that they 
traded with a focus on overall portfolio profitability and that GreenHat’s default resulted 
from Respondents’ mistaken reliance on PJM data and tools to build an overall profitable 
portfolio. 

 As described in the OE Staff Report, and established by the record evidence, 
Respondents’ four-stage scheme constitutes a classic fraud, similar to the “bust-out” and 
other schemes cited in the OE Staff Report.  When GreenHat purchased FTRs, it did so 

 
319 Id. (citing In re Make-Whole Payments and Related Bidding Strategies,  

144 FERC ¶ 61,068 at P 18 (“The bids under investigation were developed by JPMVEC's 
Houston-based Principal Investments unit, then headed by Francis Dunleavy. . . . 
Dunleavy supervised Andrew Kittell and John Bartholomew, including with respect to 
bids developed by Principal Investments into CAISO and MISO.”), P 68(a)-(d) 
(describing four schemes implemented while JP Morgan was under investigation); 2013 
Stipulation and Consent Agreement, P 7 (naming Kittell and Bartholomew as two of the 
three “Principal Investments personnel” responsible for the JP Morgan bidding strategies 
that Enforcement identified as manipulative), PP 58-59 (describing four schemes 
implemented while JP Morgan was under investigation)). 
 

320 Id. at 50 (citing OE Staff Report at 89-90 (“In short, in contrast to GreenHat, 
Power Edge made an FTR investment based on market fundamentals that unexpectedly 
went south, and then made many good faith efforts to try to avoid default and reduce the 
size of any default.”)).     
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pursuant to a commitment to pay PJM at settlement if the value of its portfolio was 
negative.  It was required to make such a commitment to become a PJM member and was 
required to be a member to trade FTRs in the PJM markets.  Accordingly, it would not 
have been able to purchase FTRs without committing to make settlement payments to 
PJM.321  Respondents’ design and execution of the scheme, however, shows that, at the 
time that GreenHat traded pursuant to that commitment, Respondents had no intention to 
make any such payment.  In other words, Respondents intentionally misled PJM to 
enable GreenHat to buy FTRs that it otherwise would not have been able to afford to buy 
and extract profits from the PJM FTR market with the intent to default on their portfolio 
losses. 

 As for the first stage of the scheme, it is undisputed that GreenHat amassed a large 
FTR portfolio between June 2015 and May 2018.  It also is undisputed that Respondents 
did not rely on traditional market fundamentals (like power flow analyses) in doing so.322  
Respondents claim that, while not relying on traditional market fundamentals, they tried 
to build an overall profitable portfolio by relying on the data in the PJM Credit Calculator 
to decide which FTRs to buy.323  The key question, therefore, is whether they used that 
tool to build an overall profitable portfolio or whether they used it to choose FTRs that 
would minimize upfront cash (i.e., collateral) requirements.  We find that it was the latter.     

 We start our analysis of the record evidence with a presentation dated August 1, 
2014 (when Respondents were developing their scheme) that described the criteria that 
Respondents were planning to use to determine which FTRs to buy.  That presentation 
states that Respondents would use a methodology to “[m]inimize credit requirements.”324  

 
321 See PJM_052970 (Application for Membership Between PJM Interconnection, 

LLC and GreenHat Energy, LLC) (stating that GreenHat “agrees to pay all costs and 
expenses in accordance with the Operating Agreement and all other applicable costs 
under the [PJM Tariff]”). 

322 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 49; Roscommon_00001 (Email from            
K. Kelley to Enforcement Hotline (June 25, 2018)) (reporting that Kittell told him that 
GreenHat “[wasn’t] looking at fundamentals,” but was instead “strictly buying based 
upon credit requirements.”); id. (reporting that Kittell told him that GreenHat did not 
conduct power flow analyses, which Kelley characterized as “an absolute requirement to 
have any success in FTR investing”); OE Staff Report at 27 (observing the absence of 
any data on fundamentals, such as expected future changes in generation, transmission, or 
load, or their impact on congestion prices, in the spreadsheets that Respondents used to 
decide which FTRs to bid on).    

323 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 14. 

324 GH_0042037 (GreenHat Energy Update (Aug. 1, 2014)), at 2; see also 
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It did not mention using the PJM Credit Calculator to maximize the profitability of 
GreenHat’s FTR portfolio.  In fact, the presentation did not say anything about 
maximizing portfolio profitability.  This memorialization of Respondents’ intent to 
minimize collateral with no mention of overall portfolio profitability is telling.  

 It also is telling that while Respondents claimed that they relied on the PJM Credit 
Calculator in valuing the FTRs that they purchased to amass their portfolio,325 they used 
recent auction price, not the PJM Credit Calculator, to value their portfolio when it came 
to calculating the money that they should receive through potential bilateral sales.326  This 
includes the deals that GreenHat consummated with Shell, which relied on auction prices 
(not valuations generated by the PJM Credit Calculator) to calculate the Initial Purchase 
Price and Final Purchase Prices,327 as well as Respondents’ solicitations for deals that 
were never consummated.328  Our review of the record has not identified communications 
with another party from a single proposed or consummated deal in which Respondents 
relied on outputs from the PJM Credit Calculator as the basis for valuing FTRs.329   

 
Respondents’ Answer, Attachment 1, at 10 (“GreenHat purchased FTRs at auction 
beginning in 2014 . . . based on criteria that it developed to determine on which FTRs to 
bid.”); Respondents’ Answer at 20 (“[I]t is undisputed that GreenHat used the same 
methodology to purchase FTRs both before and after June 2015.”). 

325 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 1. 

326 See, e.g., GH_0012895 (Email from A. Kittell to A. D’Agostino (Feb. 1, 
2018)); GH_0004620 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Curry (Jan. 30, 2017)). 

327 GH_0004546 (First Shell Agreement), ¶¶ 2(b), 2(d) (setting Initial and Final 
Purchase Price based on market clearing prices). 

328 See supra note 97. 

329 We note that, in September 2017, Kittell and Bartholomew both used mark-to-
auction methodology, and not the PJM Credit Calculator, to calculate the value of 
GreenHat’s FTR portfolio.  See GH_0020751 (Kittell spreadsheet); GH_0020740.xlsx 
(Bartholomew spreadsheet).  It is not clear why they prepared those calculations, but both 
analyses showed losses of about $36 million in GreenHat’s portfolio.  If Respondents had 
used and relied on valuation analysis from the PJM Credit Calculator to choose which 
FTRs to buy, we would have expected to see evidence that they reconsidered that 
approach after completing these mark-to-auction analyses, or at least discussed whether 
the PJM Credit Calculator still should be considered a better method of valuation going  

 
 



Docket No. IN18-9-000  - 62 - 

 
 Records of conversations that Respondents had with third parties corroborate our 

conclusion that GreenHat relied on PJM’s Credit Calculator to minimize collateral 
requirements and not to maximize profitability of GreenHat’s FTR portfolio.330  After 
speaking with Kittell about GreenHat’s business strategy, Kelley understood that 
GreenHat was not buying FTRs to maximize portfolio profitability but rather was doing 
so “based upon hold collateral requirements only” and were “strictly buying based upon 
credit requirements” without looking at fundamentals.331  Likewise, after Arnold met 
Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn to discuss the possible acquisition of GreenHat, Arnold 
described the company as “three guys who put the portfolio together” to “exploit an arb 
in the way PJM calculates credit reserve requirements” to amass “a giant leveraged long 
position.”332  Arnold came out of that meeting with the clear understanding that “[i]f 

 
forward.  See also infra P 143 (discussing Respondents’ continued trading in the same 
way, notwithstanding significant and repeated warning signs that GreenHat’s FTR 
portfolio was losing money). 

330 The dissent criticizes OE Staff’s failure to take testimony from certain third 
parties in this case.  Dissent at PP 12-13.  OE Staff is provided authority by the 
Commission to conduct investigations.  See 18 C.F.R. § 1b.6; GreenHat Energy, LLC, 
Order of Non-Public Formal Investigation, Docket No. IN18-9-000 (December 3, 2018).  
With that authority comes discretion in how to effectively and efficiently gather facts and 
obtain evidence.  See id.  There is no requirement that testimony be taken of each 
potential witness, nor would that be the most efficient or cost-effective method in all 
instances.  In this instance, the emails authored by Kelley and Arnold, which serve to 
corroborate other evidence in the record, speak for themselves.  There are good reasons 
why staff may not include notes of investigative interviews or testimony in the record, 
including when those notes contain attorney work product, for example.  See, e.g., OE 
Staff Report at 104; Respondents’ Answer at 65; OE Staff Reply at 43.  Relatedly, we 
reject Respondents’ apparent suggestion that OE Staff “effectively silence[d]” 
Respondents by referring the matter to the U.S. Department of Justice “early.”  
Respondents’ Answer at 6.  The Commission, not OE Staff, when appropriate, 
determines to refer such matters for criminal prosecution.  See 16 U.S.C. § 825m(a); 
Policy Statement on Enforcement at P 4.   

331 Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement Hotline (June 25, 
2018)).  See also id. (“I believe that there is a part of the story missing from [(the 
previously-filed)] DC Energy[] complaint, and that part points to clear market 
manipulation by Greenhat [sic] Energy”); id. (“I believe this is a classic case of market 
manipulation, taking advantage of market rules to defraud other participants.”). 

332 MA-0000000062 (Email from M. Arnold to P. Dadone (Sept. 5, 2017)). 
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[GreenHat’s] portfolio ever goes [out of the money] to an extent that exceeds the credit 
reserve, they just shut down the LLC and walk away.”333 

 Respondents not only used the PJM Credit Calculator to minimize GreenHat’s 
portfolio collateral obligations, but Kittell offered to do so for traders at other firms as 
well.  For example, on August 29, 2017, Kittell emailed a trader at another firm to say 
that he had reviewed that trader’s recent FTR auction results and had “an idea” for 
him.334  Kittell explained that it appeared “your current position requires approximately 
$10 million in margin to be posted to PJM” and offered to “put together a modest ‘flow’ 
portfolio that will allow you to release most of the required margin and free up that 
capital for the next auction.”335  He said that, if the other trader was interested, “we would 
need to execute the eFTR trades before the auction bidding window closes.”336  Kittell 
made a similar offer when he proposed the bilateral sale to BETM, claiming that, if 

 
333 Id.  There appears to us to be no merit to the dissent’s suggestion that Kelley’s 

and Arnold’s summaries of their conversations with Respondents are less credible simply 
because neither of them was a GreenHat employee.  See Dissent at P 10.  Nor is there 
anything credibly suspicious about the timing of these emails.  Arnold sent his email on 
the very day that he met with Respondents, and Kelley sent his email to provide 
additional context for a complaint that DC Energy had filed relating to the GreenHat 
default.  See MA-0000000062; Roscommon_00001.  We also note that while Kelley’s 
email to the Enforcement Hotline did in fact indicate that he believed this to be a “classic 
case of market manipulation,” contrary to the dissent’s assertion, these two emails are not 
the Commission’s only, or even primary, basis for finding market manipulation here.  See 
supra P 12; Dissent at P 11.  

334 See GH_0010771 (Email from A. Kittell to A. Lee (Aug. 29, 2017)).  The 
dissent avers that in this email and in the email cited below in note 343 “GreenHat 
offered to engage in transactions using the values from GreenHat’s credit calculator, 
which was based on PJM’s FTR values.”  But, GreenHat did not propose trading based 
on the valuations derived from PJM, whether through some “GreenHat credit calculator” 
or otherwise in those emails.  Rather, Kittell estimated the reductions in portfolio 
collateral requirements that the recipients would receive if they purchased certain FTRs 
from GreenHat.  We believe the dissent’s suggestion that GreenHat offered to sell those 
FTRs at prices “based on PJM FTR values” is incorrect based on the evidence.  

335 Id. 

336 Id. 
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BETM purchased a particular set of FTRs from GreenHat, it could reduce a $10 million 
collateral obligation to $3.82 million.337 

 Finally, we note that GreenHat increased the MWhs in its portfolio by a factor of 
71 between June 2015 and April/May 2018 while decreasing its cash deposits (collateral) 
by a factor of nine.338  As a result, it had significantly less than a penny of collateral per 
MWh, as compared to an average of 23 cents/MWh for other large portfolio holders,339 
but defaulted on losses of nearly $180 million.  While not conclusive by themselves, such 
results reinforce a finding that Respondents used the PJM Credit Calculator to minimize 
upfront cash (i.e., collateral) in their FTR purchases and not to build an overall profitable 
portfolio. 

 In their answer, Respondents claim that “GreenHat was focused on the 
profitability of its FTRs as investments”340 and that GreenHat purchased FTRs and 
valued its FTR portfolio based on PJM’s own forecasts of future congestion using the 
PJM Credit Calculator.341  Respondents failed to support these claims with credible or 

 
337 See BETM_00000495 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Leckey (Jan. 24, 2018)). 

338 Commission Decisional Staff calculated these figures using data from the 
following spreadsheets:  PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM 
Auctions.csv, PJM_088452 (GreenHat Energy LLC Collateral History.xlsx), 
PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions.csv, and 
PJM_076714_GreenHat Collateral Data-FERC.xlsx.  The last of those spreadsheets lists 
GreenHat’s collateral through April 8, 2018. 

339 Decisional staff calculated the amount of collateral for other large portfolio 
holders using data in PJM_088452 (GreenHat Energy LLC Collateral History.xlsx). 

340 Respondents’ Answer at 14. 

341 Respondents claim that their use of the Microsoft Excel Solver tool with certain 
PJM Credit Calculator spreadsheets shows that they intended to maximize expected profit 
from GreenHat’s FTRs.  See Respondents’ Answer at 14-16.  OE Staff claims that 
Respondents’ same use of the same tool on the same spreadsheets shows that they 
intended to minimize collateral requirements.  See OE Staff Report at 24-25.  The 
spreadsheets themselves do not clearly manifest Respondents’ intent in conducting the 
analysis.  Respondents failed to provide any other credible evidence regarding their 
intent, but the other evidence in the record supports OE Staff’s conclusion that 
Respondents conducted their analyses with the intent to minimize collateral requirements.  
See, e.g., GH_0042037 (GreenHat Energy Update (Aug. 1, 2014)) (stating that GreenHat  
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persuasive documents or testimony, despite numerous invitations to provide that evidence 
– through data requests and questions asked during testimony – to do so and to provide 
evidence under oath regarding their trading strategies.342  Respondents refused to answer 
written data requests regarding their trading strategies, approaches to FTR valuation, and 
other relevant evidence, claiming that OE Staff would be able to ask such questions 
during testimony.343  Then, when called to testify, they invoked their Fifth Amendment 
right against self-incrimination in response to nearly every substantive question, and 
many non-substantive questions, asked during testimony.344  They also declined the 
opportunity for an administrative hearing in this proceeding – with the possibility of 
seeking third party discovery via subpoena345– or to submit evidence with their 
pleadings.346  Of course, Respondents have the right to assert Fifth Amendment claims, 
and they have the right to decline an administrative hearing and to not attach additional 
documents to their pleadings.  However, having failed to provide evidence through the 
established fact-finding processes – when that evidence can be subjected to cross-
examination and other relevant discovery – Respondents try to fill the factual void with 
generalized and unsworn representations submitted through their counsel.  They try to 

 
planned to purchase FTRs based on, among other factors, “minimiz[ing] credit 
requirements”). 

342 See, e.g., Second Data Request to Andrew Kittell, John Bartholomew, Kevin 
Ziegenhorn, GreenHat Energy, LLC, and Related Entities, at Request No. 12 (July 18, 
2018) (“Produce all documents discussing or evidencing Your strategy in purchasing and 
selling FTRs.”); Third Data Request to Andrew Kittell, Greenhat Energy, LLC, and 
Related Entities, at Request No. 40 (Oct. 29, 2018) (“Please describe in detail the analysis 
GreenHat performed to determine which FTRs to bid for in PJM auctions. If the way in 
which GreenHat did this analysis changed over time, please describe how and when it 
changed.”); Transcript of Testimony of Andrew Kittell (Kittell Tr.) at 26:25-27:2 (“Q 
What is GreenHat's strategy for turning a profit?  A Fifth Amendment.”); Transcript of 
Testimony of Kevin C. Ziegenhorn (Ziegenhorn Tr.) at 48:23-25 (same); Transcript of 
Testimony of John Bartholomew (Bartholomew Tr.) at 34:2-5 (“You had no reason to 
believe that your [FTR] inventory as a whole was going to generate an expected profit, 
did you?  A. Fifth Amendment.”). 

343 See, e.g., Letter from W. Barksdale to T. Olson (Feb. 13, 2019). 

344 See, e.g., Kittell Tr. at 26:25-27; Ziegenhorn Tr. at 48:23-25; Bartholomew Tr. 
at 34:2-5. 

345 See generally 18 C.F.R. § 385.409(a). 

346 See Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 at ordering paras. (D), (E). 
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establish facts regarding their intentions, strategies, knowledge, and motivations with 
conclusory statements,347 factual assertions lacking citation to evidence,348 and theoretical 
pronouncements unmoored to the record.349  Our search for cognizable evidence in 
Respondents’ pleadings revealed a thin record of evidence, virtually none of which 
provides a record establishing that Respondents intended to build an overall profitable 
portfolio.350 

 We find that the evidence also proves Respondents’ execution of the second stage 
of the scheme:  focusing primarily on long-term FTRs to give GreenHat ample time to try 
to sell the FTRs to third parties.  Respondents admit in their pleadings that they changed 
their focus to long-term FTRs after losing money through their purchase of near-term 
FTRs in 2014 and early 2015.351  By 2016, Kittell admitted to Kelley that GreenHat 

 
347 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 17 (“GreenHat traded to acquire profitable 

FTRs.”) (emphasis added).  Such conclusory statements fail to comply with Commission 
rules.  See 18 C.F.R. 385.213(c)(3) (“General denials of facts referred to in any order to 
show cause, unsupported by the specific facts upon which the respondent relies, do not 
comply with [Commission rules].”). 

348 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 13 (“GreenHat took comfort in PJM’s 
representations to the Commission regarding the PROMOD-adjusted forecasts . . . .”). 

349 See, e.g., id. at 18 (“Just consider what this would look like if applied to the 
stock market.”). 

350 OE Staff invites the Commission to draw adverse inferences regarding 
Respondents’ repeated invocation of their Fifth Amendment right against self-
incrimination when asked about their trading conduct.  While the Commission may have 
the ability to do so, see, e.g., Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 318 (1976), we decline 
to make such an adverse inference in this case.  The evidence supporting OE Staff’s 
allegations and absence of evidence supporting Respondents’ defenses sufficiently 
establishes the violations here without consideration of such adverse inferences.  
However, given statements in the dissent concerning this issue (see, e.g., Dissent at n.19), 
we clarify that the Commission appropriately makes factual inferences based on the 
record evidence, just as any other fact finder would:  “The drawing of inferences and the 
acceptance of hypotheses arising out of the facts are ordinarily attributes that the judicial 
process has conferred upon the finder of facts.”  Winter Park Tel. Co. v. S. Bell Tel. & 
Tel. Co., 181 F.2d 341, 341 (5th Cir. 1950).   

351 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 22 (“GreenHat focused on buying long-term 
FTRs so that a diverse portfolio could be built over time and which would be profitable in  
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“focus[ed] on the long term FTR markets, at that point only the furthest year out.”352  
Analysis of PJM’s records confirm that starting in June 2015, GreenHat focused on the 
Long Term Auctions, purchasing FTRs that mostly settled at least 2 years in the future.  
Notably, for the 16/19 Long Term Auction Round One, which occurred immediately after 
GreenHat started realizing losses from its December 2014 purchases, GreenHat almost 
exclusively purchased 18/19 FTRs, which was the furthest year out.353  

 Respondents tried building a portfolio that included near-term FTRs, but when that 
portfolio had a negative value at settlement, they were faced with the choice of defaulting 
(and losing trading privileges) or paying the settlements when they came due and finding 
an approach that gave them more time to generate cash from their portfolio.  They chose 
the latter.   

 Proof of the third stage (Respondents’ plan not to pay for losses at settlement) is 
manifest by their continued pursuit of trading strategies that they knew were leading to 
massive losses and their withdrawal of money from GreenHat’s accounts that was 
otherwise needed to cover those losses.  Respondents received a clear and consistent 
signal starting in 2015 that their strategy of focusing on FTRs requiring minimal 
collateral was losing money.  From the negative settlements on the FTRs that GreenHat 
bought in 2014 (requiring GreenHat to make millions of dollars in payments to PJM) to 
responses from prospective trading partners in 2015 that GreenHat would have to pay 
them to take portions of its portfolio,354 to Respondents’ own mark-to-auction valuations 

 
a wide-range of scenarios, including low-price and high-price natural gas market 
outcomes.”). 

352 See Roscommon_00001 (Email from K. Kelley to Enforcement Hotline  
(June 25, 2018) (emphasis added)).  Recognizing that the further out that an FTR settles, 
the less reliable past congestion data (such as the data that was used in the PJM Credit 
Calculator) can be in predicting future congestion and value, PJM’s manuals note that 
PJM weighs the most recent year at 50%, the prior year 30%, and second prior year only 
20%.  See PJM Manual 6 § 6.7 (Rev. 17, June 1, 2016).  Accordingly, by focusing their 
purchases on the furthest year out, Respondents would have obtained the least-reliable 
forecasts from the PJM Credit Calculator, had they actually relied on that tool for such 
forecasts.  

353 See PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions. 

354 See, e.g., GH_0000710 (Email from D. Seff to Contact@Greenhatenergy.com 
(Jan. 22, 2015)); GH_0000689 (Email from D. Ellithorpe to 
Contact@Greenhatenergy.com (Jan. 28, 2015)). 
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in 2017 showing that their portfolio was worth negative $36 million,355 to PJM’s         
April 10, 2018 notification that GreenHat had a credit shortfall of $59 million356 (to 
which GreenHat responded by purchasing more than 265 MWh in additional FTRs357), 
Respondents had sufficient indication that their FTR investment approach was not going 
to be profitable.  Indeed, they took additional steps to put their portfolio at financial risk, 
like increasing the cost basis of the FTRs in its portfolio by buying back at auction the 
FTRs that Shell purchased in the bilateral deals.358  Their decisions to maintain this losing 
strategy – culminating in a nearly $180 million default – indicates that they were not 
concerned with, and did not intend to pay for, their losses at settlement.  To be clear, their 
default was not an “unfortunate” outcome resulting from GreenHat “follow[ing] PJM’s 
rules and instructions and mak[ing] the mistake – however understandable – of relying on 
PJM’s expertise in PJM’s own markets,” as Respondents claim.359  We find that this was 
an intentional strategy to amass a larger and larger portfolio even as Respondents saw 
that this strategy was leading to significant losses.360 

 Respondents limited the money that PJM might have been able to access in 
response to the default.  Their strategy of minimizing collateral requirements for 
GreenHat’s FTR portfolio led to GreenHat leaving just $559,447 in its PJM collateral 
account at the time of its default.  In addition, to ensure that PJM would not be able to 
draw on any other assets once the collateral was exhausted, Respondents systematically 

 
355 See, e.g, GH_0020751 (Kittell spreadsheet); GH_0020740.xlsx (Bartholomew 

spreadsheet).   

356 See GH_0006324. 

357 See, e.g., OE Staff Report at 90 (citing PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat 
Activity in PJM Auctions). 

358 See supra section IV.C.1.a.iv.d. 

359 See Respondents’ Answer at 5. 

360 While the dissent claims that we cannot find that GreenHat engaged in the 
alleged manipulative scheme “absent a determination that GreenHat did not believe in the 
validity of PJM’s value,” Dissent at P 19, we disagree.  In our view, Respondents’ 
continued use of the PJM Credit Calculator to guide their FTR purchases in the face of 
these clear signals that their strategy was losing millions of dollars and their use of 
auction clearing prices to price FTRs when the profit that they would gain mattered to 
them (i.e., determining what they would get paid when selling certain of their FTRs) are 
indicia of fraud that support a conclusion that GreenHat engaged in a manipulative 
scheme. 
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withdrew nearly all funds from the company’s bank accounts promptly after receiving 
payments for the bilateral transactions.  For example, Shell paid GreenHat $1,490,980.42 
on October 18, 2016 for the first bilateral sale,361 and Respondents transferred nearly all 
of that money to Kittell the next day.362  Shell paid GreenHat $5,213,276.11 on February 
10, 2017 for the second bilateral sale,363 and Respondents transferred all of that money to 
Off Fannin on March 20, 2017.364  On April 3 and 4, 2017,  Off Fannin transferred that 
money to the individual Respondents.365  Shell paid GreenHat $4,368,171.19 on June 16, 
2017 for the third bilateral sale,366 and Respondents transferred nearly all of that to Off 
Fannin on the same day.367  Off Fannin then transferred that money to the individual 
Respondents’ personal bank accounts.368  They did the same with respect to the money 
that GreenHat received through the BETM transaction:  BETM paid GreenHat $2 million 
on April 4, 2018,369 and Kittell (GreenHat’s sole owner by that point) transferred nearly 
all of that money to Off Fannin seven days later.370  Off Fannin then distributed nearly all 
of the BETM proceeds to the three individual Respondents on April 23, 2018.371   

 Respondents admit that their March 2017 transfers from GreenHat’s bank account 
to the individual Respondents personal bank accounts were designed to shield that money 
from PJM in response to a potential margin call, though their justification for doing so -- 
taking a “reasonable precaution” to a “threat to illegally seize and liquidate their 

 
361 See GH_0034042, GH PJM Settlements Account Tab. 

362 See Individual Disgorgement Calculations.xlsx, Cash Flow to Owners Tab. 

363 See GH_0034042, GH PJM Settlements Account Tab. 

364 See id., Off Fannin Account Tab. 

365 See Individual Disgorgement Calculations.xlsx, Cash Flow to Owners Tab. 

366 See GH_0034042, GH PJM Settlements Account Tab. 

367 See id., Off Fannin Account Tab. 

368 See Individual Disgorgement Calculations.xlsx, Cash Flow to Owners Tab. 

369 See GH_0034042, GH PJM Settlements Account Tab. 

370 See id., Off Fannin Account Tab. 

371 See Individual Disgorgement Calculations.xlsx, Cash Flow to Owners Tab. 
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business”372 -- is not credible.  Even if Respondents sincerely believed that PJM was 
acting in a manner that contravened the FPA, the Commission’s regulations, or the PJM 
Tariff, they could have filed a complaint with this Commission or sought relief from the 
judiciary. 

 Respondents’ disregard of pending losses and shielding of assets from PJM in 
order to avoid paying for their losses at settlement was confirmed by Arnold, a potential 
investor, in 2017.  After meeting with Ziegenhorn and Bartholomew, he observed:  “So 
basically it is a giant leveraged long position.  . . . If the portfolio ever goes [out of the 
money] to an extent that exceeds the credit reserve, they just shut down the LLC and 
walk away.”373  Unfortunately for the PJM members who now are paying for GreenHat’s 
default, his prediction was exactly right.  

 The record evidence establishes Respondents’ execution of the fourth and final 
stage (obtain cash for individual Respondents by selling profitable FTRs to third parties 
at a discount) as well.  To make quick profits from the valuable FTRs in GreenHat’s large 
portfolio, GreenHat sold those FTRs to third parties at a discount and then transferred the 
payments from those sales to individual Respondents’ personal bank accounts.  From 
September 2016 through April 2018, GreenHat collected $13,072,428 through these 
third-party sales and, as discussed above, promptly transferred virtually all of the that 
money to Off Fannin and then to the individual Respondents’ personal bank accounts.374   

 Respondents’ representation that they sold these FTRs to “generate investment 
returns sooner and raise capital to expand [GreenHat’s] operations”375 is contradicted by 
the fact that the Respondents promptly withdrew the sale proceeds from GreenHat’s bank 
account and transferred them to Respondents’ personal bank accounts.  Respondents’ 
later disavowal of that justification376 and representation that “[d]istributions were an 

 
372 See Respondents’ Answer at 24. 

373 MA-0000000062 (Email from M. Arnold to P. Dadone (Sept. 5, 2017)).      
374 See supra Section IV.B.2; GH_0016019; GH_0034042.  

375 Respondents’ Answer at Exhibit 1, slide 13.   

376 Respondents fault OE Staff for citing a September 2016 email in which 
GreenHat told a potential trading partner that its bilateral sales proceeds would be used 
“to support our business today.”  See Respondents’ Answer at 53.  Respondents 
dismissed the relevance of that statement, noting that the email preceded the first bilateral 
sale by six months which indicates that GreenHat did not engage in the bilateral sales to 
support its business needs. 
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integral part of GreenHat’s business” and were “how Mr. Kittell, Mr. Bartholomew, and 
Mr. Ziegenhorn were compensated”377 were much closer to the mark. 

 In sum, the totality of the evidence demonstrates that Respondents engaged in a 
scheme to defraud PJM by amassing a large portfolio of FTRs that it had no intention of 
paying for, while sifting out and selling the profitable FTRs in that portfolio.  This 
scheme was a fraud and, therefore, satisfies the “Fraudulent Device, Scheme, or Artifice” 
element establishing a violation of FPA section 222(a) and the Anti-Manipulation 
Rule.378 

 
377 Id.  

378 The Commission and the courts have recognized the sufficiency of circumstantial 
evidence in sustaining such allegations.  See, e.g., Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070 at P 165 
(“It is well established that [t]he presence of fraudulent intent is rarely susceptible of direct 
proof, and must instead be established by legitimate inferences from circumstantial 
evidence.  These inferences are based on the common knowledge of the motives and 
intentions of men in like circumstances.”) (internal quotations omitted but alteration in 
original); Barclays, 144 FERC ¶ 61,041 at P 75 (“Speaking documents that provide direct 
evidence of a violation are rare in fraud and manipulation cases, which do not require 
direct evidence of intent and instead typically rely on more indirect inferences of intent 
from circumstantial evidence.”); Desert Palace, Inc. v. Costa, 539 U.S. 90, 100 (2003) 
(“Circumstantial evidence is not only sufficient, but may be more certain, satisfying and 
persuasive than direct evidence.”); United States v. Philip Morris USA Inc., 566 F.3d 1095, 
1118 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (“A person’s state of mind is rarely susceptible of proof by direct 
evidence, so specific intent to defraud may be, and most often is, inferred from the totality 
of the circumstances, including indirect and circumstantial evidence.”); Fifth Circuit 
District Judges Association, Committee on Civil Pattern Jury Instruction, Pattern Jury 
Instructions (Civil Cases) § 3.3 (2020) (“As a general rule, the law makes no distinction 
between direct and circumstantial evidence, but simply requires that you find the facts from 
a preponderance of all the evidence, both direct and circumstantial.”); see also Holland v. 
United States, 348 U.S. 121, 140 (1954) (“Circumstantial evidence in this respect is 
intrinsically no different from testimonial evidence.  Admittedly, circumstantial evidence 
may in some cases point to a wholly incorrect result. Yet this is equally true of testimonial 
evidence.”).  Accordingly, our assessment of this case is reasonably based on the totality of 
the evidence that has been presented.  Whether a particular piece of evidence is direct, 
indirect, corroborative, or otherwise, considered in isolation, is beside the point.  What 
matters is what can be inferred from the totality of the evidence.  See, e.g., Bourjaily v. 
United States, 483 U.S. 171, 179–80 (1987) (“[I]ndividual pieces of evidence, insufficient 
in themselves to prove a point, may in cumulation prove it.  The sum of an evidentiary 
presentation may well be greater than its constituent parts. . . . [A] piece of evidence,  
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ii. Second Violation of FPA Section 222(a) and the 

Anti-Manipulation Rule:  GreenHat Amassed an 
FTR Portfolio Intending Not to Pay for its Losses 

(a) OE Staff Report 

 As discussed above, OE Staff asserts an alternative, simpler version of the First 
Violation by alleging that Respondents built a huge FTR portfolio without conducting 
any market analysis or otherwise evaluating the FTRs’ attractiveness as investments and 
instead, by their own admission, bought FTRs that GreenHat could acquire with zero (or 
minimal) upfront cash.379  OE Staff alleges that both the words and the actions of 
Respondents show that they built this huge portfolio by choosing FTRs based solely on 
collateral requirements—that is, they chose what FTRs to buy based on what they could 
acquire without putting their own money at risk, and in some cases by actually reducing 
the amount of collateral they were required to deposit.380   

 OE Staff states that, while Respondents now claim that they viewed minimizing 
collateral as a method of finding profitable FTRs, there is no contemporaneous evidence 
that this is true.381  OE Staff asserts that GreenHat does not cite any testimony or 
declaration from Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, or Kittell in support of the claim that they 
used the PJM Credit Calculator to find the most profitable FTR portfolio based on 
supposed PJM congestion forecasts, nor do they identify any document in which any of 
the three stated any such thing.382  OE Staff argues that these unsupported claims about 
GreenHat’s intent are contradicted by both GreenHat’s words and its actions.383 

 In addition, OE Staff alleges that the record as a whole shows that GreenHat did 
not intend to pay what it owed—or pay any material amount—if its portfolio of long-term 

 
unreliable in isolation, may become quite probative when corroborated by other 
evidence.”). 

379 OE Staff Report at 18, 74-75.  According to OE Staff, by the time GreenHat 
defaulted in June 2018, its FTR portfolio was not only the largest in PJM but was 24% 
larger than its next two largest competitors combined.  Id. 

380 Id. at 19. 

381 Id. at 21. 

382 Id. at 79-80. 

383 Id. at 80. 
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FTRs settled at a loss starting in June 2018.384  Rather, OE Staff alleges that Respondents 
took repeated and deliberate steps to ensure that the firm would be unable to meet its 
obligations to PJM upon default by ensuring that GreenHat:  (1) had minimal funds on 
deposit with PJM, and (2) would have no other funds available with which to satisfy even 
a portion of its eventual default.385  OE Staff asserts that Respondents’ intent to default is 
further supported by a potential investor, Matt Arnold’s, explanation of his understanding 
that if GreenHat’s portfolio was “out of the money” in an amount greater than 
GreenHat’s “credit reserve,” Respondents would “just shut down the LLC and walk 
away.”386  According to OE Staff, while Arnold mentioned the theoretical possibility that 
extraordinary circumstances (such as an “extreme weather event”) might make the 
portfolio profitable, he did not mention anything about GreenHat expecting its portfolio 
to be profitable in the normal course.387  OE Staff alleges that Respondents “walked 
away” from GreenHat as planned and left it to default—leaving its massive losses to be 
covered by all other PJM members.388   

 OE Staff further states that GreenHat’s conduct bears no relationship to the 
conduct that OE Staff determined to be non-manipulative in the Power Edge default.389  
Rather, OE Staff asserts that in contrast to GreenHat, Power Edge made an FTR 
investment based on market fundamentals that unexpectedly went south, and then made 
many good faith efforts to try to avoid default and reduce the size of any default.390     

(b) Respondents’ Answer 

  According to Respondents, OE Staff’s claim that GreenHat planned to avoid 
paying losses on what it knew was an unprofitable FTR portfolio is belied by the actions 
of the individual Respondents.391  Specifically, Respondents state that, if GreenHat’s 
purpose was to sell off its profitable FTRs bilaterally and walk away when the FTRs 

 
384 Id. at 31. 

385 Id. at 31-32. 

386 Id. at 32-33. 

387 Id. at 86. 

388 Id. at 33. 

389 Id. at 89. 

390 Id. at 90. 

391 Respondents’ Answer at 24. 
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began to settle, it would make no sense that GreenHat sold “winners” in long-term FTR 
auctions in late 2017, locking in millions in positive margin to be collected by GreenHat 
from PJM as the FTRs settled in the future.392  Respondents argue that, if GreenHat had 
in fact acquired its FTRs in bad faith with the intent to walk away from its allegedly 
inevitable losses, then it would have simply closed up shop in March 2017 when PJM 
demanded millions in additional collateral and would not have paid PJM over $2 million 
in losses on its portfolio.393  Respondents further state that GreenHat could have simply 
“walked away” in January 2015 after failing to make any bilateral sales and prior to 
posting millions of dollars of additional collateral in April 2015.  According to 
Respondents, no one could plan to default on “the largest FTR portfolio in PJM” without 
knowing that there would be an investigation, and no one would intentionally subject 
themselves to an enforcement proceeding. 

 Respondents assert that, although GreenHat’s portfolio was large, GreenHat did 
not view it as risky because, among other things:  (1) the portfolio was based on 
valuations produced and praised by PJM; (2) GreenHat backtested PJM’s valuation 
methodology and confirmed that using it to select FTRs resulted in the selection of FTRs 
that PJM projected to be profitable at settlement; (3) GreenHat’s portfolio was broadly 
diversified; (4) GreenHat acquired FTRs for the specific purpose of reducing risk; and (5) 
GreenHat monitored and analyzed the risk of its portfolio.394 

 According to Respondents, GreenHat’s expectation that its portfolio of FTRs 
would be profitable at settlement was based on PJM’s valuation methodologies, not on 
bets that there would be congestion spikes that inured to GreenHat's benefit.395  They 
assert that GreenHat designed its bid generation models to take into account non polar-
vortex scenarios by optimizing to maximize value in months less prone to spikes.396  
They further state that GreenHat never expected to “just shut down the LLC and walk 
away” for any reason. 

 Respondents argue that it would not be market manipulation to speculate on the 
occurrence of extreme weather events, price spikes, or other things because risk is 

 
392 Id. at 24-25. 

393 Id. at 25. 

394 Id. at 55-56. 

395 Id. at 56-57. 

396 Id. at 57. 
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inherent in speculation and trying to predict the future and getting it wrong is not fraud.397  
Respondents assert that bankruptcy laws and the PJM Tariff asymmetrically set a 
possible floor on downside risk and that investing within those rules without deceptive 
conduct is not market manipulation.  They state that it is undisputed that GreenHat was in 
compliance with PJM’s credit requirements and transparent in its use of PJM’s valuation 
methodology.  That those valuations turned out to be wrong, they argue, is unfortunate 
but not fraud.   

(c) OE Staff Reply 

 As discussed above in section III.C.1.a.i, OE Staff alleges that GreenHat used the 
PJM Credit Calculator to choose FTRs based on minimizing collateral, not because 
Respondents believed PJM was providing reliable forecasts of future profitability.398  
According to OE Staff, this is evidenced by Respondents’ description of the firm’s 
strategy to third parties, the fact that GreenHat knew from its own experience that 
selecting FTRs using the PJM Credit Calculator resulted in large losses, and that 
GreenHat never used the PJM Credit Calculator values in its business dealings with third 
parties.399  OE Staff asserts that Arnold’s email confirms two key points about 
GreenHat’s scheme: (1) the firm was “exploiting an arb” in PJM’s credit policy to 
“amass” an enormous FTR portfolio; and (2) Respondents had no intention of paying 
what GreenHat owed upon default.400   

 OE Staff alleges that, even if GreenHat had not engaged in a bust-out, its scheme 
would still have been fraudulent.401  Specifically, OE Staff states that, even if GreenHat 
had engaged in the same conduct without selling (or attempting to sell) winners to third 
parties and instead merely acquired a massive portfolio based on collateral minimization 
as a gamble with (1) a de minimis downside (a few hundred thousand dollars of 
collateral) but (2) a large upside if the portfolio proved profitable, such a scheme would 
still be manipulative based on GreenHat’s actual intent.402  OE Staff reiterates that 
GreenHat bought FTRs with the goal not of building a profitable portfolio based on 
projected future congestion changes but of acquiring an enormous one by targeting FTRs 

 
397 Id. 

398 OE Staff Reply at 2-3. 

399 Id. at 3-7. 

400 Id. at 10. 

401 Id. at 11. 

402 Id. at 11-12. 



Docket No. IN18-9-000  - 76 - 

 
based on minimizing collateral.403  OE Staff asserts that trading based not on market 
fundamentals but with the goal of amassing a vast portfolio nearly for free, and with the 
intent to default if the portfolio was underwater, would violate section 222 and the Anti-
Manipulation Rule, even if not as part of a bust-out scheme.404 

 OE Staff argues that there are strong policy reasons behind this conclusion.405  OE 
Staff states that financial traders are permitted to participate in organized energy markets 
to help the markets work more efficiently, but that a firm whose sole strategy is to 
identify and execute trades that impose 99.9% of risks on other market participants, while 
keeping 100% of upside for itself, is not bringing any benefit to the market and is simply 
exploiting it and sending false market signals.  OE Staff asserts that allowing speculators 
to engage in this type of scheme cannot be reconciled with the Commission’s overall 
obligation under the FPA to ensure just and reasonable rates in wholesale electricity 
markets.406   

(d) Commission Determination 

 Based on the totality of the evidence, we find that Respondents violated section 
222(a) of the FPA and the Anti-Manipulation Rule by trading in a way to minimize 
collateral requirements, and not to build a profitable portfolio, with the intent not to pay 
for GreenHat’s losses at settlement.  Such uneconomic trading constitutes a series of 
transactions with the “purpose of impairing, obstructing, or defeating a well-functioning 
market.”407  While similar to the four-stage fraudulent scheme giving rise to the first 
violation, we find that Respondents’ uneconomic trading undertaken with an intent to not 
pay for losses constitutes an alternative violation, even without the extraction of profits 
through Respondents’ bilateral sales.  While we agree with OE Staff’s allegations 
regarding this more simplified violation, we note that we are assessing penalties and 
ordering disgorgement just once for all of Respondents’ violations – this finding of a 

 
403 Id. at 12. 

404 Id. (citing e.g., FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, L.P., 2018 WL 7892222, at **12-13 
(S.D. Ohio 2018) (under FPA); FERC v. City Power Mktg., LLC, 199 F. Supp. 3d at 234-
36 (same); FERC v. Barclays Bank PLC, 105 F. Supp. 3d 1121, 1146-47 (E.D. Cal. 2015) 
(same); Koch v. SEC, 793 F.3d 147, 153-54 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (same under securities 
laws); Markowski v. SEC, 274 F.3d 525, 528-30 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (same)). 

405 Id. at 12. 

406 Id. at 12-13. 

407 Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 50 (defining fraud generally). 
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second, alternative violation does not increase the assessed penalty or required 
disgorgement.   

 As cases under both the FPA and the securities laws have held, traders are 
presumed to be placing trades based on their underlying economic value,408 and the 
evidence shows that Respondents were not trading on the basis of their best estimates of 
the underlying economic value of the FTRs.  As discussed in Section IV.C.1.a.i above, 
Respondents continued to pursue trading strategies that they knew were leading to 
massive losses and shielded their assets from PJM to avoid having to pay for any losses at 
settlement.   

 Contemporaneous records of conversations between Respondents and third parties 
show that the third parties came away understanding GreenHat’s strategy to be 
minimizing collateral requirements and defaulting if GreenHat’s portfolio losses 
exceeded that collateral.  The evidence also demonstrates that GreenHat knew that 
selecting FTRs using the PJM Credit Calculator resulted in large losses from:  its prior 
multi-million dollar losses on the FTRs it bought in 2014, negative reactions from 
prospective trading partners when attempting to sell the portfolio in 2015, Respondents’ 
own mark-to-auction valuations in 2017, and PJM’s April 10, 2018 notification that 
GreenHat had a credit shortfall of $59 million.  Further, the record is devoid of any 
evidence that Respondents ever relied on outputs from the PJM Credit Calculator as the 
basis for valuing FTRs in their business dealings with third-party traders.   

 By basing GreenHat’s purchases of FTRs on minimizing collateral, Respondents 
ensured that GreenHat had minimal funds on deposit with PJM to cover its eventual 
losses.  In addition, by systematically withdrawing nearly all funds from GreenHat’s bank 
accounts promptly after selling off its FTRs in bilateral transactions, they further ensured 
that GreenHat would have no other funds available to satisfy its eventual default.  

 Respondents’ trading behavior—purchasing as many FTRs as they could with 
minimal funds at stake and the intent to not to pay for its losses at settlement —was not 

 
408 See FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, L.P., 2018 WL 7892222 at *13 (“Markowski 

[274 F.3d at 529] and Koch [793 F.3d at 152–56] thus reveal an important point:  under 
Section 10(b) [on which the FPA’s anti-manipulation provision is modeled], securities 
traders are not free to trade for whatever purpose they wish.  Traders are presumed to be 
trading on the basis of their best estimates of a security’s underlying economic value, see, 
e.g., ATSI Commc’ns, [Inc. v. Shaar Fund], 493 F.3d [87], 100–01 [(2d Cir. 2007)], and 
to trade for other purposes can be deceptive.”) (quoting FERC v. City Power Mktg., LLC, 
199 F. Supp. 3d at 235; FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, LP, 2020 WL 7767498, at 21 (S.D. 
Ohio Nov. 18, 2020)).   
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aimed at building a profitable portfolio and sent false price signals to the PJM markets.409  
We do not agree with Respondents’ suggestion that, because GreenHat was in 
compliance with PJM’s credit requirements and bankruptcy laws allow for defaults, they 
did not engage in any deceptive conduct.  Regardless of how the Bankruptcy Code might 
apply to an ordinary default, it does not authorize fraud, and an entity’s plan not to pay 
for its losses at settlement after being bound by specific payment obligations is just 
that.410  Retreating to the Bankruptcy code here cannot excuse Respondents’ manipulative 
scheme.411 

 
409 See Barclays, 144 FERC ¶ 61,041 at P 53 (“A number of courts have 

recognized that transactions undertaken with manipulative intent, rather than a legitimate 
economic motive, send inaccurate price signals to the market:  ‘Because every transaction 
signals that the buyer and seller have legitimate economic motives for the transactions, if 
either party lacks that motivation, the signal is inaccurate.’”) (quoting Brian Hunter, 135 
FERC ¶ 61,054, at P 51, order denying reh’g, 137 FERC ¶ 61,146 (2011), rev’d on other 
grounds sub nom. Hunter v. FERC, 711 F.3d 155 (2013)) (citations omitted); see also 
United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 223 (1940) (“[M]arket 
manipulation in its various manifestations is implicitly an artificial stimulus applied to (or 
at times a brake on) market prices, a force which distorts those prices, a factor which 
prevents the determination of those prices by free competition alone.”); ATSI Commc’ns, 
Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 100 (2d Cir. 2007) (securities manipulation 
“connotes intentional or willful conduct designed to deceive or defraud investors by 
controlling or artificially affecting the price of securities.”) (quoting Ernst & Ernst v. 
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 199 (1976)).   

410 See PJM_052970 (Application for Membership Between PJM Interconnection, 
LLC and GreenHat Energy, LLC) (signed by J. Bartholomew on Aug. 15, 2014) 
(Membership Application). 

411 The dissent poses a counter-factual hypothetical in which the market value of 
GreenHat’s FTRs aligned with the value in the PJM Credit Calculator.  The dissent posits 
in this hypothetical “there could not have been any basis upon which to find manipulation 
for either of these first two charges [(violations of FPA section 222(a) and the 
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule)] because you cannot claim manipulation when a 
market participant successfully pursues and executes profitable trades that do not require 
them to post collateral.”  Dissent at P 16.  However, the critical point here is that 
GreenHat’s FTR trading was not based on market fundamentals, which is why the vast 
majority of its FTRs were unprofitable.  The dissent’s hypothetical does not address this 
issue.  And, as the Commission has held, trading for reasons other than market 
fundamentals is an indicium of manipulative conduct.  See, e.g., Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 
61,070 at P 95; City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 at PP 100-104 & 190; Barclays, 144 
FERC ¶ 61,041 at P 114.  Had GreenHat considered market fundamentals, it would have 
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iii. Third Violation of FPA Section 222(a) and the 

Anti-Manipulation Rule:  GreenHat Falsely 
Represented That Shell Owed More Than $62 
Million From the First Two Bilateral Agreements 

(a) OE Staff Report 

 OE Staff alleges that, in April 2017, nearly a month after PJM told GreenHat that 
it proposed to issue a special margin call, GreenHat falsely represented to PJM that Shell 
owed GreenHat more than $62 million in connection with the first two bilateral 
transactions, even though Shell had already paid GreenHat everything it owed on those 
deals, and then entered into an agreement pledging that money to PJM in an effort to 
avoid PJM’s planned margin call.412  OE Staff alleges that the purpose of this deceptive 
claim to PJM was to enable GreenHat to continue to implement the manipulative scheme 
described above.413   

 OE Staff argues that GreenHat’s statements and conduct in April and May 2017 
show that it knew that this representation was false and that GreenHat intended to 
mislead PJM.414  OE Staff alleges that GreenHat carefully avoided disclosing to PJM that 
Shell had already paid the Final Purchase Price for its first two deals and insisted that 
PJM not contact Shell.415  OE Staff alleges that, because GreenHat knew that the         
$62 million receivable from Shell was an illusion, GreenHat insisted that Respondents 

 
reacted to the “wildly inaccurate” values in the PJM Credit Calculator described in 
Paragraph 16 of the dissent.  But even when Respondents, using marked-to-auction 
values, understood the value of their portfolio to be a loss of $36 million, they did not 
react by reconsidering their FTR strategy, because market fundamentals and profitability 
of their portfolio was not part of any strategy they had.  The wide gulf between the value 
based on market fundamentals and that shown in the PJM Credit Calculator – a fact 
known to Respondents – itself evinces Respondents’ manipulative intent and is a fact that 
we believe cannot be assumed away.  

412 OE Staff Report at 72, 75. 

413 Id. at 75. 

414 Id. at 44-52. 

415 Id. at 42-44, 99. 
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not make any commitment, in the pledge agreement, that the receivable actually 
existed.416  

 OE Staff alleges that, even though Shell paid GreenHat the Final Purchase Price 
for both deals in full on October 16, 2016 and February 10, 2017, GreenHat then invented 
a second set of payments that it claimed Shell was required to make to GreenHat.417  OE 
Staff alleges that GreenHat claimed that Shell agreed, by entering numbers into the FTR 
Center, to pay the amount contained in the “Price” field in the FTR Center multiplied by 
the amount in the “MW” field, even though GreenHat knew that the Price field was a 
placeholder with no significance for bilateral trades.418  OE Staff also points out that for 
the FTRs it sold to Shell, GreenHat had populated the Price field not with the unit price it 
paid for the FTRs, but with the total cost of the FTRs.419  Then, OE Staff alleges that, 
when trying to convince PJM that Shell owed GreenHat additional payment for the FTRs, 
GreenHat told PJM to “multiply[] volume times the price” without mentioning to PJM 
that the price field already included the total cost of the FTRs.  According to OE Staff, 
this increased the amount that it appeared that Shell owed from around $7 million to 
more than $62 million.   

 OE Staff alleges that none of the agreements between Shell and GreenHat 
mentions the Price field on PJM’s FTR site or states that Shell will make payments based 
on numbers in that field.420  OE Staff further alleges that GreenHat knew—and told 
Shell—that the Price field in the FTR Center had no substantive significance, but simply 
needed to be filled in with some number to be able to post a trade into the portal.421  OE 
Staff alleges that, at the same time GreenHat was telling PJM that Shell owed it $62 
million on the first two deals, it was telling potential customers and its own auditors that 
the deals were for one-time payments.422  OE Staff asserts that GreenHat’s claim that the 

 
416 Id. at 52. 

417 Id. at 44-45. 

418 Id. at 45-46. 

419 Id. at 49-52. 

420 Id. at 46.  OE Staff also states that GreenHat’s assertion that the Final Purchase 
Price in the three Shell agreements was merely a “fee” for an “option” to purchase the 
FTRs is not supported by any of the documents produced by GreenHat and is 
contradicted by the language of its agreements with Shell.  Id. at 96.  

421 Id. at 47. 

422 Id. at 47, 92. 
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supposed $62 million debt was in its balance sheet before PJM’s collateral call is 
disproven by its own financial statements.423  OE Staff further alleges that, if 
Respondents had believed that Shell owed GreenHat anything beyond the Final Purchase 
Price from the first two deals, they would have demanded immediate payment.424 

(b) Respondents’ Answer  

 Respondents claim that (1) GreenHat never made any representations about the 
value of its bilateral transactions with Shell, (2) Shell did, in fact, agree to pay an 
additional $62 million in connection with the first two bilateral sales, and (3) GreenHat 
understood that Shell owed that amount.   

 Respondents assert that, in discussions with PJM, Respondents explained the basis 
for its calculation of the cash flows from GreenHat’s bilateral FTR transactions with 
Shell, which were based on the values the parties had entered and agreed to on PJM’s 
FTR Center.425  Respondents state, however, that GreenHat made clear that PJM was to 
undertake its own due diligence and the language in the pledge agreement makes clear 
that GreenHat made no representations about the value of the collateral.426 

 Respondents dispute OE Staff’s assertion that GreenHat led PJM to believe that it 
was pledging unpaid fees due under the bilateral agreements rather than future cash flows 
resulting from the purchase prices entered on FTR Center.427  Rather, they argue that PJM 
knew that nothing was owed under the agreements because Ryan Kolkmann of Shell 
contemporaneously told PJM prior to the pledge agreement “that the first two deals were 
completed and paid for” and because the terms of the agreements make it obvious that all 
amounts due under them had already been paid.428  Respondents further state that the 
amounts due under the letter agreements could not have been confused with a $62 million 
cash flow.429   

 
423 Id. at 93. 

424 Id. at 49. 

425 Respondents’ Answer at 4. 

426 Id. at 4, 31. 

427 Id. at 32. 

428 Id. at 32-33.   

429 Id. at 33.   
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 Respondents allege that GreenHat’s contemporaneous communications with Shell 

and other third parties show that the parties placed significance on the purchase price 
agreed to in FTR Center's Price field.430  Respondents also state that its financials and 
positions download pre-dating PJM’s threatened margin call included the expected cash 
flows from GreenHat’s bilateral transactions with Shell.431 

 Respondents dispute OE Staff’s allegation that Respondents would have 
immediately demanded payment from Shell if they actually believed that GreenHat was 
entitled to further payment.432  Respondents assert that GreenHat’s understanding was 
that those amounts should be invoiced as the FTRs settled during the course of the 
planning year. 

 With respect to OE Staff’s allegation that GreenHat told its auditors that its deals 
with Shell were for one-time payments, GreenHat asserts that it never saw those internal 
auditor work papers and therefore never had the opportunity to modify the language in 
them.433  Respondents state that the future cash flows are indisputably contained within 
GreenHat’s audited financials. 

 Respondents allege that Shell entered into a binding contract to pay GreenHat 
more than $62 million for the first two bilateral transactions (in addition to the Final 
Purchase Prices paid pursuant to those agreements) when it entered price and quantity 
data from those transactions into PJM’s FTR Center.434  Respondents claim that 
GreenHat and Shell discussed the values that were entered into the price column of the 
FTR Center database, and that those discussions constituted negotiations over the 
additional money that Shell would pay for the transactions.435 

 
430 Id. at 34. 

431 Id. at 34-35. 

432 Id. at 35. 

433 Id. at 36. 

434 See id. at 59.  GreenHat’s allegation that Shell owes this additional money 
currently is being litigated in Texas State Court.  See PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. v. 
GreenHat Energy, No. 2018-69829 (Harris Cty. Tex. Dist. Ct., 190th Judicial District). 

435 Respondents’ Answer at 38, 60.  The Commission addressed GreenHat’s claim 
in a November 2020 order interpreting the PJM Tariff and declaring that “entry of data 
into the FTR Center for bilateral trades does not automatically establish stand-alone 
bilateral contracts at the stated price, absent a separate agreement by the parties to do so.”  
Shell Energy, 173 FERC ¶ 61,153 at P 2.  During that proceeding, Shell disagreed with 
 



Docket No. IN18-9-000  - 83 - 

 
 The Kittell Estate argues that it cannot be fraud for Kittell to rely on PJM’s own 

prior written statements that the FTR Center was a platform for bilateral FTR trading.436  
The Kittel Estate asserts that the Commission encouraged PJM to establish a “liquid and 
robust FTR secondary market” and that the Commission approved “a bilateral trading 
system that facilitates the trading of existing FTRs between PJM members through a 
web-based bulletin board system.”437  The Estate alleges that, before any business 
dealings between Shell and GreenHat occurred, the Shell FTR traders sent GreenHat 
some of the pre-existing PJM materials that expressly described FTR Center as a 
platform for bilateral trading, with a “Price” field that mattered.  The Kittell Estate argues 
that it cannot be fraud for Kittell to take the position that GreenHat and Shell agreed to 
bilateral trades at stated prices using the FTR Center, given that PJM itself independently 
reached the exact same conclusion.438 

(c) OE Staff Reply 

 OE Staff reiterates that, in Kittell’s emails with Shell’s chief negotiator, Kittell 
made clear that the Price field was merely a placeholder that needed to be filled with 
some number to record a trade in the FTR Center and that Shell also received that same 
message, twice, from PJM.439  OE Staff states that many PJM market participants appear 
to have used the Price field for recordkeeping purposes, without creating any payment 
obligation by doing so.440  OE Staff asserts that one “recordkeeping purpose” for the 
Price field is to keep track of particular FTRs as they move through the transfer process 
and that appears to be how Shell was using the Price field.441 

 
GreenHat’s characterization of the meaning of the FTR Center price field data.  See, e.g., 
Shell Energy N. Am. (US), L.P., Petition for Declaratory Order, Docket No. EL20-49-
000, at 31 & 34-36 (May 29, 2020). 

436 Kittell Estate Answer at 4. 

437 Id. (quoting PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., 87 FERC ¶ 61,054, at 61,221 (1999); 
Atl. City Elec. Co., 86 FERC ¶ 61,147 (1999); PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., PJM Tariff 
Submission, Docket No. ER99-2028-000, at 10 (filed Mar. 2, 1999)). 

438 Id. at 5. 

439 OE Staff Reply at 13. 

440 Id. at 14 (citing Shell Energy, 173 FERC ¶ 61,153 at P 9). 

441 Id.  OE Staff points out that the emails between GreenHat and Shell about 
changing numbers in the Price field were not with Shell’s chief negotiator but with the 
low-level Shell employee charged with keeping track of the FTRs as they moved from 
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 OE Staff also reiterates that the GreenHat-Shell agreements expressly stated that 

Shell’s liability was limited to the Final Purchase Price.442  OE Staff alleges that the 
agreements provided that they could be modified only by “an instrument in writing 
signed by each of GreenHat and Shell Energy” and that an exchange of emails (or a 
phone conversation) about what number to put in the Price field is not that.443  OE Staff 
states that GreenHat repeats the theory it invented in November 2018 in the Texas lawsuit 
that what was plainly called the “Final Purchase Price” in the two contracts was merely 
an “option payment.”444  OE Staff argues that is unsupported by the plain language of the 
two agreements and the audited financial statements that GreenHat reviewed and 
approved.445  

 OE Staff asserts that, if GreenHat actually believed in April 2017 that Shell owed 
it additional money after paying the Final Purchase Price for each of the first two deals, it 
would have had no reason to avoid telling PJM that it had already been paid by Shell.446  
OE Staff also states that, while GreenHat claims it decided to apply the “industry 
standard” that payments would be due “on a rolling basis as [the FTRs] settle” instead of 
asking Shell for immediate payment, GreenHat acted urgently and diligently to collect 
money that Shell actually owed it.447 

 OE Staff argues that Kolkmann’s March 29, 2017 call with PJM was before 
GreenHat told PJM that Shell owed it any additional money from their first two deals and 
therefore Kolkmann’s statement that the first two deals were “completed and paid for” 
had no salience for PJM at that time.448  OE Staff alleges that it was not until mid-April 

 
GreenHat to Shell, then into the PJM auction, and (sometimes) then back to GreenHat.  
Id. 

442 Id. at 15. 

443 Id. at 15-16. 

444 Id. at 16. 

445 Id. at 16, 65. 

446 Id. at 17. 

447 Id. at 18 (quoting GreenHat Protest at 57), 68-71. 

448 Id. at 18-19.  Staff’s observation that Kolkmann’s call with PJM occurred 
weeks before GreenHat claimed that Shell owed it additional money addresses the 
concern in Footnote 50 of the dissent that the reference in the OE Staff Report to this 
conversation “appears to contradict Enforcement’s statement that PJM was unable to ask 
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2017 that GreenHat claimed for the first time that Shell owed it an additional $62 million 
from those deals and refused to allow PJM to ask Shell about prior payments.449  OE 
Staff also argues that the language in the June 2017 pledge agreement, in which 
GreenHat disclaimed representations and warranties and PJM disclaimed any reliance on 
statements by GreenHat, is irrelevant because reliance is not an element of a market 
manipulation claim and GreenHat made the false statements at issue in April 2017—two 
months before the pledge agreement was signed.450   

 With respect to Respondents’ statement that the future cash flows are indisputably 
contained within GreenHat’s audited financials, OE Staff responds that the auditors 
understood that the $102 million entry for “Derivative Asset – Long Term” reflected the 
value of FTRs that GreenHat still owned, not third-party receivables for FTRs that 
GreenHat had sold.451  As to Respondents’ assertion that they never saw the internal 
auditor work papers, OE Staff alleges that GreenHat’s auditors created the firm’s 
financial statements, and documented the basis for them in internal working papers, 
entirely based on information they received from GreenHat, through Kittell.452 

(d) Commission Determination 

 Based on the totality of the evidence, we find that Respondents violated section 
222(a) of the FPA and the Anti-Manipulation Rule by falsely representing to PJM that it 
was owed more than $62 million by Shell with the intent to convince PJM not to proceed 
with its planned margin call, thereby enabling GreenHat to continue its manipulative 
scheme.  We reject Respondents’ claim “that GreenHat made no representations – much 
less misrepresentations – about the value of its bilateral transactions with Shell.”453  On 
April 13, 2017, during negotiations regarding the value of PJM’s collateral, Kittell 
represented to PJM that Shell owed GreenHat $62,188.729.02 “relating to the two sets of 
bi-lateral ftr trades already completed” and “associated with a large number of planning 

 
Shell about GreenHat’s assertions.”   

449 Id. at 19. 

450 Id. at 38-39. 

451 Id. at 40-41. 

452 Id. at 64-67. 

453 Respondents’ Answer at 31. 
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year 2018/2019 ftrs that include both buys and sells between Greenhat and Shell.”454  
Yet, we find no credible evidence in the record to support Kittell’s representation.   

 Respondents admit that the purported $62,188.729.02 obligation did not arise from 
GreenHat’s written agreements with Shell.455  However, they do not demonstrate from 
where, if not from the written agreements, that obligation arose.  As the Commission 
made clear when previously considering the terms of the PJM tariff, “entry of data into 
the FTR Center for bilateral trades does not automatically establish stand-alone bilateral 
contracts at the stated price, absent a separate agreement by the parties to do so.”456  As 
the Commission found, in the context of bilateral FTR transfers, the FTR Center is only a 
reporting mechanism through which market participants are required to record FTR 
transfers of ownership and the PJM Tariff contains no language suggesting that parties 
execute bilateral trades on PJM’s FTR portal.457  Thus, the entry of this data in the FTR 
Center alone does not give rise to GreenHat’s claimed $62,188.729.02 obligation.  
Indeed, the PJM Tariff required GreenHat and Shell to enter their bilateral agreement into 
PJM’s FTR Center;458 however, their compliance with the tariff does not mean that they 
formed an additional agreement in doing so.  We, therefore, must conclude that there was 

 
454 GH_0006632 (Email from A. Kittell to M. Harhai (Apr. 13, 2017)). 

455 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 32 (“Enforcement also suggests that 
GreenHat led PJM to believe that it was pledging unpaid fees due under the letter 
agreements rather than future cash flows resulting from the purchase prices entered on 
FTR Center.  Not true.”) (citation omitted); id. at 33 (“[T]he terms of the letter 
agreements make it obvious that all amounts due under the letter agreements had already 
been paid.”).  Respondents note that Shell told PJM prior to execution of the pledge 
agreement (apparently, on March 29, 2017, see OE Staff Reply at 18) “that the first two 
deals were completed and paid for,” which it offers as proof “that PJM knew that nothing 
was owed under the letter agreements.”  See Respondents’ Answer at 32-33.  This is 
consistent with the theory of misrepresentation – that GreenHat claimed that Shell owed 
$62 million beyond what it paid through the letter agreements. 

456 Shell Energy, 173 FERC ¶ 61,153 at P 2. 

457 Id. PP 63, 67. 

458 See PJM Tariff, Attachment K-Appendix § 5.2.2(d)(i); Shell Energy, 173 FERC 
¶ 61,153 at P 4 (“FTR transfers must ‘be reported’ to PJM in the FTR Center as the 
posting enables PJM to credit or invoice the correct party at settlement and to verify the 
buyer’s credit.”) (citation omitted). 
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no such obligation.  Accordingly, we conclude that GreenHat’s statements to PJM about 
this source of income are false.     

 To support their contention that the prices entered into the FTR Center were 
contractually-agreed prices that obligated Shell to pay more for the FTRs it purchased 
than was reflected in the bilateral agreements between GreenHat and Shell, Respondents 
offer arguments and information suggesting that some market participants theoretically 
could execute an agreement relying on information entered into the FTR Center.459  
However, that response falls short of establishing that GreenHat and Shell did execute 
such an agreement.460  Respondents do not provide any actual evidence of a contract.461  
In this context – in which sophisticated companies were purportedly negotiating a 
payment obligation worth tens of millions of dollars – the absence of evidence of an 
agreement suggests that no such agreement existed.462 

 
459 See Respondents’ Answer at 59-61; Ledgerwood Decl. at 8-12.  Shell and 

GreenHat exchanged a few emails regarding the number that should be entered into the 
FTR Center price field, in which they considered entering “zero,” GreenHat’s basis, or 
some other number in that field.  See, e.g., GH_0000223 (Email from A. Kittell to A. Lee 
(Aug. 22, 2016)); GH_0004963 (Email from A. Kittell to R. Kolkman (Oct. 17, 2016)).   

460 Contrary to Respondents’ claims, see Respondents’ Answer at 34, 38 & 60-61, 
there is nothing in Kittell’s emails suggesting that the parties were discussing a purchase 
price for FTRs.  Rather, it appears that they were trying to choose some number to enter 
into a required field in PJM’s system.  If they were discussing a purchase price for the 
FTRs, it is unlikely GreenHat would have considered entering “zero” as an option.  We 
note that GreenHat and BETM did, in fact, enter zeroes in the FTR Center price field for 
their transactions.  See PJM_Data_Extract_00002_GreenHat Bilateral Transactions.csv. 

461 As OE Staff observed, GreenHat did not demand payment for the additional 
money that Shell purportedly owed, see OE Staff Report at 49, and there is no evidence 
in the record of Shell and GreenHat having exchanged payment terms prior to Kittell’s 
representation to PJM that GreenHat expected that money from Shell. 

462 Due to the pending Texas civil litigation between Shell and GreenHat, the 
Commission previously refrained from exercising primary jurisdiction over the question 
of whether, under Texas law, an agreement requiring $62,188,729.02 could be considered 
to have existed in fact or in law.  See Shell Energy, 173 FERC ¶ 61,153 at P 2.  It is 
possible that Respondents will provide evidence in that litigation convincing the state 
court that GreenHat is entitled to damages from Shell, and we continue to refrain from 
exercising jurisdiction to preempt such a conclusion (to the degree that it is not 
procedurally-barred under Texas law).  Our finding here is limited to the factual record 
before us and Respondents’ lack of evidence of a valid agreement supporting the 
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 Moreover, the record evidence supports that GreenHat could not have genuinely 

believed that Shell owed an additional $62,188,729.02 for the FTRs it purchased in 
connection with the first two bilateral sales.  First, the agreements for those transactions 
expressly limited Shell’s liability to the “Final Purchase Price,” which was defined by a 
formula set out in the agreements, and that formula did not rely on any data entered into 
the FTR Center.463  Those agreements could only be modified in a writing signed by both 
parties.  At the very least, we would expect Shell and GreenHat to have exchanged 
communications establishing that this provision limiting Shell’s liability did not preclude 
GreenHat from receiving more than $62 million in additional money for the bilateral 
sales.  There is no such evidence in the record that designates information in the FTR 
Center as the basis for determining any amounts Shell owed to GreenHat.   

 Further, GreenHat’s auditors’ notes of conversations with Kittell regarding the 
first two bilateral sales make no reference to future payments from Shell – payments that 
were for ten times the amount of money listed in the agreements themselves.464  
Likewise, the narrative description of the bilateral sales in GreenHat’s financial 
statements for calendar year 2016 included nothing about the purported future payments 
from Shell.465   

 Finally, Kittell described the FTR sales in September 2016 as incorporating “a 
discount rate we would hope to improve on with our next sale,”466 a statement that 
indicates that he was not expecting to receive more than $62 million in addition to the 

 
representations made to PJM.  It is those representations that give rise to the present 
enforcement action, over which we have exclusive jurisdiction.   

463 See GH_0004546 (First Shell Agreement); GH_0000049 (Second Shell 
Agreement). 

464 See MA – 00000527.xls.  Respondents note that they did not have the 
opportunity to review and modify those work papers, claim that “the future cash flows 
are indisputably contained within GreenHat’s audited financials” (which, in fact, is not 
indisputable based on the record evidence, see Enforcement Staff Reply at 40-41), and 
that the notes were limited to the two written bilateral agreements themselves.  See 
Respondents’ Answer at 36-37.  The point does not concern how the auditors treated the 
written bilateral agreements but the complete absence of any reference to a purportedly-
anticipated $62 million payment related to those agreements. 

465 See GH_0008761 (Greenhat Energy, LLC - Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditor's Report – December 31, 2016, and 2015). 

466 GH_0021313 (Email from A. Kittell to B. Anast (Sept. 1, 2016)). 
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payments set out in the bilateral agreements.  Moreover, GreenHat apparently did not 
mention any expectation of receiving $62 million from Shell until April 13, 2017, nearly 
a month after PJM first disclosed that GreenHat needed to increase its collateral to avoid 
a margin call.  Instead, starting two days after PJM provided notice of the potential 
margin call, GreenHat focused the conversation on the money that it planned to receive 
through the pending third bilateral deal.  Accordingly, we conclude that Respondents 
falsely represented to PJM that Shell owed it more than $62 million with the intent to 
convince PJM not to proceed with its planned margin call. 

iv. Fourth Violation of FPA Section 222(a) and the 
Anti-Manipulation Rule:  GreenHat Made 
Uneconomic Trades to Increase The PJM Auction 
Clearing Price of FTRs that It Sold To Shell 

(a) OE Staff Report  

 OE Staff alleges that GreenHat engaged in an additional form of fraud by using 
advance knowledge of the prices at which Shell would offer FTRs (that Shell had just 
purchased from GreenHat) into PJM’s long-term FTR auctions to bid for those FTRs in 
the same (or double) the volumes of Shell’s offers and at a specific markup to Shell’s 
offer prices in order to ensure that more of the FTRs cleared and at higher prices.467  
According to OE Staff, this conduct would be irrational from the perspective of a 
legitimate FTR trader because GreenHat was re-purchasing FTRs it had owned a few 
days before, but at a higher price, which guaranteed that GreenHat’s portfolio would 
perform worse at settlement.468   

 OE Staff alleges that GreenHat made inflated bids on these FTRs, not with the 
legitimate goal of acquiring FTRs because of their value as investments, but to drive up 
the amount of immediate cash that Shell paid to GreenHat pursuant to their bilateral 
deals.  According to OE Staff, because the Final Purchase Price of the FTRs was 
calculated using the auction clearing price (if the clearing price was above a certain price 
specified in the agreements) and Shell could return any FTRs it purchased after the 
auction, GreenHat knew that increasing the amount of money that Shell earned on those 
FTRs could increase the Final Purchase Price and decrease the number of FTRs that Shell 
returned.469  OE Staff claims that GreenHat submitted bids on FTRs it had just sold to 

 
467 OE Staff Report at 76. 

468 Id. at 55, 76. 

469 Id. at 55. 
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Shell, and that Shell was now offering into the PJM auction, at the identical volume, or 
exactly twice the volume, of Shell’s offers to sell the FTRs.470    

 OE Staff alleges that GreenHat anticipated that Shell would offer FTRs it obtained 
through the first bilateral agreement at $1,000 (the decrease in Final Purchase Price it 
would receive if it returned an FTR) and would offer the FTRs it obtained through the 
second and third bilateral agreements at the “threshold” price listed in the agreement for 
each FTR.471  OE Staff alleges that GreenHat understood that Shell would not offer at 
less than these prices because then it would be financially-advantageous to return the 
FTRs and would not offer at more than these prices because doing so might reduce the 
likelihood that its offers would clear.  OE Staff claims that, in the first two Shell deals, 
GreenHat bid for the FTRs it had just sold to Shell using the same price formula it used 
for other FTR bids, by bidding at 10% above the most recent auction clearing price, but 
in the third deal, GreenHat not only bid at the same or double the volume of Shell’s 
offers, but also set its bid prices at exactly 22.22% above Shell’s offer prices.472  
According to OE staff, over time, GreenHat increasingly targeted its bids at the same 
FTR paths it had just sold to Shell and was successful in doing so.473  According to OE 
staff: “For the first deal, Greenhat bid on 7% of the FTR paths it had just sold to Shell, 
and 43% of those bids had volumes equal to or double Shell’s offer volumes.  By the 
third deal, GreenHat bid on 89 percent of the FTR paths it had just sold to Shell and 98% 
had equal or double volumes.”474   

 OE Staff states that, in the June 2017 auction, GreenHat was able to buy FTRs on 
1,201 paths that Shell offered into the auction, for a total volume of 5,825 MW 
(approximately 25.6 million MWhs), with bid prices 22.22% higher than Shell’s offer 
prices.475  OE Staff argues that, in other words, GreenHat rigged the June 2017 Long 
Term Auction by submitting bids for “its own” FTRs based on advance knowledge of the 
volumes and prices that Shell would offer them at, in a way that reduced the value of its 
portfolio, but that generated more cash for Respondents.  OE Staff alleges that these 
transactions were not based on market fundamentals, sent false price signals into the PJM 

 
470 Id. at 55-56.  For reasons that OE Staff could not explain, GreenHat sometimes 

bid exactly twice the volume that Shell was offering.  Id. at 56 n.166. 

471 Id. at 56 n.167. 

472 Id. at 57 (emphasis in original). 

473 Id. at 56. 

474 Id.  

475 Id. at 59. 
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marketplace, and increased the size of GreenHat’s ultimate default.476  OE Staff 
concludes that, in addition to constituting fraudulent auction rigging, GreenHat 
fraudulently engaged in uneconomic trading in PJM’s long-term FTR auction to benefit 
through its contractual arrangements with Shell.477 

(b) Respondents’ Answer 

 Respondents deny that GreenHat had inside information from Shell, noting that 
Shell was under no obligation to offer any of the FTRs it purchased from GreenHat in 
PJM’s FTR auctions, and payments to GreenHat under the bilateral sale agreements were 
not contingent on the bilaterally sold FTRs clearing at auction.478  Respondents state that 
the price at which Shell might offer them (if it chose to offer them at all) was not 
discussed, and that even after the auctions, GreenHat had no information regarding the 
prices or volumes offered by Shell.  They also claim that no one would have inferred that 
Shell would offer those FTRs for sale into the long-term auctions at values associated 
with the bilateral sale agreements’ fee formulas because those values were so low that 
offering at them was irrational and resulted in Shell locking in millions of dollars in 
losses. 

 Respondents argue that GreenHat’s bids were economically rational because 
“GreenHat’s bid prices for the overlapping FTRs were lower than the prices at which 
Shell had just bought those FTRs” (presumably referring to the undiscounted threshold 
prices), GreenHat anticipated being able to resell those FTRs back to Shell again – and, 
in some cases, did resell to Shell, and PJM’s forecasts indicated that the paths that 
GreenHat purchased at auction would be profitable.479  Respondents assert that, in 
claiming that the bids were irrational because they increased GreenHat’s cost basis, OE 
Staff ignores the amount paid to GreenHat by Shell.480  Respondents also argue that 
GreenHat’s bids could not have sent false price signals because the bids were kept 
confidential by PJM and “clearing prices generally were not set by GreenHat’s bids.”481  

 
476 Id. at 76. 

477 Id. (citing Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070; ETRACOM LLC, 163 FERC ¶ 61,022 
(2018) (settlement order after issuance of Order Assessing Civil Penalties and federal 
court litigation); Barclays Bank PLC, 161 FERC ¶ 61,147 (2017) (same)). 

478 Respondents’ Answer at 26. 

479 Id. at 27. 

480 Id. at 28. 

481 Id. at 29. 
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Finally, Respondents claim that GreenHat’s bids were not artificially high, noting “in the 
aggregate, the prices of the FTRs that Shell sold in the June 2017 auction increased in the 
September 2017 auction”482 and that GreenHat’s bids appeared to reflect its typical 10% 
premium over recent auction clearing prices.483  Finally, Respondents claim that 
GreenHat’s bid volumes were based on past auction volumes and that the bids being the 
same volume or double the volume of the FTR sold to Shell likely resulted from 
combining the outputs of multiple runs from a single model or the outputs of different 
models.484 

 The Kittel Estate asserts that it was not fraud for GreenHat to bid on FTR paths 
that it previously sold to Shell.485  The Kittell Estate states that GreenHat’s subsequent 
auction purchases were open and transparent, Shell had displayed interest in certain types 
of FTRs and it made sense to be able to sell Shell more of what it appeared to want to 
buy.  According to the Kittell Estate, Shell apparently had a bias for FTR paths with high 
recent auction clearing prices, and Shell sent price signals that incentivized GreenHat to 
procure and offer that type of FTR to Shell.486 

(c) OE Staff Reply 

 OE Staff claims that GreenHat did have information about what offers Shell would 
submit into PJM auctions.487  OE Staff states that, although Shell did not have a 
contractual obligation to offer the FTRs it had purchased from GreenHat into the next 
FTR auction, Shell needed to sell winners into the auction to lock in profits on those 
FTRs and Shell did offer virtually all of the FTRs it had acquired from GreenHat into the 
next FTR auction.  OE Staff reiterates that Respondents knew this because, to determine 
the Final Purchase Price of the bilateral deals, Shell sent GreenHat spreadsheets after 
each relevant long-term auction reporting how many of the FTRs included in that deal it 
had offered, how many cleared, and the market clearing price.488  OE Staff asserts that 
those reports showed that Shell offered into the auction 498 of the 501 FTR paths that it 

 
482 Id. at 30. 

483 Id. at 29. 

484 Id. at 30-31. 

485 Kittell Estate Answer at 6. 

486 Id. at 7. 

487 OE Staff Reply at 22. 

488 Id. at 23-24. 
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purchased under the first bilateral sales agreement, and all 1,370 paths that it purchased in 
the second.489  According to OE Staff, this provided Respondents inside information 
about both the paths that Shell would be offering into the auction and the quantities at 
which it would do so.490  OE Staff states that, in the auction after execution of the third 
bilateral agreement, 89% of GreenHat’s bids for paths it sold to Shell were at the same or 
exactly double volume of Shell’s offers.491   

 OE Staff states that GreenHat could also confidently predict the prices at which 
Shell would offer the FTRs into the auction because each of the bilateral agreements 
specified a price that would be used in calculating how much money Shell would need to 
pay GreenHat for each FTR transferred, which gave Shell powerful incentives to offer its 
FTRs at exactly those prices.492  OE Staff asserts that it would not constitute 
manipulation if GreenHat developed bids through another means that happened to 
include some paths that Shell was offering to sell, but at a minimum, using inside 
information about a seller’s offers to craft bids designed to inflate prices is unlawful.493 

 OE Staff asserts that, because “GreenHat’s bids on paths it had transferred to Shell 
over the course of their three bilateral deals were often identical to the clearing price for 
the path,” GreenHat almost certainly set the clearing price for many of its bids on those 
paths.494  OE Staff also explains, however, that GreenHat affected the market price when 
one of its inflated bids cleared, even if its bid was above the market clearing price, 
because that inflated bid displaced lower bids that might have reduced the clearing 
price.495  OE Staff further states that, even if GreenHat’s bids did not clear, there is no 
requirement to prove either reliance or harm496 and unsuccessful attempts at entering 

 
489 Id. at 23 & n.46. 

490 Id. at 25. 

491 Id. 

492 Id. at 25-26, 62-64. 

493 Id. at 26. 

494 Id. at 27-28. 

495 Id. at 27. 

496 Id. at 28 (citing Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 48 n.102 (“reliance, 
loss causation and damages are not necessary for a violation of [FERC’s] Final Rule”); 
SEC v. Goble, 682 F.3d 934, 943 (11th Cir. 2012) (same under securities laws); SEC v. 
Rana Research, Inc., 8 F.3d 1358, 1364 (9th Cir. 1993) (“The SEC need not prove 
reliance in its action . . . on the basis of violations of section 10(b) and Rule 10b–5.”); 
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inflated bids are as actionable as successful ones.497  OE Staff therefore asserts that 
submission of a bid or offer for an improper purpose is unlawful whether or not the bid or 
offer clears.  OE Staff states that, even if GreenHat’s inflated bids were invisible to other 
market participants, federal courts have repeatedly held that bids and offers placed for 
unlawful reasons can send false price signals even if other market participants do not see 
them.498 

 Finally, OE staff explains that while Respondents claimed that it was a mere 
“coincidence” that GreenHat bid exactly 22.2% above Shell’s offer prices in the June 
2017 long-term auctions (the relevant auction for the third bilateral deal), further 
investigation by OE staff showed that this apparent oddity came from the third bilateral 
deal.499  OE Staff states that the Threshold Price in the agreement was set to the larger of 
GreenHat’s cost basis for the FTR or 90% of the April 25, 2017 auction clearing price.500  
OE Staff explains that Shell set its offers at the Threshold Price for 98.9% of the FTRs it 
had bought from GreenHat and offered into the auction, and GreenHat set its bids to be 
10% above the April 25, 2017 auction clearing price, resulting in a 22.2% spread between 
the two.501  Staff notes that PJM had released results from an intervening auction held on 
May 1, 2017 that GreenHat could have used as the basis of its bids, but it did not use 
results from that auction.502  Instead, it used the results from the auction on which the 
Threshold Price was based, which GreenHat anticipated Shell would use in preparing its 
offers.   

 
SEC v. N. Am. Research h. & Dev. Corp., 424 F.2d 63, 84 (2d Cir. 1970) (“reliance is 
immaterial because it is not an element of fraudulent representation under Rule 10b-5 in 
the context of an SEC proceeding against a broker”); SEC v. Credit Bancorp, Ltd., 195 F. 
Supp. 2d 475, 490–91 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (“The SEC does not need to prove investor 
reliance, loss causation, or damages in an action under Section 10(b) of the Exchange 
Act, Rule 10b–5, or Section 17(a) of the Securities Act.”)). 

497 Id. (citing FERC v. Maxim Power Corp., 196 F. Supp. 3d 181, 200 (D. Mass. 
2016)). 

498 Id. at 60. 

499 Id. at 60-64. 

500 Id. at 61. 

501 Id. at 62-63. 

502 Id. at 63. 
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(d) Commission Determination 

 After reviewing the record evidence, we conclude that Respondents violated 
section 222(a) of the FPA and the Anti-Manipulation Rule by submitting bids into PJM’s 
long-term FTR auctions (specifically, 2017/2020 Rounds Two and Three and 2018/2021 
Round One Auctions) with the intent to raise the auction clearing price for FTRs that 
Shell bought from GreenHat and then offered for auction, thereby interfering with a well-
functioning market.   

 Respondents admit that they submitted bids into PJM’s long-term auctions 
targeting the FTRs that GreenHat had recently sold to Shell.503  Their targeting was on 
the mark, as shown by the 2018/2021 Round One Auction, in which GreenHat submitted 
bids equal to or double Shell’s offered MWs on approximately 91% of the FTR paths that 
Shell purchased from GreenHat and then offered into the auction.  Because the Final 
Purchase Price in each of the three bilateral transactions with Shell depended, in part, on 
the auction clearing price that Shell received for the FTRs when they were sold in the 
market, GreenHat could benefit from higher auction clearing prices for those FTRs.  
Thus, Respondents used the Threshold Prices in the third bilateral agreement to submit 
bids into the 2018/2021 Round One Auctions that were 22.2% above Shell’s offers.  
Respondents admit that these bids were higher than approximately 82% of the offers that 
cleared in the auction for paths included in the third bilateral agreement,504 which 
supports that they were submitting bids with the intent to raise the auction clearing price. 

 Although Respondents were more aggressive with their scheme during the 
2018/2021 Round One Auction than the earlier two auctions, the record evidence shows 
that the scheme encompassed the earlier auctions as well.  Respondents bid on 16 and 
43% of the FTRs that Shell purchased from GreenHat and then offered into the 
2017/2020 Round Two and Three Auctions, respectively.  Their bids were 10% above 
recent auction clearing prices.505  

 
503 See, e.g., Respondents’ Answer at 27 (“GreenHat’s bidding on paths that 

overlapped with the FTRs that it had sold to Shell was economically rational.”); id. 
(“GreenHat had every reason in the world to try to repeat those trades by seeking out 
FTRs that it thought Shell would be interested in buying in the future.”). 

504 See id. at 29. 

505 See id.  Respondents claim that bidding 10% over prior auction clearing prices 
is “typical,” but their admission that they bid higher than approximately 82% of the offers 
that cleared in the auction for paths included in the third bilateral agreement shows that 
their bid premium was not typical. 
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 Respondents’ practice of committing to pay more money at auction for FTRs that 

GreenHat had just sold to Shell is uneconomic and inconsistent with ordinary market 
principles.  Doing so increased GreenHat’s cost basis for those FTRs without 
commensurate benefit to GreenHat’s portfolio.  Respondents attempt to justify this 
uneconomic practice by claiming that it was clear that Shell was interested in the paths 
covered by those FTRs and, therefore, GreenHat bought them back from Shell with the 
plan to try to sell them back to Shell again;506 however, they provide no evidence 
demonstrating such a plan.  In any event, such a plan would not constitute legitimate 
market activity because GreenHat was intentionally creating a cycle in which it:  (1) sells 
Shell FTRs at a discount (specified in the bilateral sales agreements); (2) bid into the next 
auction at prices higher than Shell’s offers (i.e., 22.2% over Shell’s offers in the 
2018/2021 Round One Auction and 10% over the previous auction clearing price for the 
earlier two auctions) for those FTRs, thereby raising the auction clearing price; (3) re-
sells those FTRs back to Shell at a discount; and then (4) buys them back again at an 
increased price at auction.  At each turn of the cycle, Respondents would be able to 
withdraw the cash that Shell pays in the bilateral sale, but that cash would be more than 
offset by an increase in the cost basis for the FTRs in GreenHat’s portfolio.  Respondents 
identify no evidence contemporaneous with the conduct to credibly support a legitimate 
trading explanation.  We find unpersuasive explanations offered after-the-fact that have 
no support in evidence that is contemporaneous with the conduct at issue. 

 We reject Respondents’ claim that GreenHat’s bids could not have sent false price 
signals because the bids were kept confidential by PJM and “clearing prices generally 
were not set by GreenHat’s bids.”507  As OE Staff explains, even when GreenHat’s bids 
were above the market clearing price, such bids could still affect the market clearing 
price by pushing out lower bids that might have reduced the clearing price.  Regardless 
whether other market participants could see their bids, Respondents’ actions were 
unlawful and injected false information into the market.508   

 Raising the clearing price of FTRs that Shell purchased from GreenHat and then 
offered for auction benefitted Respondents by reducing the number of FTRs Shell would 
return (and GreenHat would have to deduct from the Final Purchase Price) and increasing 
the amount of money that Shell would pay under the bilateral agreements.  Based on our 
review of the evidentiary record, we conclude that GreenHat submitted inflated bids into 
several of PJM’s long-term FTR auctions (specifically, 2017/2020 Rounds Two and 

 
506 See id. at 27. 

507 Id. at 29. 

508 See Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070 at P 95; see also FERC v. City Power Mktg., 
LLC, 199 F. Supp. 3d 218; FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, L.P., 2020 WL 7767498. 
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Three and 2018/2021 Round One) with the intention to increase the clearing price of the 
FTRs that Shell purchased from GreenHat and offered into PJM’s long-term auctions.  

b. Scienter 

 Scienter is the second element of the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule.509  
For purposes of establishing scienter, Order No. 670 requires reckless, knowing, or 
intentional actions taken in conjunction with a fraudulent scheme, material 
misrepresentation, or material omission.510  It is well-established that “[t]he presence of 
fraudulent intent is rarely susceptible of direct proof, and must instead be established by 
legitimate inferences from circumstantial evidence.  These inferences are based on the 
common knowledge of the motives and intentions of [people] in like circumstances.”511  
Indeed, the Commission has specifically recognized that “intent must often be inferred 
from the facts and circumstances presented.”512   

i. First Violation 

 As to the first violation (fraudulent four-stage scheme), we find that the 
preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Respondents, individually and together, 
knowingly and intentionally executed a manipulative scheme to purchase a large 
portfolio of FTRs with the intent to sell off the relatively small number of profitable ones 
and not pay for the losses on the remainder.  As discussed above in Section IV.C.1.a.i, we 
are not persuaded by Respondents’ arguments and defenses that they tried to build an 
overall profitable portfolio by relying on the valuations and congestion data in the PJM 
Credit Calculator analyses, which turned out to be “terribly wrong.”513   

 
509 Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 49.   

510 Id. PP 52-53. Although we need not decide this matter because we find that 
Respondents acted knowingly and intentionally to deceive the PJM market, we note that 
Order No. 670 does not require a showing of “extreme recklessness.”  Id. P 53.  

511 U.S. v. Sullivan, 406 F.2d 180, 186 (2d Cir. 1969) (citing Connolly v. Gishwiller, 
162 F.2d 428, 433 (7th Cir. 1947)); accord Thomas v. Doyle, 187 F.2d 207, 208 (D.C.  
Cir. 1950); see also Total Gas & Power N. Am., 176 FERC ¶ 61,026, at P 33 (2021) 
(explaining that “scienter is often proven through circumstantial evidence based on the 
totality of the evidence”). 

512 See Investigation of Terms and Conditions of Public Utility Market-Based Rate 
Authorizations, 105 FERC ¶ 61,218, at P 43 (2003).  

513 Respondents’ Answer at 25. 
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 As described in section III.C.1.a.i.d above, the evidence establishing such intent 

includes the third-party emails summarizing conversations with individual Respondents 
and the credible conclusions that those third parties drew regarding Respondents’ 
intentions, Kittell’s proposals to help traders at other firms lower their own collateral 
requirements by purchasing portions of GreenHat’s portfolio, the massive portfolio that 
Respondents built with little collateral to cover potential losses, Respondents’ 
uneconomic bilateral sales, and Respondents continued pursuit of trading strategies that 
they knew were leading to massive losses and their withdrawal from GreenHat’s accounts 
money otherwise needed to cover those losses.  Accordingly, we find that Respondents 
acted with the requisite scienter in connection with their scheme to defraud.   

ii. Second Violation 

 As to the second violation, we similarly find that the preponderance of the 
evidence demonstrates that Respondents, individually and together, knowingly and 
intentionally executed a manipulative scheme to trade uneconomically (by minimizing 
collateral requirements and not attempting to build a profitable portfolio) with the plan 
not to pay for GreenHat’s losses at settlement.  As described in section III.C.1.a.i.d 
above, the evidence supporting our conclusion that Respondents intended to trade 
uneconomically includes the third-party emails and Kittell’s proposals, both discussed 
above, the size of GreenHat’s portfolio and absence of collateral, and the lack of credible 
evidence supporting Respondents’ claims that they were trading economically.  The 
evidence supporting our conclusion that Respondents intended not to pay PJM for any 
losses includes Respondents’ strategy to purchase FTRs with a focus on minimizing 
portfolio collateral requirements, their uneconomic bilateral sales and withdrawal of 
proceeds of those sales from accounts that PJM might be able to access in response to 
GreenHat’s default, and their continued pursuit of trading strategies that they knew were 
leading to massive losses.  Accordingly, we find that Respondents acted with the 
requisite scienter with respect to the second violation. 

iii. Third Violation 

 Respondents offer additional arguments as to scienter with respect to the third 
violation (fraudulent statements made to PJM), and we discuss those arguments at greater 
length.  Respondents assert that GreenHat did not intend to mislead PJM and that PJM’s 
representation in the pledge agreement that it had done its own valuation of the pledged 
collateral and did not rely on GreenHat’s valuation shows that GreenHat did not seek to 
mislead PJM.514   

 
514 Id. at 31. 
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 We disagree.  The record evidence demonstrates that Respondents intended to 

mislead PJM about the additional money that GreenHat claimed that Shell owed to stop 
the proposed margin call.  Under these circumstances, their encouragement of PJM to 
exercise its own diligence to calculate GreenHat’s collateral does not provide evidence of 
a lack of intent to deceive.515  Kittell made an explicit representation to PJM that 
GreenHat had an agreement with Shell pursuant to which it was owed $62,188,729.02.516  
In a later email, he reiterated his representation regarding the agreement but invited PJM 
to conduct for itself the elementary arithmetic of multiplying the FTR Center price 
column by the volume column.517  Three days after that, GreenHat sent PJM a schedule 
identifying the amounts from the FTR Center that GreenHat purported to invoice to Shell 
starting in June 2018.518  It invited PJM to “verify any calculations done by GreenHat.”519 
These invitations to check GreenHat’s work do not demonstrate its good faith, however, 
because the misrepresentation at issue here concerned the existence of an agreement for 
Shell to pay additional money, not the arithmetic that GreenHat performed in support of 
that misrepresentation.520  GreenHat controlled access to the information regarding the 
terms of the bilateral transactions, and it failed to share that information when PJM 
requested it.521  Moreover, PJM claims that GreenHat took steps to prevent it from 
contacting Shell to learn more about those agreements.522  Sharing the spreadsheets that 

 
515 See id. at 31-34. 

516 See GH_0006632 (Email from Kittell to M. Harhai (Apr. 13, 2017)). 

517 See GH_0005368 (Email from Kittell to M. Harhai (Apr. 17, 2017)). 

518 See GH_0005475 (Email from Kittell to S. Daugherty (Apr. 20, 2017)). 

519 Id. 

520 That is not to say that GreenHat’s arithmetic was accurate.  OE Staff alleges 
that GreenHat arrived at the $62 million figure by multiplying price times quantity and 
then improperly multiplying it by quantity again.  See, e.g., OE Staff Report at 101-102.  
Respondents do not contest this allegation but given that OE Staff has not alleged that 
GreenHat’s mathematical error was intentional and made to mislead, we will not treat 
that as a separate fraudulent claim. 

521 See, e.g., GH_0005597 (Email from S. Daugherty to GreenHat (Apr. 19, 
2017)). 

522 See PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Motion for Leave to Answer and Answer of 
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Docket No. ER18-1972-000, at 4 (filed Aug. 8, 2018).  We 
recognize that PJM had some communications with Shell about GreenHat, see, e.g., 
SENA_GREENHAT18_009688 (Email from M. Picardi to R. Reilley (May 1, 2017)), 
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Respondents had prepared using their own data and inviting PJM to do its own math 
under these circumstances does not show that GreenHat did not intend to mislead PJM. 

 Likewise, GreenHat’s repeated insistence that the guarantees and warranties 
section of the pledge agreement state that PJM made its own determinations, and 
disclaims any reliance on GreenHat, does not demonstrate GreenHat’s good faith.523  
Having made multiple misrepresentations regarding the existence of an agreement with 
Shell, it was in GreenHat’s strategic interest to have PJM disclaim its representations in 
the pledge agreement.  Such self-serving language does not demonstrate GreenHat’s good 
faith.  Nor does GreenHat’s engagement of counsel following PJM’s notification of a 
potential margin call necessarily suggest good faith on GreenHat’s part. 

 Given that GreenHat made these misrepresentations during negotiations with PJM 
over the proposed margin call, and only after PJM rejected its offer to pledge proceeds 
from the planned third bilateral sale, we find that GreenHat intentionally misled PJM for 
the purpose of convincing PJM that the proposed margin call was not necessary.  
Accordingly, we find that that Respondents acted with the requisite scienter in connection 
with their fraudulent representations that Shell owed more than $62 million in additional 
money for the FTRs traded through the first two bilateral sale agreements.   

iv. Fourth Violation 

 We similarly find that Respondents acted with the requisite scienter with respect to 
the fourth violation (submission of uneconomic trades to raise auction clearing prices).  
Respondents submitted bids into PJM’s long-term FTR auction with the intent to increase 
the clearing price of FTRs that Shell had purchased from GreenHat, thereby increasing 
the amount of money that Shell would receive through those auctions and, in turn, that 
GreenHat would receive through its bilateral agreements with Shell.  Respondents admit 
that they intended to target the FTRs that Shell had purchased in the bilateral sales and 
was offering for auction.  We infer Respondents’ intent to raise the auction clearing 
prices of those FTRs based on Respondents’ financial interest in increasing those clearing 
prices (as higher prices likely would lead to higher payments from Shell in the bilateral 
deals) and Respondents’ inability to provide a credible, economic justification for bidding 
on the FTRs that they had just transferred to Shell.524  Accordingly, we find that 

 
but PJM claims that GreenHat specifically prevented it from learning about the 
agreements with Shell, and those were the communications that matter for this issue. 

523 See, e.g., GH_0018104; GH_0012250; GH_0012067. 

524 See U.S. v. Sullivan, 406 F.2d at 186 (finding that presence of fraudulent intent 
is rarely susceptible of direct proof, must instead be established by legitimate inferences 
from circumstantial evidence, and these inferences are based on common knowledge of 
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Respondents submitted bids on those FTRs with the intent to increase the auction 
clearing prices and, therefore, conclude that Respondents acted with the requisite 
scienter. 

c. In Connection with a Transaction Subject to the 
Jurisdiction of the Commission 

 The third element necessary to establish a violation of FPA section 222 and the 
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule is determining whether the conduct in question 
was “in connection with” a transaction subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.525 

 The conduct in question is GreenHat’s purchases and sales in the PJM FTR market 
from June 2015 through its default on June 12, 2018 and Respondents’ statements to PJM 
related to those purchases and sales.  Respondents do not contest that the conduct in 
question was “in connection with” transactions subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction. 

 We find that the Commission has jurisdiction over Respondents’ conduct because 
the trades at issue were implemented under PJM’s Commission-approved Tariff within a 
market operated by a Commission-regulated RTO.526  Moreover, the United States Court 
of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit) has affirmed the 
Commission’s “authority [under the FPA] to regulate the activity of traders who 
participate in energy markets.”527   

2. Violations of the PJM Tariff 

a. PJM Operating Agreement, Section 15.1.3 (Payment of 
Bills) 

 From September 2014 (when GreenHat became a member of PJM) through May 
2020, section 15.1.3 of PJM’s Operating Agreement read, in relevant part: “[a] Member 

 
motives and intentions of people in like circumstances); see also Barclays, 144 FERC ¶ 
61,041 at P 75 (same); FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, LP, 2020 WL 7767498 at *27 
(“[R]equiring a fact-finder to make an inference from the evidence is not improper; 
indeed, that is exactly the point of using circumstantial evidence.  Circumstantial 
evidence has the same weight as direct evidence, even in the fraud context, despite 
Defendants' desire and arguments to the contrary.”) (internal citations omitted). 

525 Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 49; 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a); 18 C.F.R. § 
1c.2. 

526 See Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070 at P 187. 

527 Kourouma v. FERC, 723 F.3d 274, 276 (D.C. Cir. 2013). 
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shall make full and timely payment . . . of all bills rendered in connection with or arising 
under or from this [Operating] Agreement, any service or rate schedule, any tariff, or any 
services performed by the Office of the Interconnection or transactions with 
PJMSettlement. . .”528   

i. OE Staff Report and Reply 

 OE staff alleges that GreenHat violated, and continues to violate, section 15.1.3 of 
the PJM Operating Agreement by failing to pay for the losses that it incurred on its FTRs 
starting in June 2018.529  Specifically, OE staff explains that GreenHat agreed to be 
bound by the obligations enumerated in the Operating Agreement as a condition of its 
membership in PJM and GreenHat’s failure to pay for its FTR losses violates its 
obligation to “make full and timely payment . . . of all bills rendered in connection with 
or arising under or from” the Operating Agreement.530  OE staff also notes that, pursuant 
to section 316A(b) of the FPA, the Commission has the authority to impose penalties for 
violations of the Commission-approved PJM Tariff and Operating Agreement.531  OE 
Staff adds that the Commission does not take enforcement action against every tariff 
violation, particularly when the violations are minor and inadvertent, but in appropriate 
cases, such as when violations are both extremely large and intentional, as here, it is 
prudent and responsible for the Commission to exercise its discretion to do so. 

ii. Respondents’ Answer 

 Respondents argue that the mere fact that a PJM FTR market participant defaulted 
is not enough to establish a viable Enforcement case.532  Respondents also represent that 

 
528 PJM Operating Agreement, § 15.1.3 (Payment of Bills) (Versions 2.0.0-5.0.0).  

Modified language went into effect on June 1, 2020 (Version 6.0.0) that does not alter the 
obligation to make full and timely payment of any bill a PJM Member or Participant 
receives in connection with its participation in PJM’s markets.  See PJM Interconnection, 
LLC, 171 FERC ¶ 61,173 (2020).   

529 OE Staff Report at 77-78. 

530 Id. at 78; see OE Staff Reply at 28-29. 

531 OE Staff Reply at 29. 

532 Respondents’ Answer at 41 (citing DC Energy, LLC v. PJM Interconnection, 
L.L.C., Answer of PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Docket No. EL18-170-000, at 3-4 (filed 
June 25, 2018); Power Edge OE Staff Report).  
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PJM has acknowledged that its rules do not provide “absolute” protection against 
defaults.533 

iii. Commission Determination 

 As a preliminary matter, the Commission has the authority under the FPA to 
impose sanctions for violations of PJM’s Tariff and Operating Agreement.  Section 
316A(b) of the FPA gives the Commission the authority to impose penalties for “any 
violation of Part II of the FPA and any rule or order thereunder,”534 and PJM’s Tariff and 
Operating Agreement were approved by Commission order.535  Though the Commission 
does not take enforcement action against every tariff violation, particularly violations that 
are minor, the Commission believes that it is especially important to act when tariff 
violations are, for example, intentional and result in substantial financial harm to the 
market and its participants, especially when that harm will ultimately be borne by 
ratepayers. 536  Here, GreenHat not only defaulted on its obligations under the PJM Tariff 

 
533 Id.  

534 16 U.S.C. 825o-1(b).  See Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelines,  
132 FERC ¶ 61,216 at P 175 (“[T]he Commission has the authority to enforce 
Commission-approved tariff provisions.”); Cal. ex rel. Lockyer, 375 F.3d at 839 (9th Cir. 
2004) (“Once filed with a federal agency, such tariffs are the ‘equivalent of federal 
regulation.’” (quoting Cahnmann v. Sprint Corp., 133 F.3d 484, 488 (7th Cir. 1998))); id. 
at 853 (“Under the filed rate doctrine, the terms of the filed tariff are considered to be the 
law and to therefore conclusively and exclusively enumerate the rights and liabilities of 
the contracting parties.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted)); see also 
Wheelabrator, 164 FERC ¶ 61,237, at PP 1, 8; PSEG Energy, 163 FERC ¶ 61,056,  
at PP 1, 8.   

535 See, e.g. PJM Interconnection, LLC, 136 FERC ¶ 61,190, at PP 112-113 (2011) 
(approving the annual Officer Certification Form (Appendix 1) requirement set forth in 
Attachment Q of PJM’s Tariff); PJM Interconnection, LLC, 171 FERC ¶ 61,173. 

536 OE regularly investigates potential violations of Commission-approved tariffs 
and operating agreements and, where appropriate, recommends that the Commission 
assess civil penalties and other remedies for such violations.  These investigations, 
however, are often resolved through settlement.  See, e.g., Terra-Gen, LLC, 176 FERC ¶ 
61,071 (2021); Alliance NYGT LLC, 174 FERC ¶ 61,086 (2021); NRG Power Marketing, 
LLC, 174 FERC ¶ 61,016 (2021); Algonquin Power Windsor Locks LLC,  174 FERC ¶ 
61,001 (2021); Exelon Generation Company, LLC,  170 FERC ¶ 61,008 (2020); 
Wheelabrator Claremont Company, L.P., 164 FERC ¶ 61,237  (2018); Entergy Nuclear 
Power Marketing, LLC, 164 FERC ¶ 61,051 (2018). 
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but also intended not to make the required payments as part of the manipulative scheme 
described above.  Thus, it is appropriate for the Commission to exercise its discretion to 
sanction such violations.537 

 Pursuant to this authority, we find that GreenHat violated section 15.1.3 of PJM’s 
Operating Agreement on June 21, 2018 when PJM notified GreenHat that it was in 
default of its payment obligations under the June 1 to June 6, 2018 month-to-date (MTD) 
invoice.538  This violation remains ongoing because, as described in Section IV.B.4, 
GreenHat has yet to pay the losses incurred in its FTR portfolio from June 2018 through 
May 2021 when its FTRs finished settling, ultimately imposing a total of $179,600,573 in 
losses to be socialized among other PJM market participants.   

 In addition, GreenHat agreed to be bound by the payment obligations outlined in 
section 15.1.3 of PJM’s Operating Agreement when it executed its PJM membership 
application in August 2014.539  By signing its Membership Application, GreenHat 
acknowledged having read and understood “the terms and conditions of [PJM’s] 
Operating Agreement” and, “agree[d] to accept the concepts and obligations set forth in 
[the Membership Application] and the Operating Agreement posted on the PJM website . 
. .”540  GreenHat also expressly “agree[d] to pay all costs and expenses in accordance 
with the Operating Agreement and all other applicable costs under the PJM Open Access 
Transmission Tariff (‘Tariff’).”541  Having agreed to be bound by the terms of PJM’s 
Operating Agreement in its Membership Application, GreenHat explicitly agreed to pay 

 
537 We note that the civil penalties and disgorgement ordered assessed herein (see 

infra Section E (Remedies and Sanctions)) are not solely based on GreenHat’s failure to 
make required payments to PJM under the PJM Operating Agreement.  The assessed 
amounts are primarily driven by the manipulative scheme GreenHat engaged in and the 
magnitude of the market harm this fraud caused.  GreenHat’s tariff violations are only a 
subset of the conduct considered in assessing the penalties and disgorgement below.   

538 PJM_000079 (Email from G. Roschel to GreenHat and A. Kittell (June 21, 
2018)) (“PJM declares GreenHat Energy, LLC in default of its payment obligations under 
the PJM Operating Agreement for non-payment of the June 1 to June 6, 2018 MTD 
invoice.”). 

539 See PJM_052970 (Application for Membership Between PJM Interconnection, 
LLC and GreenHat Energy, LLC) (signed by J. Bartholomew on Aug. 15, 2014) 
(Membership Application). 

540 Id.  

541 Id. 
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any bills associated with its participation in PJM as required by section 15.1.3. of the 
Operating Agreement.  Consequently, we find that GreenHat’s failure to cover the losses 
associated with its FTR portfolio constitutes a violation of the payment obligations 
outlined in section 15.1.3 of PJM’s Operating Agreement that began on June 21, 2018 
and remains ongoing.   

 We find unpersuasive Respondents’ argument that a market participant’s default is 
an insufficient basis to find a violation.542  This argument misses the point because 
whether or not any and all defaults are Tariff violations is not the issue before us.  As 
discussed above, section 15.1.3 of the PJM Operating Agreement requires members to 
pay its bills fully and on time.  GreenHat knew of this obligation and made no attempt to 
pay the bill for its FTR losses.  Instead, GreenHat intentionally defaulted rather than pay 
what it owed PJM.  Thus, by defaulting, it violated that requirement.   

 Similarly, we disagree with Respondents’ reliance on PJM’s statements that its 
rules do not provide “absolute” protection against defaults.543  Respondents cite to PJM’s 
June 25, 2018 Answer in Docket No. EL18-170-000 in support of this proposition, but 
PJM’s statements about how well its then-current rules protected against a default do not 
address or rebut the violation described herein, namely that GreenHat violated the PJM 
Operating Agreement by failing to fulfill the payment obligations required of it.   

b. PJM Tariff Attachment Q, Section Ia.B (Risk 
Management and Verification) 

 Since 2011, Attachment Q of PJM’s Tariff has required that all Market 
Participants provide to PJM an annual Officer Certification Form as part of PJM’s 
minimum participation criteria.544  This Tariff section puts market participants on notice 

 
542 Respondents’ Answer at 41 (citing DC Energy LLC v. PJM Interconnection, 

L.L.C., Answer of PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Docket No. EL18-170-000).  
Respondents also generally cite to the Power Edge OE Staff Report in support of this 
proposition but do not explain its relevance.  As such, we decline to do so on 
Respondents’ behalf.  

543 Respondents’ Answer at 41.   

544 See PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, § Ia.B (“All Participants shall provide to 
PJMSettlement [sic] an executed copy of the annual certification set forth in Appendix 1 
to this Attachment Q.  This certification shall be provided before an entity is eligible to 
participate in the PJM Markets and shall be initially submitted to PJMSettlement [sic] 
together with the entity’s Credit Application.  Thereafter, it shall be submitted each 
calendar year by all Participants during a period beginning on January 1 and ending April 
30 . . .”).  The annual certification requirement added to Attachment Q was approved by 
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that by submitting the annual Officer Certification Form, “[p]articipants acknowledge 
and understand that the annual certification constitutes a representation upon which 
PJMSettlement will rely.  Such representation is additionally made under the PJM Tariff, 
filed with and accepted by FERC, and any inaccurate or incomplete statement may 
subject the Participant to action by FERC.”545 

 Among other things, the Officer Certification Form includes attestations that the 
participant on “no less than a weekly basis, . . . values its FTR positions and engages in a 
probabilistic assessment of the hypothetical risk of such positions using analytically 
based methodologies, predicated on the use of industry accepted valuation 
methodologies” and “applies its written policies, procedures and controls to limit its risks 
using industry recognized practices, such as value-at-risk limitations, concentration 
limits, or other controls designed to prevent Participant from purposefully or 
unintentionally taking on risk that is not commensurate or proportional to Participant’s 
financial capability to manage such risk.”546  The Officer Certification Form also includes 
an attestation “that the financial statements provided to PJMSettlement present fairly, 
pursuant to such disclosures in such financial statements, the financial position of 
Participant as of the date of those financial statements.”547   

 Further, the Officer Certification Form includes an attestation that “Participant has 
demonstrated compliance with the Minimum Capitalization criteria set forth in 
Attachment Q of the [PJM Tariff] that are applicable to the PJM market(s) in which 
Participant transacts, and is not aware of any change having occurred or being imminent 
that would invalidate such compliance.”548  Attachment Q requires that “FTR Participants 
must demonstrate a tangible net worth in excess of $1 million or tangible assets in excess 
of $10 million.”549 

 
Commission order with an effective date of October 1, 2011.  See PJM Interconnection, 
LLC, 136 FERC ¶ 61,190 at PP 1, 112-113.   

545 PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, § Ia.B.  Certain FTR Market Participants, such as 
GreenHat, are also required to submit a copy of their current governing risk control 
policies, procedures, and controls applicable to their FTR trading activities every year at 
the time they make their annual certification.  Id. 

546 Id., app. 1, art. 3.b. 

547 Id. art. 6.a. 

548 Id. art. 5. 

549 Id. § Ia.C. 
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i. OE Staff Report and Reply 

 OE Staff alleges that GreenHat violated section Ia.B of Attachment Q to PJM’s 
Tariff by making false certifications in the annual Officer Certification Form submitted to 
PJM for years 2014 through 2018.550  Specifically, OE Staff argues that GreenHat falsely 
certified three of the representations in this Form. 

 OE Staff alleges that GreenHat falsely certified to Representation 3(b) of the 
Officer Certification Form when it attested that it limited “its risks using industry 
recognized practices, such as value-at-risk limitations, concentration limits, or other 
controls designed to prevent [GreenHat] from purposefully or unintentionally taking on 
risk that is not commensurate or proportional to [GreenHat’s] financial capability to 
manage such risk.”551 

 OE Staff further alleges that GreenHat falsely certified to Representation 5 of the 
Officer Certification Form when it “demonstrated compliance with the minimum 
capitalization criteria set forth in Attachment Q” and then attested that it “was not aware 
of any change having occurred or being imminent that would invalidate such 
compliance.”552 

 OE Staff’s final allegation is that GreenHat falsely certified to Representation 6(a) 
of the Officer Certification Form when it attested that the financial statements submitted 
by GreenHat fairly presented, “the financial position of [GreenHat] as of the date of those 
financial statements . . .”553 

 OE Staff notes that any PJM statements in July 2018 concerning GreenHat and 
Attachment Q to PJM’s Tariff are irrelevant to the violations alleged by OE Staff.554 

 
550 OE Staff Report at 78. 

551 Id. (quoting PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, app. 1, art. 3.b.); OE Staff Reply at 29-
30.  See also GH_0001959. 

552 OE Staff Report at 78 (quoting PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, app. 1, art. 5); see 
also GH_0001959. 

553 OE Staff Report at 78 (quoting PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, app. 1, art. 6.a); see 
also GH_0001960.  Representation 6(a) was approved by Commission Order with an 
effective date of August 12, 2013.  See PJM Interconnection, LLC and PJM Settlement, 
Inc., 144 FERC ¶ 61,119, at PP 1 and 4 (2013).   

554 OE Staff Reply at 88-89.  See infra note 557. 
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ii. Respondents’ Answer 

 Respondents argue that GreenHat followed PJM’s own valuation methodologies 
and was fully transparent about its risk management practices.555  Respondents represent 
that PJM has acknowledged that GreenHat acquired its FTR positions in accordance with 
the credit and collateral requirements of PJM’s Tariff, generally, and Attachment Q, in 
particular, which includes the annual officer certification form.556 

iii. Commission Determination 

 We find that GreenHat violated section Ia.B of Attachment Q to PJM’s Tariff by 
falsely certifying to Representation 3(b) of the 2014-2018 Officer Certification Forms 
(Appendix 1 to Attachment Q) that it employed on “no less than a weekly basis . . .  
industry accepted valuation methodologies” and that it limited its risk “using industry 
recognized practices, such as value-at-risk limitations, concentration limits, or other 
controls designed to prevent [GreenHat] from purposefully or unintentionally taking on 
risk that is not commensurate or proportional to [GreenHat’s] financial capability to 
manage such risk.”557  As discussed in Section III.B.1, Respondents knew that acquiring 
FTRs based on collateral minimization using the PJM Credit Calculator had created a 
massively unprofitable FTR portfolio.  Yet, they continued to use it.  As an example, in 
September 2017, Bartholomew and Kittell separately calculated that GreenHat’s portfolio 
then had a mark-to-auction value of negative $36 million.558  Nevertheless, GreenHat 
continued to use the PJM Credit Calculator to identify and purchase FTRs that would 
minimize its collateral requirements.  In December 2017, for example, GreenHat bought 

 
555 Respondents’ Answer at 41 (referencing Respondents’ Answer at 17, where 

GreenHat notes that its risk management policy, which PJM received, explained that 
GreenHat did not use a liquidity-dependent market-to-auction methodology for risk 
management purposes). 

556 Id. at 41-42 (quoting PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., Limited Answer, Docket 
No. EL18-170-000, at 5 (filed July 11, 2018)). 

557 See PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, app. 1, art. 3.b; PJM_001412-15 (GreenHat’s 
2014 Officer Certification Form, dated August 24, 2014); GH_0000849-50 (Notice that 
GreenHat completed the 2015 Officer Certification Form, dated March 24, 2015); 
GH_0000931-35 (GreenHat’s 2016 Officer Certification Form, dated April 22, 2016); 
GH_0006103-107 (GreenHat’s 2017 Officer Certification Form, dated April 14, 2017); 
GH_0010213-217 (GreenHat’s 2018 Officer Certification Form, dated April 25, 2018).    

558 GH_0020751 (Kittell spreadsheet); GH_0020740.xlsx (Bartholomew 
spreadsheet).   
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more than 148 million MWh of planning year 18/19, 19/20, and 20/21 using this tool.559  
GreenHat’s continued use of the PJM Credit Calculator to effectuate its collateral-
minimizing method of deciding which FTRs to purchase in the face of an ever more 
unprofitable FTR portfolio shows that GreenHat did not have the adequate risk 
management controls that it certified to in Representation 3(b) of the Officer Certification 
Forms.  If it did, such risk management controls should have prevented GreenHat from 
purposefully taking on risk that it was not financially capable of managing.560  
Accordingly, we find that this certification was false.      

 We also find that GreenHat violated section Ia.B of Attachment Q to PJM’s Tariff 
by falsely certifying to Representation 5 of the 2017-2018 Officer Certification Forms 
(Appendix 1 to Attachment Q) that it was not aware of any change having occurred or 
being imminent that would invalidate compliance with the minimum capitalization 
criteria.561  As discussed supra Section IV.B.4, Respondents knew by March 17, 2017 
that the company was in danger of defaulting on its FTR positions when PJM contacted 
GreenHat about a potential margin call.562  In response, GreenHat did nothing to shore up 
the financial position of the company.  Instead, the individual Respondents met the next 
day and authorized the transfer of all of the funds in GreenHat’s account (approximately 
$5.8 million) into the account of GreenHat’s parent company, Off Fannin.563  And by 
April 4, 2017, Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and Kittell had moved almost all of the funds 

 
559 PJM_Data_Extract_00001_GreenHat Activity in PJM Auctions. 

560 See supra section IV.B.1 (discussing that as the size of GreenHat’s FTR 
portfolio grew from 12.5 million MWh to 889 million MWh from 2015-2018, its cash 
deposits shrank from $5 million to $559,447 as did the amount of collateral it was posting 
per MWh (from posting 40 cents of collateral per MWh in June 2015 to posting less than 
a penny of collateral per MWh in June 2018)).  See also PJM_088452; GreenHat Energy 
LLC Collateral History.xlsx. 

561 See PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, app. 1, art. 5; see supra note 558.   

562 See GH_0006545 (Email from J. Bartholomew to H. Loomis (Mar. 17, 2017)) 
(confirming call); GH_0005471 (Email from A. Kittell to S. Daugherty (Mar. 20, 2017)) 
(referring to “the Friday call between GreenHat and PJM”).  See also GH_0005592 
(Email from S. Daugherty to A. Kittell (Mar. 21, 2017)) (attaching email explaining basis 
for $35-36 million estimate). 

563 See GH_0016019 (“Off Fannin Holdings, LLC (‘Off Fannin’) hereby 
authorizes its subsidiary GreenHat Energy LLC (‘GreenHat’) to make a distribution of 
$5,820,357.48 to Off Fannin. . . Ownership of the funds shall transfer immediately.”) 
(Mar. 18, 2017).   
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from Off Fannin into their personal accounts.564  Shortly thereafter, on April 14, 2017, 
GreenHat certified to Representation 5 of its 2017 Officer Certification Form.565  This 
certification was false because GreenHat was aware that changes had occurred (which it 
initiated by transferring funds from the company accounts) that would impact its ability 
to meet PJM’s minimum capitalization criteria (a tangible net worth in excess of $1 
million or tangible assets in excess of $10 million) in the face of likely FTR losses.   

 As discussed supra Sections IV.B.2 and 4, a similar sequence of events occurred 
in April 2018 when, having received a payment of $2 million from its sale of FTRs to 
BETM on April 4, 2018, GreenHat subsequently transferred $1.85 million from the Off 
Fannin company account to the individual Respondents’ personal bank accounts on    
April 23, 2018.566  At the time of these transfers, the individual Respondents were aware 
(as they had been since September 2017) that GreenHat’s portfolio was likely to begin 
defaulting in June 2018.567  As in 2017, by continuing to transfer money from the 
company’s accounts in the face of these impending losses, GreenHat was aware that 
changes had occurred (which, again, it had initiated by transferring funds from company 
accounts) that would impact its ability to meet PJM’s minimum capitalization criteria.  
By May 15, 2018, GreenHat’s company accounts held $171,143.23, with only 
$558,495.69 in collateral (or about $58,500 more than the minimum) posted with PJM.568  
By this same time, Kittell, GreenHat’s then-current owner, had already estimated that 
June 2018 would bring $2.2 million in FTR losses and, despite this knowledge, GreenHat 
still made the April 2018 transfers out of its company accounts.569  As such, GreenHat 

 
564 See GH_0034042, “Off Fannin Account” Tab. 

565 See supra note 558.   

566 GH_0034042, “GH PJM Settlements Account” Tab.  See also GH_0034042, 
“Off Fannin Account” Tab.  On April 11, 2018, GreenHat transferred $1.85 million to 
Off Fannin.  Id.  On April 23, 2018, Off Fannin transferred $499,500 apiece to 
Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn and $851,000 to Kittell.  Id. 

567 See discussion supra P 144-145. 

568 GH_0034042, “GH Operations Account” Tab (for value of GreenHat account); 
GH_0034042, “Off Fannin Account” Tab (for value of Off Fannin account); GreenHat 
Energy LLC Collateral History (for collateral posted with PJM in May 2018).   

569 See GH_0020751 (Kittell spreadsheet) and Kittell Test. Vl. II, Exhibit 372 
(summary of Kittell spreadsheet) showing expected FTR losses of $2,209,975 in        
June 2018.  
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could not reasonably certify to Representation 5 of its 2018 Officer Certification Form as 
it did on April 25, 2018 and so we find this certification false.  

 We also find that GreenHat violated section Ia.B of Attachment Q to PJM’s Tariff 
by falsely certifying to Representation 6(a) of the 2016-2018 Officer Certification Forms 
(Appendix 1 to Attachment Q) that “the financial statements provided to PJMSettlement 
present fairly, pursuant to such disclosures in such financial statements, the financial 
position of Participant as of the date of those financial statements.”570  As discussed 
supra Section IV.B.1, GreenHat used the Credit Calculator to select FTRs that would 
minimize its collateral obligations but did not use the Credit Calculator to value its FTRs.  
This is borne out by GreenHat’s conduct when it sought to sell FTRs to third parties, 
where it uniformly relied on mark-to-auction values to determine its FTRs’ profitability, 
not Credit Calculator values, which were based on out-of-date congestion data across the 
previous three years.571  Similarly, when Kittell and Bartholomew estimated the value of 
GreenHat’s portfolio in September 2017, they valued GreenHat’s FTR portfolio based on 
the most recent PJM auction prices, not the Credit Calculator.572  Yet, when it created the 
financial statements that it submitted to PJM, GreenHat directed its auditors to rely on the 
PJM Credit Calculator to value its FTR portfolio.573  Because GreenHat’s behavior shows 
that it understood that Credit Calculator values were not reliable indicators of an FTR’s 
value, it should not have used this valuation methodology in its financial statements 
because such financial statements would not fairly reflect the financial position of the 
company.  Certifying to the validity of the PJM Credit Calculator method of valuing 
FTRs for its financial statements when it did not support this valuation methodology in 

 
570 See PJM Tariff, Attachment Q, app. 1, art. 6.a; see also supra note 558.   

571 See supra note 97.   

572 See supra note 559.  Both spreadsheets present valuations using “ACP” or the 
“Auction Clearing Price.”   

573 See, e.g. GH_0003692 (Email from A. Kittell to K. Wilks (April 15, 2016)) 
(Discussing FTR valuations for GreenHat’s 2015 end-of-year financial statements, Kittell 
writes, “All of those FTRs are valued using the new CC [PJM Credit Calculator] 
historical data just like we talked about.”).  GreenHat likewise instructed its auditor to use 
the PJM Credit Calculator to value GreenHat’s FTR portfolio in the company’s end-of-
year 2016 and mid-year 2017 financial statements.  See GH_0008761-770, at 
GH_0008769 (notes on financial statements for year ending 2016 and 2015) and 
GH_0006161-170, at GH_0006169 (notes on financial statements for six-month-period 
ending June 2017). 
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other contexts reinforces the conclusion that GreenHat’s certifications to Representation 
6(a) of the Officer Certification Form were false.   

 As to Respondents’ certifications to both Representations 3(b) and 6(a), we find 
unpersuasive Respondents’ argument that they followed PJM’s own valuation 
methodologies and were fully transparent about GreenHat’s risk management 
practices.574  As discussed above, by certifying to Representation 6(a) of the Officer 
Certification Form, GreenHat was attesting that the financial statements that it submitted 
fairly presented the financial position of the company.  Respondents’ use of the PJM 
Credit Calculator to value its FTR positions resulted in financial statements that did not 
fairly reflect the financial position of the company.  Thus, by relying on this valuation 
methodology, GreenHat provided a false certification in Representation 6(a) of the 
Officer Certification Form.  Similarly, whether GreenHat was transparent with PJM or 
not about its risk management practices is irrelevant to our finding that GreenHat’s 
continued use of the PJM Credit Calculator to select FTRs indicates ineffective risk 
management practices.  It is GreenHat’s certification that its risk management practices 
were effective that form the basis of our finding that GreenHat falsely certified to 
Representation 3(b) of the Officer Certification Form.575   

 Similarly, we reject as irrelevant Respondents’ reliance on PJM’s statements from 
2018 that GreenHat complied with the credit and collateral requirements of PJM’s Tariff, 
generally, and Attachment Q, in particular, when it acquired its FTR positions.576  PJM’s 
statements less than a month after GreenHat defaulted do not refute the false 
certifications GreenHat made on its Officer Certifications, as these violations only 
became evident during the course of OE Staff’s investigation into GreenHat’s default.  
Moreover, PJM’s statements in July 2018 were not based on all the information that is 
now known, and so are not relevant to the PJM annual Officer Certification Form 
violations being considered by the Commission in this proceeding. 

 Though we find violations of Attachment Q from 2014-2018, we recognize that 
the applicable five-year statute of limitations (28 U.S.C. § 2462) bars the Commission 

 
574 Respondents’ Answer at 41. 

575 In his concurrence, Commissioner Danly expressly asked the Respondents and 
OE Staff whether GreenHat can be found to have submitted false certifications if the 
company clearly stated the grounds for its certifications.  See Danly May 20, 2021 
Concurrence at P 29.  The Commission notes that neither addressed this question in their 
Answers or Reply. 

576 Respondents’ Answer at 41-42 (quoting PJM Interconnection, LLC, Limited 
Answer, Docket No. EL18-170-000, at 5 (filed July 11, 2018)). 
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from penalizing GreenHat for violations that occurred more than five years prior to the 
issuance of the Order to Show Cause in this proceeding (issued May 20, 2021).  
Consequently, any sanctions assessed infra Section E (Remedies and Sanctions), only 
consider violations to Attachment Q stemming from false certifications made on the 2017 
and 2018 Officer Certification Forms as the 2016 Form was submitted to PJM before 
May 20, 2016. 

D. Additional Issues Raised by Respondents 

1. Respondents’ Allegations Regarding Investigative Process and 
Investigative Staff 

 Respondents have raised fairness concerns with the investigative process in this 
case.577  We have reviewed those concerns and find them to be without merit.578  The 
Commission and its staff are dedicated to the facilitation of well-functioning markets that 
produce just and reasonable rates, which includes investigating conduct that may violate 
statutory, regulatory, and tariff requirements, and, if warranted, finding violations and 
assessing civil penalties under the Commission’s broad statutory anti-manipulation 
authority.  The processes for doing so are robust and fair—and none of Respondents’ 
allegations of an unfair process detract from the substantial merits evidence of 
Respondents’ misconduct.  Criticisms of the investigative process generally or as to these 
Respondents specifically are not material to the substance of the Commission’s findings 
here. 

2. Respondents’ Allegations Regarding Statute of Limitations 

 Respondents have also raised concerns about the statute of limitations in this case, 
namely that at least a portion of the alleged misconduct is time-barred.579  In response, 
OE Staff notes that because the Order to Show Cause was issued on May 20, 2021, all of 

 
577 See, e.g., id. at 6-10; Kittell Estate Answer at 7-12.  These allegations concern 

the investigative phase of this proceeding prior to the issuance of the Order to Show 
Cause and do not involve the subject matter of the Notice issued in this matter, addressed 
supra Section III. 

578 With respect to Respondents’ allegations concerning a meeting that some 
Commission staff attended with PJM independent consultants who were evaluating PJM's 
handling of the GreenHat default, the OIG investigated the matter and concluded that 
there was no merit to GreenHat’s allegations concerning the conduct of OE Staff.  See, 
e.g., Shell Energy, 173 FERC ¶ 61,153 at PP 59-61. 

579 Respondents’ Answer at 42. 
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Respondents’ conduct after May 20, 2016 is within the statute of limitations.580  OE Staff 
asserts that the legal theories laid out in the OE Staff Report are based on conduct within 
the statute of limitations.   

 We have reviewed Respondents’ concerns and find the statute of limitations has 
no impact on the Commission’s findings.  As for the first two violations of FPA section 
222(a) and the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule, GreenHat sold or defaulted on all 
of the relevant FTRs during the statute of limitations; therefore, our inclusion of all of 
those FTRs in the penalty assessment is not constrained by the statute of limitations.  To 
the degree that any conduct related to those FTRs occurred outside the statute of 
limitations, our inclusion of such conduct in the violation would still be proper pursuant 
to the “continuing violation” doctrine.581 

 Conduct relevant to the third and fourth violations of FPA section 222(a) and the 
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule occurred within the limitations period, as did the 
conduct relevant to the violation of section 15.1.3 of PJM’s Operating Agreement and the 
2017-2018 certifications relevant to the violations of PJM Tariff Attachment Q, section 
Ia.B.  We need not reach the issue of whether the 2014-2016 certifications should be 
considered to be within the statute of limitations pursuant to the “continuing violation” 
doctrine because we are not assessing penalties for violations relying on those 
certifications.582   

3. Respondents’ Allegation Regarding “Clear Prior Notice” 

 We note that Respondents briefly allege that OE Staff’s case violates the 
Constitution by depriving them of clear prior notice.583  However, Respondents do not 
explain the basis for this assertion in the context of their conduct; nor do they explain 
how the principle they quote from the Supreme Court decision in Federal 
Communications Commission v. Fox Television Stations, Inc. was violated in this matter.  
In response to this allegation, OE Staff argues that Respondents’ claims are “specious” 

 
580 OE Staff Reply at 74 (citing FERC v. Powhatan Energy Fund, LLC, 949 F.3d 

891 (4th Cir. 2020)). 

581 See, e.g., Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 380–81 (1982) 
(finding claims that fell outside of the statutory period were not time-barred where the 
violation was continuing and at least one incident fell within the period). 

582 See supra P 241.   

583 Respondents’ Answer at 43 (quoting FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc.,  
132 S. Ct. 2307, 2317 (2012)). 
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and that they did have fair notice.584  We agree with OE Staff and disagree with 
Respondents’ contention that they were deprived of “clear prior notice” that their conduct 
was unlawful.  The Commission has repeatedly rejected this argument in manipulation 
cases, and courts have agreed.585  Respondents have provided no record evidence to 
support their contentions nor to convince us that they were not on notice that their 
conduct was unlawful.   

E. Remedies and Sanctions  

 Having found that Respondents violated FPA section 222, the Anti-Manipulation 
Rule, section 15.1.3 of PJM’s Operating Agreement, and Attachment Q of PJM’s Tariff, 
we now must determine the appropriate remedies.  OE Staff recommends that civil 
penalties be assessed against GreenHat, Bartholomew, and Ziegenhorn and that 
Respondents, jointly and severally, be required to disgorge, with interest, the unjust 
profits from their scheme.  After assessing the legal and factual issues, including those 
raised by Respondents, and taking into consideration the seriousness of the violations and 
the efforts to remedy them in a timely manner, we agree with OE Staff’s recommendation 
to assess penalties and require disgorgement, as described below.586 

1. Penalties 

 FPA section 222 provides that “[i]t shall be unlawful for any entity . . . directly or 
indirectly, to use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of electric energy . . . 
subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance . . . .”587  Pursuant to FPA section 316A(b), the Commission may assess a 
civil penalty of up to $1 million per day, per violation against any person who violates 
Part II of the FPA (including section 222) or any rule thereunder.588  In determining the 

 
584 OE Staff Reply at 86. 

585 See, e.g., Coaltrain Energy, L.P., 155 FERC ¶ 61,204, at PP 194-97 (2016) 
(Coaltrain); Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179 at P 115; City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012  
at P 163; FERC v. City Power Mktg., LLC, 199 F. Supp. 3d at 238; FERC v. Silkman,  
177 F. Supp. 3d 683, 702-06 (D. Mass 2016). 

586 See 16 U.S.C. § 825o-1(b). 

587  Id. § 824v(a). 

588 Id. § 825o-1(b).  This penalty authority has since been adjusted to $1,307,164 
per violation, per day to reflect inflation.  See Order No. 875, 174 FERC ¶ 61,015 at P 8.  
The change is immaterial here, since the proposed penalty range is substantially lower 
than the maximum allowed by the FPA.  
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appropriate penalty amount, FPA section 316A(b) requires the Commission to consider 
“the seriousness of the violation and the efforts of such person to remedy the violation in 
a timely manner.”589  

 The Commission has adopted Penalty Guidelines to perform this statutory penalty 
analysis and provide a civil penalty range for violations by companies, such as 
GreenHat.590  The 2008 Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement and 2005 Policy 
Statement on Enforcement also inform the Commission’s analysis.591  The Penalty 
Guidelines use two sets of factors to establish penalties.  First, the Penalty Guidelines 
calculate a Base Penalty amount based on factors specifically tailored to the seriousness 
of the violation, including the harm caused by the violation.592  Second, the Penalty 
Guidelines consider several culpability factors, including efforts to remedy violations, 
which lead to minimum and maximum multipliers of the Base Penalty amount.593  The 
Penalty Guidelines then combine these sets of factors to arrive at the penalty range.594  
After establishing a penalty range, the Commission examines the specific facts of each 
case to determine where the penalty should fall, and in appropriate cases, whether a 
penalty should be outside the range.595  

 The Penalty Guidelines do not apply to individuals such as Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn.  Instead, the Commission determines penalties for individuals based on the 
facts and circumstances as applied to five factors, pursuant to FPA section 316A: (1) the 

 
589 16 U.S.C. § 825o-1(b). 

590 See FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1C2.5; see generally Revised Policy Statement 
on Penalty Guidelines, 132 FERC ¶ 61,216; Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelines, 130 
FERC ¶ 61,220.  The FERC Penalty Guidelines are appended to the Revised Policy 
Statement on Penalty Guidelines.   

591 Enf't of Statutes, Reguls., & Ords., 123 FERC ¶ 61,156 (2008) (Revised Policy 
Statement on Enforcement); Enf't of Statutes, Ords., Rules, & Reguls., 113 FERC ¶ 
61,068 (2005) (Policy Statement on Enforcement). 

592 See FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1C2.2(a). 

593 See id. §§ 1C2.3 (Culpability Score), 1C2.4 (Minimum and Maximum 
Multipliers). 

594 See id. § 1C2.5. 

595 Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelines, 130 FERC ¶ 61,220 at P 32 (“We do 
not intend to depart from the Penalty Guidelines regularly, but neither will we always 
adhere to a rigid application of them.”).   
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seriousness of the violation; (2) commitment to compliance; (3) self-reporting; 
(4) cooperation; and (5) reliance on OE Staff guidance.596 

a. Assessment of Civil Penalty Against GreenHat 

i. OE Staff Report  

 OE staff recommends a civil penalty for GreenHat of $179 million.597  OE Staff 
states that, under the Penalty Guidelines, the base penalty in this case is the pecuniary 
loss from the violation because that amount is larger than any of the Violation Levels in 
the Penalty Guidelines.598  The pecuniary loss identified by OE Staff corresponds to 
GreenHat’s total FTR losses of $179,600,573 which PJM has had to allocate to its other 
members.599  

 In assessing GreenHat’s culpability score, OE Staff notes that most of the 
culpability factors which would add or subtract points to the base culpability score of five 
are inapplicable.600  OE Staff states that the only potentially relevant culpability score 
factor is cooperation and the Penalty Guidelines provide for credit on this basis only for 
“full cooperation.”601  OE Staff asserts that GreenHat does not qualify for a culpability 
reduction for full cooperation because its then-owner, Kittell, failed to cooperate in 
scheduling testimony and GreenHat refused to respond to data requests seeking 
information (as opposed to documents). 

 
596 See Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement, 123 FERC ¶ 61,156 at PP 54- 

71; City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 at P 229; Maxim Power Corp., 151 FERC ¶ 61,094, 
at P 107 (2015) (Maxim Power). 

597 OE Staff Report at 109. 

598 Id. at 107 (citing FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1C2.2(a) (Base Penalty is “the 
greatest of (1) the amount from the table in subsection (b) below corresponding to the 
violation level . . . (2) the pecuniary gain to the organization from the violation; or (3) the 
pecuniary loss from the violation caused by the organization”) (emphasis added)). 

599 Id.  

600 Id. at 108.  Specifically, the culpability factors of high-level personnel 
involvement (not applicable to a company with so few employees), prior history, 
violation of an order, obstruction of justice, effective compliance program, self-report, 
and admission of liability are inapplicable in this case.  Id. 

601 Id. 
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 OE Staff calculates a total culpability score of 5 points which produces a 

multiplier of 1.0 to 2.0 and a penalty range of $179 million to $358 million.602  OE Staff 
recommends a civil penalty of $179 million and notes that this penalty is within the 
Commission’s statutory authority, at the time of the violations, to impose penalties of up 
to $1,307,164 per violation per day because GreenHat implemented its scheme over at 
least a three-year period.603 

ii. Respondents’ Answer 

 Respondents do not directly address OE Staff’s recommended penalty in their 
Answer.  Respondents indirectly comment on the pecuniary loss caused by their scheme 
when they state that, “PJM members on net profited from GreenHat’s FTR portfolio with 
PJM.”604  Respondents also assert that GreenHat’s bilateral FTR sales left PJM members 
“better off (emphasis in original) . . . because [t]hose sales reduced the size of 
[GreenHat’s] default.”605 

iii. OE Staff Reply 

 OE Staff argues that, contrary to Respondents’ claim, PJM is not “better off” 
because Greenhat sold FTRs bilaterally.606  OE Staff asserts that GreenHat’s third-party 
sales removed FTRs from GreenHat’s portfolio that had increased in value since 
GreenHat bought them.  OE Staff asserts that removing in-the-money assets from an 
overall negatively-valued portfolio necessarily pushes the portfolio further below water 
and increases the losses that other PJM members will be forced to cover.  OE Staff 
generally contends that the evidence cited by Respondents is unavailing.607 

 
602 Id. at 109. 

603 Id.; see also supra note 589.  

604 Respondents’ Answer at 6.   

605 Id. at 22. 

606 OE Staff Reply at 51. 

607 Id. at 51-52. 
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iv. Commission Determination  

(a) Seriousness of the Violation  

 The Commission’s Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement identifies several 
factors to consider in our analysis of the seriousness of the violations under the FPA.608  
We discuss these factors below to the extent that they are relevant to Respondents’ 
conduct.  

 Harm Caused by the Violations. The Penalty Guidelines measure a violation’s 
seriousness by examining the loss caused.609  Commentary Application Note 2(A) to 
Penalty Guidelines § 2B1.1 specifies that “loss” is the greater of the “actual loss or 
intended loss.”610  Commentary Application Note 2(A) then defines “actual loss” as “the 
reasonably foreseeable pecuniary harm that resulted from the violation.”611  Here, 
Respondents caused $179,600,573 in market harm in the form of the losses on 
GreenHat’s portfolio, which PJM has had to allocate to other PJM members to pay. 

 We disagree with Respondents’ contention that PJM members net profited from 
GreenHat’s FTR portfolio.  Not only do Respondents make this claim without support, 
but we do not see compelling evidence to support this contention.  But even if some 
individual PJM members collaterally profited from GreenHat’s fraud, that does not 
negate the collective harm caused by GreenHat’s default on its FTR portfolio and 
socialization of those costs, nor does it negate our finding that Respondents engaged in a 
fraudulent scheme or absolve them from paying penalties for that fraudulent conduct.   

 We also reject Respondents’ contention that GreenHat’s bilateral sales of its 
profitable FTRs made PJM “better off” because these sales reduced the size of 
GreenHat’s default.  This contention does not hold up under scrutiny.  As an initial 
consideration, Respondents’ claim is without support in the record.  But even if it were 
true and supported, it would not be a mitigating factor in determining the seriousness of 
the violations and the resulting penalty.  The sale of FTRs that had increased in value was 
a critical component of Respondent’s fraud, implemented for the purpose of unjustly 
enriching the individuals.  Any collateral benefit would not render the fundamental nature 
of that conduct any less inappropriate.  In any event, we conclude that by removing in-

 
608 See Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement, 123 FERC ¶ 61,156 at PP 55-

56.   

609 FERC Penalty Guidelines § 2B1.1(b)(1). 

610 Id. §2B1.1, Commentary Application Note 2(A). 

611 Id. 
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the-money FTRs from an overall negatively-valued portfolio, GreenHat necessarily 
reduced the value of its portfolio and thereby increased the losses that other PJM 
members bore when GreenHat defaulted.   

 Manipulation, Deceit, Fraud, and Recklessness or Indifference to Results of 
Actions.  As noted above, Respondents’ manipulative scheme operated as a fraud and 
deceit on the PJM market and PJM market participants. Specifically, GreenHat engaged 
in a fraud by acquiring long-term FTRs at little to no upfront cost, with minimal collateral 
requirements, and no regard for building a profitable portfolio with the intention of 
extracting profits for the individual Respondents by selling FTRs that appeared to have a 
positive value while planning not to pay for any losses on the remainder of its 
unprofitable FTR portfolio.  GreenHat’s conduct in effectuating this scheme over the 
course of three years is evidence of Respondents’ indifference to the results of their 
actions.  GreenHat engaged in deceit when it falsely represented that Shell owed it more 
than $62 million and did so with the intent to convince PJM not to proceed with its 
planned margin call.  Finally, GreenHat engaged in a course of conduct for the purpose of 
impairing, obstructing, or defeating a well-functioning market by submitting inflated bids 
into the PJM long-term FTR auction with the intent to artificially raise the clearing price 
of FTRs that Shell had purchased from GreenHat and offered for sale in the auction.  
GreenHat also impaired, obstructed, or defeated a well-functioning market by removing 
from its portfolio the proceeds of FTRs that had increased in value, thereby increasing the 
likelihood of default and, when default occurred, artificially inflating the costs to be 
borne by the market. 

 Willful Action or in Concert with Others. Respondents’ conduct was willful.  
Respondents knowingly devised and participated in a coordinated scheme with the 
purpose of acquiring a large portfolio of FTRs with the intent to sell off the relatively 
small number of profitable ones and default on the remainder.  Likewise, Respondents 
knowingly submitted bids into PJM’s long-term FTR auction with the intent to increase 
the clearing price of FTRs that Shell had purchased from GreenHat, thereby increasing 
the amount of money that Shell and GreenHat would receive through those auctions. 

(b) Aggravating and Mitigating Culpability 
Factors 

 The Penalty Guidelines rely on minimum and maximum multipliers of the Base 
Penalty to arrive at a penalty range.612  The multipliers are based on a culpability score, 

 
612 FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1C2.4.   
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which starts with a base of 5 points.613  This base culpability score may be adjusted 
upwards or downwards based on several aggravating and mitigating culpability factors.  

 We agree with OE Staff that the majority of the culpability factors identified in the 
Penalty Guidelines are inapplicable in this case.  Specifically, the culpability factors of 
high-level personnel involvement (given the small number of employees), prior history, 
violation of an order, obstruction of justice, effective compliance program, self-report, 
and admission of liability are not present and so do not impact the base culpability 
score.614   

  Cooperation.  We agree with OE Staff that GreenHat is not entitled to a 1-point 
reduction in the culpability score for having cooperated with OE Staff’s investigation.  As 
described above, GreenHat at several points put conditions on its cooperation, including 
that it would not provide narrative responses to OE Staff’s data requests, which we find 
were unreasonable and made its cooperation with the investigation less than full.615  

 We find that GreenHat’s culpability score is 5 points.  A culpability score of 5 
indicates a multiplier of 1.0 to 2.0, which is then applied to the base penalty to produce a 
penalty range.616    

(c) Appropriate Penalty  

 Based on the foregoing factors, we find that there is a need to discourage and deter 
the fraudulent conduct and deceitful statements at issue in this matter.  Because the total 
losses to GreenHat’s FTR portfolio are now known, we find it appropriate to use the actual 
market harm number ($179,600,573) as the base penalty instead of the $179,000,000 
approximation recommended by OE Staff.  Applying the 1.0 to 2.0 multipliers from the 
culpability score to the base penalty produces a penalty range of $179,600,573 to 
$359,201,146 under the Penalty Guidelines.  From this range, we assess a civil penalty of 
$179,600,573 against GreenHat. 

 
613 Id. § 1C2.3.   

614 Id.; see OE Staff Report at 108.   

615 See City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 at P 250 (concluding that Respondent’s 
failure to cooperate with OE Staff’s investigation precluded granting mitigation credit for 
that factor). 

616 FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1C2.5. 
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 While we view GreenHat’s violations as extremely serious, we have chosen to 

assess a civil penalty from the bottom of the penalty range because GreenHat is no longer 
in operation.617   

b. Assessment of Penalty Against Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn 

 The Commission determines penalties “for natural persons based on the facts and 
circumstances of the violation but will look to [the Penalty Guidelines] for guidance in 
setting those penalties.”618  Consistent with the Revised Policy Statement on 
Enforcement, we determine civil penalties for individuals based on the facts and 
circumstances as applied to five factors:  (1) seriousness of the violation; (2) commitment 
to compliance; (3) self-reporting; (4) cooperation; and (5) reliance on OE Staff 
guidance.619 

i. OE Staff Report and Reply 

 OE Staff recommends a civil penalty of $25,000,000 against Bartholomew and 
$25,000,000 against Ziegenhorn, respectively, because the violations at issue are 
extremely serious.620  Respondents, over several years, deliberately carried out one of the 
largest frauds in the history of organized energy markets, leading to the largest default in 
the history of those markets, resulting in losses of more than $179 million.  OE Staff 
notes that Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn showed no commitment to compliance, did not 
self-report their violations, and provided limited cooperation.621   

 OE Staff further explains that the individual Respondents personally gained a total 
of approximately $13 million from the fraud they orchestrated in PJM’s FTR market 

 
617 See Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelines, 130 FERC ¶ 61,220 at P 32 

(“Finally, we also retain some discretion because the Penalty Guidelines produce a 
penalty range, rather than an absolute figure.  Specific facts of each case will determine 
where in the range the ultimate penalty might fall.”) 

618 FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1A1.1, Commentary Application Note 1. 

619 See Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement, 123 FERC ¶ 61,156 at PP 54-
71; City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 at P 229; Maxim Power, 151 FERC ¶ 61,094  
at P 107.   

620 OE Staff Report at 110-111. 

621 Id. at 110. 
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through GreenHat, with Bartholomew personally receiving $2,253,123 in ill-gotten gains, 
while Ziegenhorn received $2,402,546.622   

ii. Respondents’ Answer 

 Respondents do not respond to OE’s Staff’s recommended penalties for 
Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn in their Answer.  

iii. Commission Determination  

 As mentioned above, the Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement identifies 
several factors to consider when making penalty determinations for individuals.623  We 
discuss these factors below to the extent they are relevant to Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn. 

(a) Seriousness of the Violation  

 Harm Caused by the Violation.  Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn both committed 
acts in furtherance of GreenHat’s manipulative scheme which caused more than $179 
million in market harm to PJM and PJM’s members from GreenHat defaulting on its FTR 
Portfolio.  As discussed above, Bartholomew managed GreenHat’s trading, registered 
GreenHat with PJM, was identified to PJM as GreenHat’s trader and Customer Account 
Manager, and created the spreadsheets that GreenHat used to identify FTRs it might 
purchase.  As also discussed above, Ziegenhorn managed the valuation and risk function 
at GreenHat, which included efforts to secure buyers for GreenHat’s FTR portfolio; he 
also authorized wire transfers in and out of GreenHat’s accounts.  Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn continued performing the majority of their respective responsibilities for over 
three years.  Given GreenHat’s small size, the harm caused by GreenHat’s manipulative 
scheme would not have been possible without the individual efforts of Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn. 

 Manipulation, Deceit, Fraud, and Recklessness or Indifference to Results of 
Actions.  As described above, Bartholomew’s and Ziegenhorn’s participation in 
GreenHat’s schemes operated as a fraud and deceit on the PJM market and PJM market 
participants.  

 
622 Id. (citing OE Staff’s “Individual Disgorgement Calculations” spreadsheet 

(“CashFlow to Owners” Tab)). 

623 Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement, 123 FERC ¶ 61,156 at PP 54-71. 
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 Willful Action or in Concert with Others. Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn, in concert 

with Kittell, conceived of and perpetrated GreenHat’s four manipulative schemes in 
PJM’s FTR market.  

(b) Mitigating Factors Relating to Culpability  

 Commitment to Compliance, Self-Reporting, Cooperation, and Reliance on OE 
Staff Guidance.  None of the mitigating culpability factors apply to Bartholomew and 
Ziegenhorn.  They showed no commitment to compliance, did not self-report their 
violations, provided limited cooperation, and did not seek guidance from OE Staff. 

(c) Appropriate Penalty  

 We find that Bartholomew’s and Ziegenhorn’s conduct was serious and 
intentional.  Based on our assessment above, the pleadings in the case, and the Staff 
Report, we find that there is a critical need to discourage and deter unlawful conduct 
similar to that engaged in by Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn.  Taking into consideration 
the factors described above, we find it appropriate to assess a civil penalty of $25 million 
against Bartholomew and a civil penalty of $25 million against Ziegenhorn.  Should 
Bartholomew’s or Ziegenhorn’s ability to pay the stated civil penalty be a concern, we 
will allow Bartholomew and Ziegenhorn to pay their respective penalties pursuant to a 
payment plan negotiated with OE Staff, subject to Commission approval.  Any such 
payment plan should be submitted to the Commission for approval within 30 days of the 
date of this Order. 

c. Modification of the Civil Penalties Assessed 

 The Commission invited Respondents to seek modification of the civil penalty 
amounts enumerated in the Order to Show Cause consistent with FPA section 31(d)(4), 
including based on a contention that they would be unable to pay the amounts 
proposed.624  Neither GreenHat, Bartholomew, nor Ziegenhorn has sought modification 
of the civil penalty amounts originally proposed in the Order to Show Cause and none 
has provided documentation showing that they would be unable to pay the amounts 
proposed therein.  Consequently, we will not modify the civil penalty amounts assessed 
above.   

 
624 See Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 at P 1 & ordering para. (D); see 

also 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(4). 
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2. Disgorgement  

a. OE Staff Report 

 OE Staff recommends that the Commission require Respondents, jointly and 
severally, to disgorge, with interest, the unjust profits from their scheme, the $13,072,428 
in proceeds from GreenHat’s deals with Shell and BETM.625 

 OE Staff states that when “multiple respondents collaborate or have a close 
relationship in executing the fraud,” the Commission routinely imposes joint and several 
liability for disgorgement.626  In addition, OE Staff contends that absent joint and several 
liability, imposition of liability for disgorgement on GreenHat alone would be futile 
given the firm’s financial status. 

b. Respondents’ Answer 

 Respondents assert that “[t]he Commission lacks statutory authority to impose 
disgorgement” because the FPA does not expressly authorize the Commission to impose 
that remedy.627  Respondents claim that the absence of any mention of disgorgement in 
the FPA when compared with the enforcement provision in “the Natural Gas Policy Act 
of 1978, 15 U.S.C. § 3414(b)(4), which expressly authorizes a court in a Commission 
enforcement context to impose restitution, an equitable remedy similar to disgorgement, 
along with other unnamed equitable remedies”628 supports their position that the 
Commission cannot require Respondents to disgorge money they unlawfully obtained in 
PJM’s FTR market. 

 Respondents also assert that the Supreme Court recently decided in AMG Capital 
Management, LLC v. Federal Trade Commission629 that the Federal Trade Commission 

 
625 OE Staff Report at 106 (citing SEC v. Whittemore, 659 F.3d 1, 10 (D.C. Cir. 

2011) (approving joint-and-several liability for disgorgement where there is a close 
relationship between the defendants and collaboration in executing the wrongdoing); Liu 
v. SEC, 140 S. Ct. 1936, 1949 (2020) (Liu) (confirming that “the common law did . . . 
permit [joint and several] liability [for disgorgement] for partners engaged in concerted 
wrongdoing”)).   

626 Id. (quoting, e.g., Coaltrain, 155 FERC ¶ 61,204 at P 360; City Power, 152 
FERC ¶ 61,012 at P 274).   

627 Respondents’ Answer at 42.   

628 Id.   

629 141 S. Ct. 1341 (2021) (AMG). 
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(FTC) lacks authority to seek disgorgement in a court action, which supports their 
position that the Commission has no authority to order disgorgement.630  In addition, 
Respondents argue that the AMG decision also prevents the Commission from relying on 
FPA section 309 – which, in Respondents’ view, is “simply a housekeeping statute” – to 
expand the Commission’s statutory authority.631  Section 309, according to Respondents, 
can only effectuate authority that already exists. 632  

 Respondents further contend that “[t]he Commission similarly lacks any express 
statutory authority to impose joint-and-several liability” for both civil penalties and 
disgorgement and, therefore, that remedy is unavailable.633  With regard to disgorgement, 
Respondents assert that “imposing joint-and-several liability unambiguously turns a 
purportedly equitable remedy into a penalty, because it purports to require any single 
defendant to disgorge funds that ended up in the hands of other defendants.”634  
According to Respondents, this result is impermissible because it transforms the equitable 
remedy into a penalty635 and “equity never lends its aid to enforce a forfeiture or 
penalty.”636   

c. Kittell Estate Answer 

 In addition to the arguments described in the jointly-filed submission, the Kittell 
Estate argues further that, under California law, the Commission cannot seek civil 
penalties from the Kittell Estate, which the Commission would be doing if it were to 

 
630 Respondents’ Answer at 42. 

631 Id. (citing 16 U.S.C § 825h) (“The Commission shall have power to perform 
any and all acts, and to prescribe, issue, make, amend, and rescind such orders, rules, and 
regulations as it may find necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of this 
chapter.”).  “This chapter” refers to Chapter 12 of Title 16; chapter 12 includes, among 
others, provisions prohibiting energy market manipulation (§ 824v) and filing false 
information (§ 824u). 

632 Id. (citing Allegheny Def. Project v. FERC, 964 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2020) (en 
banc)). 

633 Id. at 43. 

634 Id. 

635 Id. (citing Kokesh v. SEC, 137 S. Ct. 1635, 1641-45 (2017)). 

636 Id. (citing Liu, 140 S. Ct. at 1941 (citations omitted)). 
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impose joint and several liability for disgorgement on the estate. 637  The Kittell Estate 
asserts that Kittell received only part of the $13 million that GreenHat earned from 
bilateral transactions— approximately $7 million.638  Of the $7 million, Kittell had put 
approximately $4 million into GreenHat as capital, so he really only received 
approximately $3 million. The Kittell Estate also points out that Kittell paid taxes on this 
money and also paid millions to defend this case, which, it contends, leaves the estate 
with no money that could be considered unjust profits.  

d. OE Staff Reply  

 OE Staff states that FPA section 309 authorizes the Commission to order many 
different forms of substantive relief, including disgorgement and other monetary 
remedies, and disagrees with Respondents’ contention that the Commission has no ability 
under the FPA to disgorge unjust profits.639  OE Staff contends that the Supreme Court’s 
decision in AMG, on which Respondents rely, “does not affect, much less invalidate, 
more than 50 years of decisions interpreting FPA section 309 and NGA section 16.”640 
OE Staff notes that courts and the Commission have held that these provisions of the 
FPA and NGA grant the Commission exceptionally broad discretion in fashioning 
remedies for violations of the FPA and NGA.641    

 OE Staff disagrees with Respondents’ characterization of FPA section 309 as “a 
housekeeping statute” and states that courts have repeatedly determined that FPA section 
309 and NGA section 16 are ‘“not restricted to procedural minutiae.”’642  OE Staff points 
out that in Niagara Mohawk, the D.C. Circuit affirmed that cases construing “necessary 
or appropriate” provisions such as the one in FPA section 309 not only “authorize[s] an 
agency to use means of regulation not spelled out in detail,” but also that ‘“the breadth of 
[Commission] discretion is, if anything, at [its] zenith when the action assailed relates 

 
637 Kittell Estate Answer at 12. 

638 Id. at 13. 

639 OE Staff Reply at 74, 78. 

640 Id. at 78.   

641 Id. at 75.   

642 Id. at 78 (citing Niagara Mohawk, 379 F.2d 153, 158 (D.C. Cir. 1967) 
(emphasis added) (Niagara Mohawk); Verso Corp. v. FERC, 898 F.3d 1, 12 (D.C. Cir. 
2018) (quoting Niagara Mohawk); Mesa Petroleum Co. v. FPC, 441 F.2d 182, 187 (5th 
Cir. 1971) (same) (Mesa); Jupiter Corp. v. FPC, 424 F.2d 783, 791–92 (D.C. Cir. 1969) 
(same)). 
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primarily . . . to the fashioning of policies, remedies and sanctions . . . in order to arrive at 
maximum effectuation of Congressional objectives.”’643  OE Staff notes further that the 
Commission’s powers under FPA section 309 and NGA section 16 include the flexibility 
to order monetary remedies such as disgorgement. 644 

 OE Staff states that, per Niagara Mohawk, the Commission may employ remedies 
“not spelled out in detail” in the FPA if two conditions are met: the remedies (i) 
“conform[] with the purposes and policies of Congress” and (ii) “do[] not contravene any 
terms of the Act.” 645  OE Staff argues that requiring Respondents to disgorge their unjust 
profits satisfies both tests.  First, it would further a central purpose of the FPA, deterring 
and redressing unlawful conduct in the wholesale energy markets.  Second, requiring 
disgorgement would not contravene any terms of the FPA, because nothing in the FPA 
precludes ordering disgorgement and section 309 authorizes the Commission to order 
relief beyond the “express remedies provided for in the Act.” 646     

 OE Staff argues that the Commission should disregard Respondents’ argument 
that compares the explicit mention in the Natural Gas Policy Act (NGPA) of the 
Commission’s authority to order restitution with the absence of any mention in the FPA 
concerning the Commission’s authority to order disgorgement. 647  OE Staff argues that 
the difference is of no consequence because the NGPA and the FPA have “completely 

 
643 Id. at 75 (quoting Niagara Mohawk, 379 F.2d at 159 (emphasis added)).   

644 Id. at 76 (citing, e.g, Transcon. Gas Pipe Line Corp. v. FERC, 485 F.3d 1172, 
1176-77 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (holding that NGA section 16 “gives FERC broad power to 
remedy violations of the Act . . . includ[ing] the power to order monetary remedies for 
violations of contractual obligations”); Pub. Utilities. Comm’n of State of Cal. v. FERC, 
462 F.3d 1027, 1048 (9th Cir. 2006) (holding that FERC “has remedial authority to 
require that entities violating the [FPA] pay restitution for profits gained as a result of a 
statutory or tariff violation. . . . This authority derives from § 309 of the [FPA]”) 
(citations omitted) (CPUC); Towns of Concord, Norwood, & Wellesley, Mass. v. FERC, 
955 F.2d 67, 73 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (“[a]s to ordering refunds of amounts improperly 
collected in excess of the filed rate, the Commission’s authority may also be inferred 
from section 309 of the Act . . . ”); Mesa, 441 F.2d at 188 (“In the specific area of 
ordering refunds, the Commission's authority under § 16 remains broad”)).    

645 Id. at 83 (quoting Niagara Mohawk, 379 F.2d at 158). 

646 Id. at 84 (quoting Mesa, 441 F.2d at 187). 

647 Id. at 77 n.139. 
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different remedial regime[s].”648  OE Staff further argues that “by 1978, it was already 
established that FERC ha[d] broad authority under FPA section 309 to order remedies not 
expressly set forth in the statute, and courts since 1978 have consistently reaffirmed the 
[Commission’s] exercise of that authority.”649    

 OE Staff also argues that the decision in AMG was “based on [the Supreme 
Court’s analysis of] the specific language and history of the FTC Act provisions,”650 
which have no similarity to the remedial provisions in the FPA.  OE Staff points out that 
the Federal Trade Act gave the FTC two separate statutory paths to use in pursuing 
remedial action against an individual or entity alleged to have violated one of the Act’s 
provisions.  Path 1, found in section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 
expressly granted the FTC authority to seek an injunctive remedy in federal court while 
Path 2 (under sections 5 and 19 of the Federal Trade Act) expressly provided for 
monetary relief, but required the FTC to first obtain a “cease and desist order” and meet 
other statutory requirements.651 

 OE Staff argues that the issue before the Supreme Court in AMG was whether the 
FTC could use Path 1 (section 13(b)) to obtain monetary relief despite that it authorized 
only “permanent injunctions” in that section and when FTC staff could have used Path 2 
(sections 5 and 19) which expressly authorized monetary relief under certain 
circumstances.652  OE Staff argues that the Supreme Court held that, given the specific 
text and history of the FTC Act, the FTC could not do an “end around” the requirements 
of Path 2 by seeking monetary relief under Path 1.  

 According to OE Staff, the Court’s reasoning in that case  is inapposite.653  OE 
Staff contends that the Supreme Court found the FTC’s reading of its statute 
unreasonable because the FTC sought to use the “permanent injunction” provision of the 
FTC Act to seek the type of monetary relief that Congress had, in another provision 

 
648 Id. 

649 Id.; see also id. at 76 n.137 (discussing the many court decisions reaffirming 
the Commission’s authority to order disgorgement under the FPA and NGA after 
enactment of the NGPA). 

650 Id. at 78. 

651 See id. at 78-79. 

652 Id. at 78-79. 

653 Id. at 79. 
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enacted at the same time, made available only in certain limited circumstances.654  
Specifically, OE Staff points out that the Supreme Court was careful to note that the FTC 
retained the ability to seek monetary remedies for wrongdoing; the FTC simply needed to 
do so using the procedure that Congress had expressly provided.655   

 With regard to the imposition of joint-and-several liability for disgorgement, OE 
Staff argues that disgorgement here is entirely consistent with the principles set forth in 
Liu v. SEC, even if the Commission were subject to the same constraints as was the SEC 
in Liu.656  OE Staff points out the Court’s observation that the common law permitted 
liability for partners who were involved in “concerted wrongdoing.”657  OE Staff 
contends that this is a “classic case for joint and several liability” because “the 
Respondents acted in concert in all of [their] actions to profit from their fraudulent 
scheme.”658  

 In addition, OE Staff argues that joint and several liability for disgorgement 
satisfies Niagara Mohawk’s two-part test.659  First, OE Staff states that the remedy 
“conforms with the purposes and policies of Congress” because Congress intended the 
remedies that it authorized to be effective and they would not be if owners of closely-held 
companies, like GreenHat, were able to remove funds from the company.660  Second, OE 
staff contends that joint and several liability for disgorgement does not contravene any 
terms of the FPA because nothing in the FPA prohibits it and section 309 has long been 
held to enable the Commission to fashion appropriate relief, even if not otherwise 
expressly set forth in the statute.   

 In response to the Kittell Estate’s Answer, OE Staff asserts that the Commission 
has the authority to pursue a disgorgement claim against the Kittell Estate, and contends 

 
654 Id. at 82. 

655 Id. at 82-83. 

656 Id. at 84.  OE Staff notes that the SEC’s authority to obtain disgorgement is 
derived from a statute that restricted the SEC to granting “equitable relief.”  OE Staff 
notes that FPA section 309 does not contain that limitation.  Id. n.144. 

657 Id. at 84 (citing Liu, 140 S. Ct. at 1949). 

658 Id. at 85. 

659 Id.  

660 Id. (quoting Niagara Mohawk, 379 F.2d at 158). 
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that it should do so here.661  OE Staff states that Kittell’s death does not relieve OE Staff 
or the Commission of the obligation to evaluate the merits of this proceeding and to 
enforce the law.  OE Staff also notes that other enforcement agencies regularly seek 
remedies against estates.662  

 OE Staff also states that the Kittell Estate’s contention that making it jointly and 
severally liable for Respondent’s entire unjust profits rather than the amount that Kittell 
personally received would make it a penalty under California law is unsupported.663  OE 
Staff contends that the Commission should follow federal law (that joint and several 
liability is a permissible remedy for parties who collaborated in misconduct and not a 
penalty) and, if necessary, a California court can later decide whether California law 
reaches a different conclusion.664   

 In addition, OE Staff disputes the Kittell Estate’s contentions regarding the futility 
of collecting money from the Estate.  OE Staff notes that the Kittell Estate does not cite 
any law in support of its contentions that payment of capital, taxes, and attorney’s fees is 
deductible from disgorgement.665  Instead, OE Staff argues that once the government 
shows a reasonable approximation of the disgorgement amount, the burden is on the 
wrongdoer to show that the amount should be lower and that citations to unsupported 
numbers are not a clear demonstration.666  Moreover, OE Staff states that a government 

 
661 Id. at 92. 

662 Id. at 92-93 (citing e.g., SEC v. Estate of Saviano, 2014 WL 5090787 (E.D. 
Mich. Oct. 9, 2014); OE Staff Report at 111 n.358). 

663 Id. at 94. 

664 Id. at 94-95 (citing Liu, 140 S. Ct. at 1940). 

665 Id. at 96.  OE Staff notes that, contrary to the Kittell Estate’s contentions, 
parties that engage in fraud are not entitled to offset disgorgement by the amount paid in 
taxes.  Id. (citing e.g., Donell v. Kowell, 533 F.3d 762, 779 (9th Cir. 2008) (declining to 
allow even good faith investors in a Ponzi scheme to offset disgorgement by amounts 
paid in federal income taxes) (Donell); SEC v. Merchant. Cap., LLC, 486 F. App'x 93, 96 
(11th Cir. 2012) (following Donell) (Merchant. Cap., LLC); Janvey v. Alguire, 647 F.3d 
585, 602 (5th Cir. 2011) (declining to allow offsets for taxes paid on salaries that were 
subject to disgorgement) (Janvey)). 

666 Id. at 96-97 (citing SEC v. Razmilovic, 738 F.3d 14, 32 (2d Cir. 2013), as 
amended (Nov. 26, 2013) (“after SEC provided a reasonable approximation of unjust 
enrichment, defendants ‘were then obliged clearly to demonstrate that the disgorgement 
figure was not a reasonable approximation’”) (quoting SEC v. First City Financial Corp., 
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enforcement agency is not required to trace specific funds that came from the wrongful 
conduct when ordering disgorgement.667 

e. Commission Determination 

 We find that GreenHat is required to disgorge its unjust profits, specifically the 
proceeds of its deals with Shell and BETM, totaling $13,072,428.  As discussed more 
fully below, it is a long-standing Commission practice to require disgorgement of unjust 
profits.668  In cases where pecuniary gain results from a violation, “the Commission 
enters a disgorgement order for the full amount of the gain plus interest.”669  Pecuniary 
gain includes the “before tax profit to the entity resulting from the relevant conduct of the 
violation.”670 

 Because “separating legal from illegal profits exactly may at times be a near 
impossible task,” the disgorgement amount “need only be a reasonable approximation of 
profits causally connected to the violation” and “the burden of uncertainty in calculating 
ill-gotten gains falls on the wrongdoers who create that uncertainty.”671  We find that OE 
Staff correctly calculated “a reasonable approximation of the profits” by calculating the 
proceeds from Respondents’ deals with Shell and BETM.672 

 Therefore, in addition to the civil penalties discussed above, we direct payment of 
disgorgement to PJM, plus applicable interest, of $13,072,428.  Such payment shall be 
made within 60 days of the date of this order.  We will require the interest on these sums 
to be calculated in accordance with 18 C.F.R. § 35.19(a) (2020) for the full period of time 
since GreenHat received the proceeds from its deals with Shell and BETM.  We direct 

 
890 F.2d 1215, 1232 (D.C. Cir. 1989); SEC v. Platforms Wireless Int’l Corp., 617 F.3d 
1072, 1096 (9th Cir. 2010)). 

667 Id. at 97-98 (citing FTC v. Bronson Partners, LLC, 654 F.3d 359, 373-74 (2d 
Cir. 2011) (footnotes omitted); SEC v. Banner Fund Int'l, 211 F.3d 602, 617 (D.C. Cir. 
2000) (“an order to disgorge establishes a personal liability, which the defendant must 
satisfy regardless whether he retains the selfsame proceeds of his wrongdoing”)). 

668 Revised Policy Statement on Enforcement, 123 FERC ¶ 61,156 at P 43. 

669 FERC Penalty Guidelines § 1B1.1(a). 

670 Id. § 1A1.1, Application Note 3(g). 

671 Whittemore, 659 F.3d at 7-8 (internal quotations omitted). 

672 Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179 at P 189; City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 at P 272. 
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PJM to submit a proposal, to be negotiated with and approved by the Director of OE, for 
allocation of the disgorgement funds to entities harmed by GreenHat’s default. 

 Finally, as discussed below, we agree with OE Staff’s recommendation to hold 
Bartholomew, Ziegenhorn, and the Kittell Estate, along with GreenHat, jointly and 
severally liable for the $13,072,428 in unjust profits they received as a result of 
GreenHat’s fraudulent conduct as a remedy only, not as an additional penalty.673  We find 
that applying joint and several liability is appropriate for remedial purposes where, as 
occurred here, multiple respondents collaborate or have a close relationship in executing 
the fraud.674   

i. Disgorgement 

 We agree with OE Staff that the Commission has the authority under section 309 
of the FPA to order monetary remedies such as disgorgement.  As such, we are not 
persuaded by Respondents’ contention that the absence of an explicit congressional grant 
of authority to order disgorgement means that the Commission is without authority to 
order Respondents to disgorge their unlawfully obtained profits.   

 FPA section 309 states: “[t]he Commission shall have power to perform any and 
all acts, and to prescribe, issue, make, amend, and rescind such orders, rules, and 
regulations as it may find necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of this 
chapter.”675  Respondents’ argue that because the FPA, including section 309, does not 
expressly authorize the Commission to order disgorgement as a remedy to the specific 

 
673 See infra PP 307-309. 

674 See e.g., Whittemore, 659 F.3d at 10-11 (affirming finding that multiple 
defendants are jointly and severally liable for disgorgement of unjust profits because of 
their collaboration in a fraudulent securities scheme); see also Xcel Energy Servs. Inc. v. 
FERC, 815 F.3d 947, 954-55 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (holding that the Commission has “broad 
remedial authority” and “unquestionably [has] the authority, in fashioning remedies, to 
consider equitable principles”); Niagara Mohawk, 379 F.2d at 159 (explaining that “the 
breadth of agency discretion is, if anything, at zenith when the action assailed relates . . . 
to the fashioning of policies, remedies and sanctions . . . .”). 

675 16 U.S.C. § 825h (emphasis added).  The words “provisions of this chapter” to 
which this broad grant of mandatory power apply are the FPA provisions codified in 
chapter 12, titled “Federal Power Act,” of title 16 of the U.S. Code.  As we discuss 
below, following enactment and codification of EPAct 2005, chapter 12 of title 16 
includes, among many others, the “prohibition on filing false information,” FPA § 221, 
16 U.S.C. § 824u; and the “prohibition of energy market manipulation,” FPA § 222, 16 
U.S.C. § 824v. 
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violations at issue in this matter, the action is prohibited.  However, as OE Staff points 
out, federal courts have consistently rejected that  argument.676  Federal courts that have 
considered the use of section 309 in a variety of circumstances, beginning with Niagara 
Mohawk, in which the D.C. Circuit affirmed that cases construing “necessary or 
appropriate” provisions, such as the one in FPA section 309, not only “authorize an 
agency to use means of regulation not spelled out in detail,” but also that ‘“the breadth of 
[Commission] discretion is, if anything, at [its] zenith when the action assailed relates 
primarily . . . to the fashioning of policies, remedies and sanctions . . . in order to arrive at 
maximum effectuation of Congressional objectives.”’677 

 Further, we agree with OE Staff that requiring Respondents to disgorge their 
unjust profits satisfies the two-part test in Niagara Mohawk.  Requiring Respondents to 
return the unjust profits from the deals with Shell and BETM that were a part of their 
manipulative scheme will help redress this unlawful conduct in the energy markets.  In 
addition, nothing in the FPA prohibits the Commission from ordering disgorgement and 
section 309 authorizes the Commission to order relief beyond the “express remedies 
provided for in the Act.” 678  Therefore, ordering disgorgement does not contravene any 
terms of the FPA. 679    

 
676 See, e.g., Niagara Mohawk, 379 F. 2d at 158; Mesa, 441 F.2d at 187; Pub. 

Serv. Comm'n of State of N. Y. v. Fed. Power Comm'n, 327 F.2d 893, 897 (D.C. Cir. 
1964) (Construing section 16, the parallel provision in the NGA to section 309, the court 
notes, “[a]ll authority of the Commission need not be found in explicit language.  See 
also American Trucking Ass’n v. U. S., 344 U.S. 298, 309-10 (1953) (rejecting contention 
that” draftsmen of acts delegating agency powers . . . can or do include specific 
consideration of every evil sought to be corrected” and holding that such agencies are 
created with the “fond hope of their authors that they bring to their work the expert's 
familiarity with industry conditions which members of the delegating legislatures cannot 
be expected to possess”).  Section 16 demonstrates a realization by Congress that the 
Commission would be confronted with unforeseen problems of administration in 
regulating this huge industry and should have a basis for coping with such confrontation. 
While the action of the Commission must conform with the terms, policies and purposes 
of the Act, it may use means which are not in all respects spelled out in detail.)   

677 Niagara Mohawk, 379 F.2d at 158-59 (emphasis added).   

678 OE Staff Reply at 84 (quoting Mesa, 441 F.2d at 187). 

679 We are similarly unpersuaded by Respondents’ argument comparing the FPA’s 
lack of specific authorization to order disgorgement to the NGPA, which explicitly 
authorizes the Commission to order restitution.  As already explained, section 309 of the 
FPA provides the Commission with the authority to order remedies not expressly set 
 



Docket No. IN18-9-000  - 135 - 

 
 Moreover, we do not accept Respondents’ contention that the Supreme Court’s 

decision in AMG “applies with full force” to negate the interpretation and application of 
FPA section 309 by federal courts.680  Instead, we agree with OE Staff that the decision is 
inapposite, and therefore provides no support for the result that Respondents seek.  In 
contending that the case supports their position, Respondents focus solely on the fact that 
the Supreme Court rejected the FTC’s argument and pay no attention to the reason why 
the Court regarded the FTC’s argument as unacceptable.  The Court did not reject the 
FTC’s position solely because section 13(b) did not expressly provide for a monetary 
remedy.  That was an important factor but not the critical concern.  The far more 
significant factor in the Supreme Court’s analysis was that the FTC was attempting to 
obtain an order of restitution through section 13(b) to avoid the procedural requirements 
of sections 5 and 19, which already expressly permitted the FTC to obtain such an order.   

 The Court’s reasons in AMG for not allowing the FTC to use section 13(b) to 
obtain monetary relief do not apply here.  Courts have repeatedly recognized the general 
grant of remedial authority in FPA section 309 as a valid legal basis for the Commission 
to order disgorgement.681  Besides this broad remedial grant of authority in section 309, 
and in contrast to the statute at issue in AMG, no other section of the FPA in any way 
precludes the Commission from relying on section 309 to require disgorgement here.  
Thus, AMG does not offer any relevant guidance here. 

 With regard to the arguments raised by the Kittell Estate whether any unjust 
profits remain in the estate for the Commission to disgorge, we find these arguments 
unconvincing.  The Kittell Estate offers no support for its claims that capital 
contributions, taxes, and attorneys’ fees are deductible from disgorgement.  On the 
contrary, as OE Staff explains, the only profits earned by GreenHat were those that 
resulted from its manipulative scheme.  Therefore, absent its manipulation, Kittell would 
not have recouped his initial investment.  In addition, those harmed by Kittell’s actions 
should not have to pay for the cost of his defense, which would be the effect of deducting 
attorneys’ fees from the unjust profits.  Accordingly, we find no basis to deduct such 

 
forth in the statute.  The existence of explicit authorization in another statute with a vastly 
different remedial regime does not alter that conclusion. 

680 Respondents’ Answer at 42. 

681 See, e.g., CPUC, 462 F.3d at 1048 (“FERC also has remedial authority to 
require that entities violating the Federal Power Act pay restitution for profits gained as a 
result of a statutory or tariff violation.  This authority derives from § 309 of the Federal 
Power Act, which authorizes FERC ‘to perform any and all acts, and to prescribe, issue, 
make, amend, and rescind such orders, rules, and regulations as it may find necessary or 
appropriate to carry out the provisions of this Act.’”) (internal citations omitted). 
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capital contributions and attorneys’ fees from disgorgement.  In addition, parties, like the 
Respondents, that engage in fraud are not entitled to offset disgorgement by the amount 
paid in taxes.682     

ii. Joint-and-Several Liability for Disgorgement 

 As noted in the preceding discussion, OE Staff recommends that the Commission 
require Respondents to jointly and severally disgorge the full amount of their gain, plus 
applicable interest, resulting from their manipulative scheme.  Specifically, OE Staff 
alleges in the OE Staff Report that Respondents generated $13,072,428 in proceeds 
through their fraudulent behavior in the PJM FTR market that was distributed among the 
individual Respondents, with Bartholomew receiving about $2.3 million, Ziegenhorn 
about $2.4 million, and Kittell about $8.4 million.683   Moreover, as OE Staff points out, 
“absent joint and several liability, imposition of liability for disgorgement on GreenHat 
alone would be futile given the firm’s financial status.”684 

 In recent cases, when the Commission has found that “multiple respondents 
collaborate or have a close relationship in executing the fraud,” it has routinely imposed 
joint and several liability for disgorgement.685  We disagree with Respondents’ assertion 
that the possibility of one defendant having to disgorge more money than he received as a 
result of his unlawful conduct automatically transforms disgorgement into a penalty.  
Indeed, the Supreme Court’s decision in Liu, cited by Respondents in their Joint Answer, 
recognizes that “[t]he common law did . . . permit [joint-and-several] liability for partners 
engaged in concerted wrongdoing.”686  Here, as discussed above, Bartholomew, 

 
682 E.g., Donell, 533 F.3d at 779 (declining to allow even good faith investors in a 

Ponzi scheme to offset disgorgement by amounts paid in federal income taxes); see 
Merchant. Cap., LLC, 486 F. App'x at 96 (following Donell); Janvey, 647 F.3d at 602 
(declining to allow offsets for taxes paid on salaries that were subject to disgorgement). 

683 OE Staff Report at 107.  The OE Staff Report describes how Respondents 
obtained this sum through bilateral sales of profitable FTRs in GreenHat’s portfolio to 
third parties, namely Shell and BETM.  While the Kittell Estate claims that Kittel 
received approximately $7 million, not $8.4 million, from those bilateral sales, it 
provided no support for that calculation in the record.  Kittell Estate Answer at 13. 

684 OE Staff Report at 107.   

685 E.g., Coaltrain, 155 FERC ¶ 61,204 at P 360; City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 
at P 274. 

686 Liu, 140 S. Ct. at 1949; see also SEC v. AbsoluteFuture.com, 393 F.3d 94, 97 
(2d Cir. 2004) (finding it appropriate to impose joint and several liability for 
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Ziegenhorn, and Kittell, as the owners of GreenHat, acted in concert throughout 
GreenHat’s manipulative schemes and in distributing the unjust profits from those 
schemes to their personal accounts.  Kittell, in particular, was at one point the sole owner 
of GreenHat.687 

 Therefore, we order that disgorgement be imposed jointly-and-severally for all 
Respondents.  We see no reason why those harmed by Respondents’ fraud should receive 
less than the full amount of GreenHat’s unjust profits, simply because GreenHat and its 
owners distributed those unjust profits among themselves.   

F. Rehearing  

 Given Respondents’ election under section 31(d)(3)(A) of the FPA, this Order will 
not be subject to rehearing.688  If a person elects the procedure under section 31(d)(3) of 
the FPA, the statute provides for (i) prompt assessment of a penalty by Commission 
order; (ii) if the penalty is unpaid within 60 days, the Commission shall institute a 
proceeding in the appropriate district court seeking an order affirming the assessment of a 
civil penalty and that court shall have the authority to review de novo the law and facts 
involved; and (iii) the district court shall have the jurisdiction to enforce, modify, or set 
aside, in whole or in part, such penalty assessment.  Following this process, a person can 
appeal to a United States Court of Appeals within the appropriate time for review of the 
district court order.689 

The Commission orders: 
 

(A) GreenHat is hereby directed to pay the United States Treasury by a wire 
transfer a civil penalty in the sum of $179,600,573 and to distribute its unjust profits plus 

 
disgorgement of “combined profits on collaborating or closely related parties”).  

687 See SEC v. First Jersey Securities, Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1472 (2d Cir. 1996) 
(finding that sole owner of company with hands-on involvement in the pertinent 
decisions should be held primarily liable for the company’s violations of the securities 
laws). 

688 See Process for Assessing Civil Penalties, 117 FERC ¶ 61,317, at P 5 (2006); 
see also Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070 at PP 246-247; ETRACOM LLC, 155 FERC ¶ 
61,284 at P 200; Coaltrain, 155 FERC ¶ 61,204 at P 365; Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179, at P 
193; Barclays, 144 FERC ¶ 61,041 at P 152; Competitive Energy Services, LLC, 144 
FERC ¶ 61,163 at P 104; Richard Silkman, 144 FERC ¶ 61,164 at P 96; Lincoln Paper 
and Tissue, LLC, 144 FERC ¶ 61,162 at P 80. 

689 16 U.S.C §823b(d)(3). 
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interest, to PJM, for allocation to entities harmed by GreenHat’s default as discussed in 
the body of this Order.  

 
(B) The Kittell Estate is hereby directed to distribute his unjust profits, plus 

interest, to PJM, for allocation to entities harmed by GreenHat’s default as discussed in 
the body of this Order. 

 
(C) Mr. Ziegenhorn is hereby directed to pay to the United States Treasury by a 

wire transfer a civil penalty in the sum of $25 million and to distribute his unjust profits, 
plus interest, to PJM, for allocation to entities harmed by GreenHat’s default as discussed 
in the body of this Order. 

 
(D) Mr. Bartholomew is hereby directed to pay to the United States Treasury by 

a wire transfer a civil penalty in the sum of $25 million and to distribute his unjust 
profits, plus interest, to PJM, for allocation to entities harmed by GreenHat’s default as 
discussed in the body of this Order. 

 
(E) PJM is hereby directed to submit a proposal, to be negotiated with and 

approved by the Director of OE, for allocation of the disgorgement funds to entities 
harmed by GreenHat’s default. 

 
By the Commission.  Commissioner Danly is dissenting with a separate statement attached. 
 
( S E A L ) 
 
 
 
 
 

Debbie-Anne A. Reese, 
Deputy Secretary. 

 



 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 

 
GreenHat Energy, LLC, John Bartholomew,  
Kevin Ziegenhorn, and Luan Troxel, in her  
capacity as Executor of the Estate of Andrew Kittell 

 Docket No. IN18-9-000 

 
 

(Issued November 5, 2021) 
 
DANLY, Commissioner, dissenting:  
 

 In June of 2018, GreenHat Energy, LLC (GreenHat) defaulted on its obligation to 
make payments for Financial Transmission Rights (FTRs) that came due.  This was the 
largest default in the history of PJM’s FTR market, and it caused PJM’s members to 
suffer approximately $180 million in losses.  As I stated in my concurrence to the Order 
to Show Cause, PJM was roundly and justly criticized for its deficient collateral 
requirements and oversight of GreenHat that allowed this default to happen.1  While not 
the subject of the instant proceeding, we would do well to keep in mind the share of the 
blame that must rightly be assigned to PJM. 

 Given the magnitude of the default, the Commission was correct to launch an 
investigation of GreenHat and its owners (collectively, GreenHat).2  Following the 
conclusion of Enforcement’s investigation, we issued an Order to Show Cause, which I 
supported because I believed there was enough prima facie evidence to warrant a formal, 
open proceeding.  As I explained in my concurrence, there were a number of outstanding 
issues in the case presented by the Commission’s Office of Enforcement (Enforcement) 
that required resolution, amplification, clarity or evidentiary support.3  I also offered 

 
1 GreenHat Energy, LLC, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 (2021) (Danly, Comm’r, concurring 

at P 1) (Order to Show Cause). 

2 GreenHat’s owners were John Bartholomew, Kevin Ziegenhorn, and Andrew 
Kittell.  Mr. Kittell is now deceased, the Commission has named his estate as a 
respondent (Kittell Estate), and now holds that the estate is liable for disgorgement of 
profits from the alleged manipulative scheme. 

3 See Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 (2021) (Danly, Comm’r, 
concurring). 
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guidance to GreenHat and Enforcement as to what information I would have considered 
helpful when responding to the Order to Show Cause.4   

 Having reviewed GreenHat’s answer and Enforcement’s reply, I remain deeply 
skeptical of GreenHat’s explanations.  But my skepticism is irrelevant.  It is not for 
GreenHat to prove its innocence—it is for Enforcement to prove its case to a 
preponderance of the evidence in order to make out a claim of market manipulation and 
for us to decide, based on that evidentiary showing, whether to assess a penalty of 
approximately $180 million and disgorgement of over $13 million.  To do any of that, we 
need proof.  And skepticism about GreenHat’s explanations is not proof. 

 Based on my review of the parties’ submissions, I conclude that Enforcement 
failed to provide the proof necessary to meet its burden.  I therefore dissent in full from 
today’s order assessing civil penalties.5   

I. Enforcement Failed to Meet Its Burden 

A. Elements of Manipulation Claim and Evidentiary Burden 

 We begin with what is required to establish a market manipulation claim.  It must 
be shown by preponderance of the evidence that an entity:   

(1) use[d] a fraudulent device, scheme or artifice, or makes a 
material misrepresentation or a material omission as to which 
there is a duty to speak under a Commission-filed tariff, 
Commission order, rule or regulation, or engage[d] in any act, 
practice, or course of business that operates or would operate 

 
4 See id. (Danly, Comm’r, concurring at PP 3-31). 

5 See GreenHat Energy, LLC, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 (2021) (Order Assessing Civil 
Penalties).  I reserve judgment on the issues raised in Sections III and IV.D. of the Order 
Assessing Civil Penalties, including GreenHat’s claims of Enforcement misconduct, see, 
e.g., id. PP 25-27, 241, until the issuance of a Commission order on the Expedited 
Motion to End Enforcement Action Against the Estate of Andrew Kittell, to Ban Steven 
Tabackman and Thomas Olson from Future Involvement, and for an Investigation by 
Other Offices Within the Commission (filed Oct. 5, 2021).  See id. P 27 (“Nevertheless, 
given the circumstances, the Commission referred the matter to the Commission’s 
designated agent in the Department of Energy’s Office of the Inspector General (OIG).  
As that referral remains outstanding, and in order to fully respect any subsequent findings 
by the OIG, we will not rule on the Kittell Estate motion at this time.  Rather, we will 
address the merits of the motion in a Commission order after the OIG concludes its 
consideration of this matter.”). 
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as a fraud or deceit upon any entity; (2) with the requisite 
scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or sale of . . . 
electric energy . . . or transmission of electric energy subject 
to the jurisdiction of the Commission.6 

“As the proponent of the Order to Show Cause, OE Staff bears the burden of proof, 
which is to say, the ultimate burden of persuasion.”7  The burden then “falls upon 
[GreenHat] to rebut the prima facie case established in the Staff Report: ‘[W]hen the 
party with the burden of persuasion establishes a prima facie case supported by ‘credible 
and credited evidence,’ it must either be rebutted or accepted as true.’”8 

 Because all elements of a manipulation claim must be demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence, Enforcement bears the burden of proving the allegations 
against GreenHat.  GreenHat is not required to prove its innocence. 

B. The Alleged Market Manipulation Scheme 

 According to the majority, GreenHat violated section 222(a) of the FPA9 and the 
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule10 and section 1c.2 of the Commission’s 
regulations11  

in four related but distinct ways, by:  (1) engaging in a 
manipulative scheme in PJM’s FTR market consisting of 
acquiring an FTR portfolio made up of primarily long-term 
FTRs with virtually no supporting, upfront capital, planning 
not to pay for losses at settlement, and obtaining cash for the 
individual Respondents by selling profitable FTRs to third 

 
6 Prohibition of Energy Mkt. Manipulation, Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047, at 

P 49 (2006); see 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2 (2021); see, e.g., Houlian Chen, 151 FERC ¶ 61,179, at 
P 35, order denying clarification, 153 FERC ¶ 61,090 (2015); City Power Mktg., LLC, 
152 FERC ¶ 61,012, at P 39 (2015) (City Power). 

7 Barclays Bank PLC, 144 FERC ¶ 61,041, at P 17 (2013) (citing Dir. Office of 
Workers’ Comp. Programs, Dep’t of Labor v. Greenwich Collieries, 512 U.S. 267, 275-
76 (1994) (Greenwich Collieries)). 

8 Id. (quoting Greenwich Collieries, 512 U.S. at 280). 

9 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a) 

10 See Order No. 670, 114 FERC ¶ 61,047 at P 49. 

11 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2. 
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parties at a discount; (2) purchasing FTRs based not on 
market considerations but to amass as many FTRs as possible 
with minimal collateral, thereby engaging in a course of 
conduct for the purpose of impairing, obstructing, or 
defeating a well-functioning market; (3) making false 
statements to PJM regarding money purportedly owed by 
Shell with the intent to convince PJM not to proceed with a 
planned margin call; and (4) submitting inflated bids into the 
PJM long-term FTR auction with the intent to artificially raise 
the clearing price of FTRs that Shell had purchased from 
GreenHat and offered for sale in the auction.12   

The majority also finds that GreenHat violated PJM Tariff Attachment Q, section Ia.B13 
and PJM’s Amended and Restated Operating Agreement, section 15.1.3.14 

 To arrive at a decision whether to issue a penalty assessment order, we need 
merely weigh the evidence proffered by Enforcement to support its claim against 
countervailing evidence.  Enforcement has failed to carry its burden of proving its claims 
to a preponderance of the evidence. 

1. The First and Second Allegations 

 The crux of Enforcement’s first and second allegations is that GreenHat, LLC 
(GreenHat) developed a strategy of purchasing FTRs, it did so with the sole objective of 
maximizing its purchases of FTRs while minimizing its collateral obligations to PJM 
Interconnection, LLC (PJM), and without regard to the FTRs’ actual value, and it 
amassed an FTR portfolio with the intent of not paying when their obligations came due.  
We are told that GreenHat then employed this strategy as part of a four-stage 
manipulative scheme described by Enforcement as a “bust out” scheme in which 
GreenHat purchased the FTRs to sell the “winners” and walk away from the “losers.”15  
According to Enforcement, the four stages were: (1) amass a huge FTR portfolio based 
not on market fundamentals but on acquiring FTRs with virtually no upfront cash (Stage 
1); (2) buy primarily long-term FTRs, which gave GreenHat ample time to try to sell the 
FTRs to third parties (Stage 2); (3) plan (as the totality of the evidence shows) not to pay 

 
12 Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at PP 30, 69. 

13 PJM, Intra-PJM Tariffs, OATT, attach. Q (Risk Management Policy), § Ia.B 
(Risk Management and Verification) (26.0.0). 

14 PJM Operating Agreement, § 15.1.3 (Payment of Bills). 

15 See, e.g., Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at 106, 124-125.  
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for losses at settlement (Stage 3); and (4) obtain cash for the GreenHat owners by selling 
profitable FTRs to third parties at a discount (Stage 4).16 

 Enforcement’s theory is based largely on two sets of email correspondence: the 
Kevin Kelley email to the FERC Enforcement Hotline and Matt Arnold’s email 
correspondence with Paolo Dadone.17  There is nothing wrong with relying on such 
evidence to develop a manipulation claim.  However, these emails are corroborative at 
best and cannot form the primary basis for a manipulation finding.  In considering the 
probative value of the emails, their content, context and timing must not be overlooked.  
Neither Kelley nor Arnold is an employee of GreenHat and neither set of email 
correspondence includes any emails to or from GreenHat.  Nor do either Kelley or 
Arnold assert that GreenHat told them it intended to engage in the scheme Enforcement 
alleges.  The timing of these emails also is significant.  Kelley’s email was sent two years 
after Kelley’s meeting with GreenHat.  Arnold’s email was sent after PJM’s threatened 
collateral call, and it does not provide a direct quotation or paraphrase of what GreenHat 
told him. 

 Having framed its story based on these emails, Enforcement then gathered 
evidence in an attempt to validate the inferences it had drawn.18  But the quantity and 
quality of evidence supporting Enforcement’s allegations is remarkably sparse, especially 
given the length and extent of Enforcement’s investigation and how high-profile a case 

 
16 See id. P 131. 

17 The Kelley email is cited in support of Stages 1 and 2.  See id. PP 72, 82.  The 
Arnold email is cited in support of Stages 1 and 3.  See id. PP 73, 89-90. 

18 See, e.g., id. P 73 (“it [is] reasonable to infer that the third parties were 
describing what GreenHat told them”) (citation omitted); id. P 205 (“It is well-established 
that ‘[t]he presence of fraudulent intent is rarely susceptible of direct proof and must 
instead be established by legitimate inferences from circumstantial evidence . . . .’”) 
(citation omitted);Id. (“Indeed, the Commission has specifically recognized that ‘intent 
must often be inferred from the facts and circumstances presented.’”) (citation omitted); 
id. P 213 (“We infer [GreenHat’s] intent . . . .”) (citations omitted); id. P 80 n.206 (“OE 
Staff also asserts that the finder of fact may draw adverse inferences from Kittell’s refusal 
to answer questions about whether GreenHat’s strategy was to buy FTRs that it could 
effectively acquire for free.”) (citation omitted); cf. id. P 139 n.350 (“OE Staff invites the 
Commission to draw adverse inferences regarding Respondents’ repeated invocation of 
their Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when asked about their trading 
conduct.”).  The majority clarifies in the order that it is making “factual inferences.”  Id. 
P 139 n.350 (emphasis in original). 
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this is.  Instead, Enforcement’s analysis is premised primarily on conclusory and 
unsubstantiated inferences from inferences.19 

 This lack of evidentiary support is due in part to the fact that Enforcement took no 
depositions of any of the key third-party actors mentioned in its report.  There are no 
depositions from either Kelley or Arnold, who are the authors of the emails that 
constitute the primary evidence for Enforcement’s first two allegations.  Nor are there 
any depositions of the key PJM and Shell employees associated with Enforcement’s 
allegations that GreenHat fraudulently induced PJM into accepting worthless collateral 
for its FTR holdings, which represents Enforcement’s third allegation, which I discuss 
below.20   

 Not only are there no depositions of these people, but the record contains no notes 
or other evidence of the contents of the third-party interviews Enforcement conducted of 
these or other people.21  It does not matter why Enforcement decided not to gather or 
include evidence related to the third-party authors’ views of Enforcement’s inferences—
all that matters is whether there is sufficient evidence to satisfy the required burden.  The 
point is that information such as this would have been invaluable to the Commission in 
evaluating Enforcement’s allegations.  Instead, we are left with only a handful of 
documents produced in discovery.  Enforcement asks us to accept certain inferences 
drawn from those documents that it claims reflect third party confirmation of its 
allegations.  But Enforcement provides the Commission with no evidence that the third-
party witnesses in fact agree with its inferences.  It is our responsibility to review those 
documents to determine whether, in fact, they support Enforcement’s inferences.  And we 
should not excuse Enforcement’s failure to provide adequate support for those inferences 
when Enforcement, and Enforcement alone, chose not to put any such evidence in the 
record. 

 
19 The Commission asserts that it may have the ability to make inferences from 

individual Respondents’ assertion of their Fifth Amendment rights in their deposition but 
claims it need not do so in this case based on record evidence compiled.  See id. P 140 
n.350 (citing Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 318 (1976)).  But in fact, 
Enforcement’s claims are based on inferences and no independent evidence has been 
identified, as discussed herein.   

20 It is true that taking testimony is not required, see id. P 136 n.330, but it is also 
true that Enforcement bears the burden of proving its case.   

21 The order correctly notes that it is the Commission and not Enforcement that 
refers matters to the Department of Justice.  Id. 
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 The lack of corroboration forces me to conclude that there simply is not evidence 
to find that Enforcement has proved the first two of its four allegations of manipulation, 
that GreenHat engaged in manipulation by:  

(1) engaging in a manipulative scheme in PJM’s FTR market 
consisting of acquiring an FTR portfolio made up of primarily 
long-term FTRs with virtually no supporting, upfront capital, 
planning not to pay for losses at settlement, and obtaining 
cash for the individual Respondents by selling profitable 
FTRs to third parties at a discount; (2) purchasing FTRs 
based not on market considerations but to amass as many 
FTRs as possible with minimal collateral, thereby engaging in 
a course of conduct for the purpose of impairing, obstructing, 
or defeating a well-functioning market.22 

 In advancing these allegations, Enforcement has never come to grips with the fact 
that PJM itself assigned a positive value to GreenHat’s FTRs.  This is the reason why, 
from the very beginning, PJM allowed GreenHat to purchase such a large quantity of 
FTRs without requiring significant collateral.  And after PJM changed its valuation 
methodology, which then caused GreenHat’s FTRs to be assigned a negative value, 
GreenHat purchased additional FTRs assigned positive values by PJM, thereby 
assembling a new portfolio of FTRs with a (PJM-determined) positive value.  Thereafter, 
in an internal email, PJM itself dismissed complaints about GreenHat’s lack of collateral 
as follows:  “GreenHat is okay, they are making money.”23   

 The importance of PJM’s valuations of the FTRs GreenHat purchased to our 
consideration of Enforcement’s allegations can be demonstrated by a simple hypothetical:  
Suppose PJM’s valuations were accurate.  In such event, there could not have been any 
basis upon which to find manipulation for either of these first two charges because you 
cannot claim manipulation when a market participant successfully pursues and executes 
profitable trades that do not require them to post collateral.  Had PJM’s valuations been 
correct, the issue of posting collateral would never have arisen.  Of course, PJM’s 
valuations were wildly inaccurate, even when the initial valuations based on historical 
data were then supplemented with PROMOD results.  Regardless, if GreenHat actually 
agreed with PJM’s valuations, we could not conclude that its trading based on those 
valuations was intentionally fraudulent or manipulative.   

 
22 Id. P 69. 

23 GreenHat July 6, 2021 Answer to Order to Show Cause at 56 (quoting PJM 
Report at 26). 



Docket No. IN18-9-000   - 8 - 

 Enforcement has repeatedly batted away the importance of PJM’s valuation of the 
FTRs as if it is not significant or relevant.24  In fact, Enforcement’s only attempt to 
address the significance of PJM’s assessment of the valuations were the assertions in its 
Report25 that there is no evidence GreenHat knew of the existence of PJM’s defense of its 
valuation contained in PJM’s Commission pleadings, that GreenHat could not have acted 
in reliance on PJM’s other statements because they were made after GreenHat had started 
purchasing FTRs, and that PJM did not purport to provide investment advice to FTR 
traders.26 

 Enforcement also asserts that no FTR trader could possibly agree with PJM’s 
valuations27 and that the values GreenHat assigned to its FTRs were based on stale 
historic data that no one would seriously consider in valuing FTRs.28  But that is 
demonstrably incorrect.  These values were defended by PJM and the PJM Market 
Monitor (IMM).29 

 It matters not that, as Enforcement observes, PJM was not offering investment 
advice to FTR traders.  After noting what PJM was not trying to do with its valuations, 
Enforcement never considers the implications of what PJM was attempting to do.  PJM 
was attempting to derive the most accurate FTR values possible in order to determine the 

 
24 Enforcement July 27, 2021 Reply to GreenHat Answers at 39 (“PJM comments 

about mark-to-auction valuation and PROMOD are irrelevant.  [GreenHat] discuss[es] at 
length . . . [its] views about statements by PJM . . . of valuing FTRs, including use of 
mark-to-auction valuation and PROMOD.  None of these matter.”) (emphasis removed); 
id. at 3 (“There is no evidence, whether from documents or testimony, that any of 
GreenHat’s owners ever even saw the obscure 2007 or 2008 PJM documents to which 
GreenHat now points . . . .”).   

25 Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 at Appendix A (Enforcement Staff 
Report) 

26 See id. at 83-85. 

27 See id. at 17 (“GreenHat has offered no evidence, and Enforcement staff is 
aware of none, supporting the idea that a rational trader would ever buy financial 
instruments—much less accumulate the largest portfolio in an entire market—exclusively 
based on stale pricing information from as much as seven years before the time when the 
instruments settle.”). 

28 See id.  I observe that Enforcement makes this blanket statement without 
providing any evidence to support its contention. 

29 See GreenHat July 6, 2021 Answer to Order to Show Cause at 11-18. 
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amount of collateral needed to trade FTRs thereby preventing defaults by FTR traders.  
And Enforcement’s arguments about whether GreenHat was aware of PJM’s statements 
defending its values is no more germane.  The relevance of PJM’s valuations is that two 
sophisticated entities (indeed, the most sophisticated entities, PJM and the IMM) in 
possession of the best data and having the most familiarity with the PJM transmission 
system, and with the greatest possible incentive to get their FTR values right, both 
believed in the accuracy of the valuations of the FTRs GreenHat was purchasing.  That 
being the case, the Commission cannot conclude without further evidence that GreenHat 
could not have believed those valuations.  This is especially true, given that GreenHat 
must have been aware of PJM’s familiarity with its system and the purpose of the 
valuations, even if it was not specifically aware of PJM’s filings defending its numbers.  
And as far as we are concerned, absent a determination that GreenHat did not believe in 
the validity of PJM’s values, we cannot find that GreenHat engaged in the manipulative 
scheme alleged by Enforcement.  Use of PJM’s Credit Calculator and the resulting 
consequences do not establish indicia of fraud as the majority contends.30 

 And here is where the lack of actual evidence presented by Enforcement is so 
frustrating.  Enforcement cites to a few isolated emails, presentations, and internal 
documents, but when these documents are viewed objectively and not with a lens that 
sees everything as incriminating, they do not—by their own terms—purport to say 
anything about what GreenHat believed or what it intended.  GreenHat makes a number 
of assertions on this score in its answer, but Enforcement’s claims are again 
unaccompanied by any compelling evidence.  If only we had deposition transcripts or 
further evidence from the third parties that originated these documents, we might have a 
better record upon which to reach a conclusion, but we do not. 

 In that regard, the documents cited by Enforcement are mixed.  True, in some of 
them GreenHat uses measures of value other than the ones developed by PJM when 
attempting to make sales.31  With respect to the sales of FTRs, it is not surprising that the 

 
30 See Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 142 n.360. 

31 See, e.g., Enforcement July 27, 2021 Reply to GreenHat Answers at 7 (“If 
GreenHat believed the Credit Calculator provided reliable predictions of future FTR 
prices, it would have used (or at a minimum tried to use) that method in trying to sell 
FTRs in its portfolio to third parties.  But it never did.  Instead, GreenHat’s behavior 
shows that it understood that Credit Calculator values were not reliable indicators of an 
FTR’s value:  it uniformly relied on mark-to-auction values, not on Credit Calculator 
values, in pitching FTRs from its portfolio to third parties such as Shell, Vitol, Citigroup, 
Royal Bank of Canada, Roscommon, and Merrill Lynch.”) (citing Enforcement Staff 
Report at 21-23).  Instead, GreenHat relied “exclusively on mark-to-auction values.”  Id.  
“And as [GreenHat] knew, in the world of FTR traders, and in 100% of GreenHat’s 
efforts to sell the winners in its portfolio, mark-to-auction valuation was the relevant 
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prices for the sales of these FTRs would be based on market prices because the 
transactions were based on the assumption that Shell would resell the FTRs prior to the 
date PJM made payments to the FTR holders.  It also is not surprising that GreenHat 
would present measures of valuation that it knew its prospective customers relied upon 
when making a sales pitch.  This did not necessarily mean that GreenHat agreed with its 
purchasers’ valuations.  My conclusion in this regard is not baseless speculation.  The 
Commission’s Order cites to at least two communications from GreenHat to other traders 
in which GreenHat offered to engage in transactions using the values from GreenHat’s 
credit calculator, which was based on PJM’s FTR values.32  The Commission does not 
explain why GreenHat would have made such offers if no trader would ever accept the 
PJM values as valid.33 

 The Enforcement Staff Report also cites to evidence indicating that GreenHat 
transferred the proceeds from FTR sales from its account to its owners at the same time it 
was telling its counterparties to those transactions that it was making the sales to support 
its business activities or to purchase FTRs in the next annual auction.34  Enforcement also 
asserts that GreenHat knew that trading based on the PJM values would be unprofitable 
because of losses GreenHat incurred when purchasing FTRs in 2014.35  This evidence 
could potentially be corroborative of other more direct evidence but, standing alone, has 
relatively little probative value. 

 The bottom line is this: if Enforcement provides no direct evidence in support of 
its theory based upon documents and inferences drawn from third-party statements, each 
of which 1) do not purport to describe GreenHat’s state of mind and 2) are amenable to 

 
metric, not Credit Calculator values.”  Id. at 39 (citing Enforcement Staff Report at 22 
n.58). 

32 See Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 138 (citing 
GH_0010771 (Email from A. Kittell to A. Lee (Aug. 29, 2017)); BETM_00000495 
(Email from A. Kittell to S. Leckey (Jan. 24, 2018))).  

33 The majority asserts that these offers by GreenHat did not constitute offers to 
trade FTRs at the PJM values.  Id. P 137 n.334.  But it is difficult to understand how else 
to interpret GreenHat’s offers to enter into transactions that would reduce the purchasers’ 
collateral obligations.  Certainly, GreenHat must have believed the traders would have 
accepted PJM’s values of the FTRs GreenHat was offering to sell.  Enforcement’s entire 
theory is based on the supposition that no legitimate trader would purchase FTRs it knew 
were losers simply to reduce its collateral obligation.  

34 See Enforcement Staff Report at 32. 

35 See id. at 81. 
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another equally plausible interpretation, Enforcement’s evidentiary showing is 
insufficient.  I recognize that a manipulation claim can be proven through inferences 
drawn solely from indirect evidence, but that does not mean that we must accept any 
inference Enforcement wants to draw regardless of its strength.  Enforcement’s 
allegations are nothing more than surmise based on after-the-fact documents unsupported 
by direct, corroborative evidence.  Nor can the weakness of these inferences be 
remedied—as the majority asserts—by reference to the “totality of the evidence.”36  
Weak inferences do not become stronger when lumped with other weak inferences.  And 
appeals to the “totality of the evidence” effectively relieve Enforcement of its obligation 
to adduce some evidence in support of its theories.37  At some point we must require 
convincing, probative evidence, direct or indirect.  The fact is that the inferences drawn 
by Enforcement are not as credible as the simpler explanation—GreenHat relied upon a 
set of valuations that were themselves defended by PJM and the IMM.  Based on the 
record before us, Enforcement has failed to carry its burden by proving its allegations to 
the preponderance of the evidence.   

 And when considering inferences, we also should consider the inference to be 
drawn from the failure of Enforcement to attempt to obtain or place into the record any 
direct evidence of the third-party witnesses’ views of the evidence it cites.  This is 
especially troubling because we know that Enforcement interviewed those witnesses but 
then placed no notes of the interviews in the record38 and declined to conduct on-the-
record depositions.  The majority is of course correct that Enforcement has “discretion in 

 
36 Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 148 n.378. 

37 “The law of evidence is full of presumptions either of fact or law.  The former 
are, of course, disputable, and the strength of any inference of one fact from proof of 
another depends upon the generality of the experience upon which it is founded.”  
Mobile, Jackson & Kan. City R.R. Co. v. Turnipseed, 219 U.S. 35, 42 (1910).  “The only 
legal effect of [an] inference is to cast upon the [respondents] the duty of producing some 
evidence to the contrary.  When that is done the inference is at an end . . . .”  Id. at 43.  
Due process requires “that there shall be some rational connection between the fact 
proved and the ultimate fact presumed, and that the inference of one fact from proof of 
another shall not be so unreasonable as to be a purely arbitrary mandate.”  Id. 

38 It appears that Enforcement took such notes and kept them in its possession, but 
then did not place them in the record.  See Enforcement Staff Report at 104 
(“Enforcement has carefully reviewed its interview notes and has complied with the 
Commission’s policy on exculpatory materials.  Indeed, although they are not 
exculpatory, out of an abundance of caution Enforcement has provided GreenHat with a 
description of portions of its interview with a Shell employee.”).  Again, the Commission 
fails to consider what inferences should be drawn from this decision by Enforcement. 
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how to effectively and efficiently gather facts and obtain evidence.”39  But I simply 
cannot imagine a legitimate reason not to have taken these third-party witness 
depositions.  Certainly, the failure to do so cannot be credibly explained by 
Enforcement’s desire to gather evidence effectively and efficiently. 

2. The Third Allegation 

 Enforcement’s third allegation is that GreenHat made false statements to PJM in 
order to induce PJM to enter into a collateral agreement.  That collateral agreement 
assigned GreenHat’s revenues from future FTR sales to Shell, which were purportedly 
worth about $62 million.  GreenHat asserts that it “genuinely understood that Shell owed 
it $62 million” and point to “the purchase price agreed to in FTR Center’s Price Field.”40   

(a) The Commission should have deferred ruling on this 
allegation until after the Texas courts resolve GreenHat’s 
contract claim 

 The Commission has already engaged on this subject, to some degree.  On May 
29, 2020, Shell filed a petition for a declaratory order requesting the Commission’s 
interpretation of PJM’s Tariff to “clarify whether the entry of price, volume, and other 
data regarding FTR bilateral transfers into PJM’s FTR Center automatically establishes 
stand-alone bilateral contracts at the stated price.”41  In its Declaratory Order, the 
Commission found “that entry of data about bilateral FTR trades into the FTR Center 
does not automatically establish stand-alone bilateral contracts at the stated price, absent 
a separate agreement by the parties to do so.”42  But the Commission “decline[d] to assert 
primary jurisdiction to resolve the dispute under Texas law as to whether Shell and 
GreenHat entered into separate contracts in which Shell agreed to pay a purchase price 
based on entries in the FTR Center, in addition to paying the Final Purchase Price 
specified in their three Agreements.”43 

 I agree that the mere fact that sales prices were entered into PJM’s FTR Center 
does not mean that Shell had created a contractual obligation to pay additional amounts at 

 
39 Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 136 n.330. 

40 GreenHat July 6, 2021 Answer to Order to Show Cause at 34. 

41 Shell Energy N. Am. (U.S.) L.P., 173 FERC ¶ 61,153, at P 1 (2020) (Declaratory 
Order), order addressing arguments raised on reh’g, 175 FERC ¶ 61,025 (2021). 

42 Id. P 62. 

43 Id. 
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that price for the FTRs it had purchased from GreenHat.44  In my concurrence to the 
Order to Show Cause, I pointed out a procedural concern with Enforcement’s allegations, 
i.e., “in order to evaluate Enforcement’s allegation, we will need to evaluate the validity 
of GreenHat’s contract claim that Shell owed it $62 million,” and we had recently, in the 
Declaratory Order, stated that we would not address the merits of the contract claim but 
rather would defer to the Texas court.45  I reiterate that if in fact Shell did have such a 
contractual obligation, then we cannot find anything improper about GreenHat’s offer to 
pledge its rights to the $62 million owed by Shell as collateral. 

 Accordingly, I asked GreenHat and Enforcement to address whether we should 
reach a decision on this question before the Texas court’s decision.  Upon reading the 
answers from GreenHat and Enforcement, it is my view that the Commission was correct 
in declining to exercise primary jurisdiction on the contract claim.  I would, therefore, 
wait to until after the Texas court’s decision to determine whether the third allegation has 
merit.  But the majority, even after disclaiming primary jurisdiction on the question and 
deferring to the Texas court to address GreenHat’s contract claim,46 nevertheless forges 
ahead to find a “lack of evidence of a valid agreement supporting the representations 
made to PJM.”47  This was in support of its position that “[i]t is those representations that 
give rise to the present enforcement action, over which we have exclusive jurisdiction.”48 

(b) The evidence on GreenHat’s contractual claim raises 
several unanswered questions 

 The majority’s determination that there is insufficient evidence of a valid 
agreement presents several unanswered questions.  Even though the mere entry of prices 
into the FTR Center alone does not create a contractual payment obligation, why did: (1) 
PJM accept a claim of a $62 million payment based on those values (if in fact it did); and 
(2) Shell continue negotiations over the amounts entered into the FTR Center?49  

 
44 See id. P 73. 

45 Order to Show Cause, 175 FERC ¶ 61,138 (Danly, Comm’r, concurring at P 
21). 

46 See Shell Energy, 173 FERC ¶ 61,153 at PP 2, 62.  

47 Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 184 n.462.  

48 Id.  

49 See Enforcement Staff Report at 47. 
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Enforcement does not provide an answer to these questions.  And to be fair, GreenHat 
raises the questions but also fails to provide satisfactory answers. 

 As in the case of Enforcement’s primary manipulation claims, depositions or other 
evidence from PJM and Shell witnesses would have been helpful.  In particular, I note 
that Enforcement states in its report that it interviewed an employee of Shell who 
informed Enforcement that he (the Shell employee) told a PJM representative that Shell 
did not owe GreenHat any further payments at the time PJM entered into the collateral 
agreement with GreenHat.50  I would have liked to know more about that conversation; 
depositions of both participants likely would have shed some light on the matter. 

 I note that Enforcement carefully worded its claim to allege that GreenHat made 
false statements to PJM, without making any allegations as to whether PJM was deceived 
by those statements.51  Yes, it is true that making a false statement can be found to be 
fraudulent even if no one was deceived.52  But I, for one, would be rather reluctant to fine 
GreenHat $179 million if it turned out that PJM actually understood the exact nature of 
the collateral offered by GreenHat and nevertheless accepted that collateral.  Were that 
the case, PJM would bear all the responsibility for GreenHat’s insufficient collateral. 

 
50 Enforcement alleges that GreenHat prevented PJM from contacting Shell to 

confirm the validity of GreenHat’s assertions that Shell owed an additional $62 million in 
payments.  However, footnote 124 of the Enforcement Staff Report states that “on or 
about March 29, 2017, [Shell employee] Kolkmann explained the then-pending third deal 
with GreenHat and also the first two deals, which he said were completed and paid for.”  
Enforcement Staff Report at 43 n.124; see also id. at 99-101.  This footnote appears to 
contradict Enforcement’s statement that PJM was unable to ask Shell about GreenHat’s 
assertions.  Also, this evidence sounds very much like evidence offered to prove the truth 
of the matter asserted.  PJM clearly did have a conversation with Shell and certainly was 
capable of doing so again—at any time—if it wanted.  The majority misapprehends this 
point.  Cf. Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 180 n.448. 

51 Enforcement Staff Report at 72, 101. 

52 See Enforcement Staff July 27, 2021 Reply to GreenHat Answers at 38 (“If the 
Commission needed to find that PJM relied on GreenHat’s false statements in deciding 
not to issue a collateral call, that contention might matter.  But as GreenHat does not 
dispute, reliance is not an element of a market manipulation claim.  GreenHat’s false 
statements to PJM in April 2017 violated the FPA and the Anti-Manipulation Rule, 
whether or not PJM relied on them.”). 



Docket No. IN18-9-000   - 15 - 

 I raise these questions, not only because they cast a shadow over the sufficiency of 
the evidence supporting Enforcement’s claim, but also to bring them to the attention of 
the court which will consider this matter de novo. 

3. The Fourth Allegation 

 Enforcement’s final manipulation allegation is that GreenHat submitted inflated 
bids into the PJM long-term FTR auction with an intent to artificially raise the clearing 
price of FTRs that Shell had purchased from GreenHat and offered for sale in the 
auction.53  I find this to be the most troubling of all of the claims Enforcement has raised 
against GreenHat and, perhaps, with better evidence in the record, Enforcement could 
have successfully made out a credible manipulation claim on this issue.  I am somewhat 
skeptical of GreenHat’s explanation that it submitted all of its bids in the belief that it 
could resell them to Shell.54  But in the case of at least some of the sales, that is exactly 
what GreenHat did.55   

 The problem is that the evidence supporting Enforcement’s allegation consists of 
no more than the prices of GreenHat’s bids, and, as with its other claims, Enforcement 
neither collected nor offered any corroborating evidence as to GreenHat’s intent.  
GreenHat’s bids, and Enforcement’s suppositions based upon them, is insufficient 
evidence to prove Enforcement’s claims to a preponderance of the evidence. 

 GreenHat does not deny that it bid on FTR paths that it sold to Shell.56  And there 
are problems with GreenHat’s explanations.  I am skeptical of its claim that it did not 
have inside information based both on the structure of its agreements and on the fact that 
Shell sent GreenHat spreadsheets after each relevant long-term auction that reported how 
many of the FTRs included in that deal it had offered, how many cleared, and their 
market clearing prices.57  

 I am also not persuaded by GreenHat’s argument that because other market 
participants could not see its bids, it was unable to raise the prices.  For example, in the 
2018/2021 Round One Auction, GreenHat submitted bids equal to or double Shell’s 

 
53 Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at PP 188-91. 

54 GreenHat July 6, 2021 Answer to Order to Show Cause at 27. 

55 Id. 

56 See Kittell Estate July 6, 2021 Answer Order to Show Cause at 6. 

57 Order Assessing Civil Penalties,177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 195 n.489 (citing OE 
Staff Reply at 23-24). 
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offered MWs on approximately 91% of the FTR paths that Shell purchased from 
GreenHat and then offered into the auction.58  Respondents used the Threshold Prices in 
the third bilateral agreement to submit bids into the 2018/2021 Round One Auctions that 
were 22.2% above Shell’s offers.59  Respondents admit that these bids were higher than 
approximately 82% of the offers that cleared in the auction for paths included in the third 
bilateral agreement.60  

 And while although the facts recited above look bad, and although they cast 
serious doubt on GreenHat’s explanations, skepticism is not proof.  Enforcement has 
again failed to meet its burden to a preponderance of the evidence regarding GreenHat’s 
intent because there is no evidence regarding intent.61 

4. Tariff and Operating Agreement Violation Allegations 

 Enforcement’s final allegation is that GreenHat violated the PJM Tariff and 
Operating Agreement in two respects:  (1) In defaulting on its obligations to settle its 
FTRs, GreenHat violated tariff provisions obligating it to pay all bills arising in 
connection with the Operating Agreement; and (2) GreenHat made false certifications as 
to its valuations and risk management practices, and to the accuracy of its financial 
statements submitted to PJM.62 

 I view the additions of the tariff and operating agreement violations as simply 
stacking the litany of charges against GreenHat to see what ultimately sticks.  While we 
have authority to pursue these claims, I am unaware of any occasion in which the 
Commission has imposed penalties for a default on a payment obligation on the grounds 
that the default constitutes a tariff violation, nor do I believe that such a penalty would 
likely be appropriate. 

 
58 Id. P 200. 

59 Id. 

60 GreenHat July 6, 2021 Answer to Order to Show Cause at 29. 

61 See Vitol Inc., 169 FERC ¶ 61,070, at P 95 (2019) (finding fraudulent intent); 
see also FERC v. Coaltrain Energy, L.P., 501 F. Supp. 3d 503, 531 (D.D.C. 2020) 
(explaining that a market participant must have acted with scienter to violate the 
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule); FERC v. City Power Mktg, LLC, 199 F. Supp. 
3d 218, 234-35 (D.D.C. 2016) (explaining intent to deceive required to show fraud). 

62 Enforcement Staff Report at 77-78. 
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 Rather, we typically rely on our remedial authority pursuant to section 309 of the 
Federal Power Act63 to make parties whole and payment defaults are not used as the 
predicate for enforcement actions.  These charges do not stand on their own, and I do not 
support them. 

II. Joint and Several Liability for the Kittell Estate 

 GreenHat argues that the Commission lacks statutory authority to impose joint and 
several liability.64 

 It has become the Commission’s typical practice to impose joint and several 
liability when it seeks disgorgement65 from multiple respondents.66  I agree that FPA 
section 309 gives us broad authority to, among other things, “perform any and all 
acts . . . as [we] may find necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of [the 
FPA],”67 and I recognize that courts have interpreted this provision to give us wide 
latitude to fashion remedies as we deem appropriate.68 

 
63 16 U.S.C. § 825h. 

64 GreenHat July 6, 2021 Answer to Order to Show Cause at 42-43. 

65 Barclays, 144 FERC ¶ 61,041 at P 148 (“‘[D]isgorgement need only be a 
reasonable approximation of profits causally connected to the violation.’”) (quoting SEC 
v. Whittemore, 659 F.3d 1, 8 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (quoting in part SEC v. First City Fin. 
Corp., Ltd., 890 F.2d 1215, 1231 (D.C. Cir. 1989))); see also Zacharias v. SEC, 569 F.3d 
458, 473 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (quoting same); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Receivable Fin. Co., LLC, 
501 F.3d 398, 413 (5th Cir. 2007) (quoting same); SEC v. Patel, 61 F.3d 137, 139 (2d 
Cir. 1995) (quoting same).  Once Enforcement staff has met its burden of introducing a 
reasonable approximation, a respondent is “then obliged clearly to demonstrate that the 
disgorgement figure was not a reasonable approximation.”  First City Fin. Corp., Ltd., 
890 F.2d at 1232.  After Enforcement staff proposed a reasonable method and used a 
reasonable and accurate approach to doing its calculations, the burden then shifts to a 
respondent to show that Enforcement Staff’s estimate was not in fact reliable, and that 
respondent’s alternative approach is reasonable. 

66 See, e.g., City Power, 152 FERC ¶ 61,012 at P 257 n.583; Coaltrain Energy, 
L.P., 155 FERC ¶ 61,204, at P 331 n.851 (2016). 

67 16 U.S.C. § 825h. 

68 See, e.g., Xcel Energy Servs. Inc. v. FERC, 815 F.3d 947, 388-89 (D.C. Cir. 
2016) (holding that the Commission has “broad remedial authority” and “unquestionably 
[has] the authority, in fashioning remedies, to consider equitable principles”); Niagara 
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 Here, however, the facts are somewhat different from the ordinary situation 
because the Commission is imposing joint and several liability not just on the living 
GreenHat employees, but also on an estate.  Even if the Commission met its prima facie 
case and has authority under the FPA to assess joint and several liability, Enforcement 
has not persuaded me that imposing joint and several liability on the Kittell Estate is 
appropriate here.  The Commission has not proposed to seek any penalties from the 
Kittell Estate, an implicit concession that it has no authority to do so.  But imposing joint 
and several liability, even “as a remedy only, not as an additional penalty,”69 for 
disgorgement is nothing more than a back-door maneuver to penalize the Kittell Estate by 
making it liable for disgorgement of profits that went to the other respondents.  
Moreover, since disgorgement is an equitable remedy, the equities should count.  It 
would be fundamentally unfair and improperly punitive to require an estate to disgorge 
funds that ended up in the hands of the other respondents. 

 I believe the correct course in this case would have been either not to name the 
Kittell Estate as a respondent or, failing that, to seek a specified amount in disgorgement 
traceable to Kittell’s alleged unjust enrichment. 

III. Conclusion 

 I cannot support this Order.  Enforcement failed to meet its burden to proving its 
claims to a preponderance of the evidence. 

 
For these reasons, I respectfully dissent. 
 

 
 
 
________________________ 
James P. Danly 
Commissioner 
 

 
Mohawk Power Corp. v. FPC, 379 F.2d 153, 159 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (explaining that “the 
breadth of agency discretion is, if anything, at zenith when the action assailed 
relates . . . to the fashioning of policies, remedies and sanctions . . . .”). 

69 Order Assessing Civil Penalties, 177 FERC ¶ 61,073 at P 299. 


